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CORPORATE PROFILE
AN

China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Modern Dairy” together
with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”) is currently the largest dairy farming operator and
fresh raw milk producer in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") in terms of its
herd size and milk yield. Modern Dairy operates 26 dairy farms in the PRC with dairy
cows over 230,000 heads and annual milk yield over 1.27 million tons. The Company
initiated the production mode of “zero-distance integration of forage grass planting,
cow breeding and milk processing within two hours”which is the first and only enterprise
at present in the PRC that applies integration of forage grass planting, cow breeding
and milk processing and qualified with SGS certification. Modern Dairy’s products have
been consecutively awarded with the gold prize of Monde Selection, which is generally
regarded as the “Nobel Prize” in the food industry.
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HIGHLIGHTS
S

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 # £2018F 12831 A L& E

2017 Change
2017 £ g
(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) (B4 BIFI B FTE S
million unless otherwise stated) BUARBKTARY]
BE YR
Highlights BE
Revenue W A 4,956.8 4,783.8 3.6%
Gross profit before raw milk REGAFEFAEZRN

fair value adjustments x F 1,546.1 1,430.8 8.1%
Operating loss rEEE (167.0) (666.5) (74.9%)
Earnings before interest, tax, BT 3T B 8 AT AR

depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

(EBITDA) 152.0 (317.7) 147 9%
Cash EBITDA Mote I8 & EBITDAMED 1,528.4 1,081.8 41.3%
Loss attributable to owners of KABHEB AEMN

the Company & B (496.1) (975.1) (49.1%)
Net operating cash inflow (Note 2 KEHSF A REWED 1,406.0 500.9 180.7%
Free cash flow Mote9 B Mo mmEs 344.4 (471.8)

Basic loss per share (RMB cents) N3 4 {5 EH 7K &5 18

(AR )= (8.15) (16.19) (49.7%)
Net asset value per share (RMB) Note & EFE

(AR T)eEs 1.08 1.18 (8.5%)
Proposed final dividend BEARERE = - -
Dividend payout ratio i% B 9k bt =& - - -
Annual milk yield of milkable cow MIFFES

(tons/head) (M8 58) 10.1 9.8 3.1%
Total annual milk yield (tons '0,000) FHENE(BM) 127.9 118.2 8.2%
Total number of dairy cows (heads) LB E(EE) 231,530 233,058 (1,528)

3 Modern Dairy’'s pure milk was
for the fifth consecutive year
awarded the gold prize of
Monde Selection. AR ELLF
NEERFREERARRRENE
RERE -

e The brand of Modern Dairy
has been shortlisted as the
“Strategic Partner of China’s
Aerospace Industry”, marking
our premium quality branded
milk widely recognized by all
sectors of the society. B4 E
MK A [PEMREEBRS
EEH]  BRELAFANERE
mENAESESHERTRNELZ
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BRE-°

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEEERERAF

St et —
GOLD GO

) GOLD GOLD GOLD
AWARD AWARD AWARD AWARD AWARD

L4l




HIGHLIGHTS
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 Bl £2018F 1231 H L FE

Raw milk production and sales increased steadily
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HIGHLIGHTS
=

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 # £2018F 1231 HLLFE

Herd Size & Proportion of Milkable Cows

MEHERELFEE

54.4%
52.0%
109,914 106,219

58.0%

231,530

97,215

2016 2017 2018
20164 20174 20184
I Milkable Cow Heifers & Calves Proportion
RAF BEFEFNES (5154
M5

Notes:

1.

Cash EBITDA is defined as loss before finance costs and tax having
added back: i) depreciation for property, plant and equipment; ii)
amortization; iii) other gains and losses, net; iv) impairment losses,
net of reversal; and v) loss arising from changes in fair value less
costs to sell of dairy cows.

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less
cash outflow generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
for the year.

Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in
issue for the year.

Free cash flow is defined as net cash from operating activities having
added back net cash used in investing activities.

Sales include the external sale of raw milk and the consumption of
branded milk production.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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“We, the cattlemen, from the very beginning insist on the
of milk and strive with craftsmanship to deliver nutritious pasture milk
to the consumers. It takes only two hours from milking to produce, retaining the outermost active

molecules in milk and its freshness.”

"BARFAHBER  BREJFHH mEE ; EAD - %:ﬁﬁ%itiﬂﬁéﬁ
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“Modern Dairy is more than just a dairy farming

enterprise, we collect silage and other. e-rélps from

villages nearby each year, thChJIS' benef|C|a|
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CEO'S STATEMENT

7”

pasture milk

For Modern Dairy, 2018 was a year of changes and challenges.
China’s exports and economic growth were concurrently
threatened by the ongoing Sino-US trade conflicts, supply side
reform and proactive deleveraging by the Chinese government
coupled with the depreciation of Renminbi. Soaring feed cost due
to extra tariff imposed by US triggered unprecedented challenges
to the dairy industry. To cope with such difficulties, Modern Dairy
has implemented new strategies to mitigate cost pressure and
fortify operation efficiency, and has overcome the hurdles and
stepped into a new era.

Fifteen-year persistence on
exclusively producing

1THEFEH
R hsm”

Ms. GAO Lina
BEMLZE

Chief Executive Officer
FE
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On behalf of the Company, | am pleased to present the annual
results of Modern Dairy for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
our shareholders.

Facing the soaring feed cost and various global headwinds,
Modern Dairy was still able to deliver a stable revenue growth
and significant increase in operating net cash inflow in 2018. We
believe milk price has already bottomed out and bounced in the
second half of 2017. Down the road, the milk price is expected to
move upward at a moderate pace. As a pioneer in the domestic
large-scale dairy farming and the first listed company in the
world engaged in dairy farming resources, the Group created the
production model of “zero-distance integration of forage grass
planting, cow breeding and milk processing within two hours”.
The Group's milk with premium quality reaching world-class dairy
standards has won a widespread recognition domestically and
internationally. On 27 March 2018, at Monde Selection, which is
generally regarded as “Nobel Prize” in food industry, the Group's
pure milk was awarded the gold prize for fifth consecutive years
and another three product series, namely the “Fresh” pure milk,
two-hour (250ml) milk and two-hour (1L) milk were also awarded
the gold prize. The Group together with China Mengniu Dairy
Company Ltd. (“Mengniu”, together with its subsidiaries,
“Mengniu Group”) introduced two brand new products, the
gold pure milk and high-calcium milk, evolving a surprise to the
consumers.

CEO’S STATEMENT
BEBRES
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CEO’S STATEMENT

Since Mengniu increased its stake to 60.76% of the issued share
capital of the Company in 2017, we have achieved significant
synergies in several aspects after a year of running-in. The Group
dynamically adjusted the milk supply according to the season
pattern so as to better cope with the demand from Mengniu.
Strengthening the collaboration with Mengniu and riding on its
solid sales channels will not only secure the Group with a stable
income but also helps to deliver our branded milk of “purity,
genuineness, freshness and vitality” to numerous consumers. In
early 2019, the Group started a new high value-added business
line by entering into a milk supply cooperation agreement with
Yashili to provide diversified high-end raw milk.

In year 2018, the Chinese government successively introduced a
number of policies to strengthen the support and guidance for
the dairy industry. In early 2018, the first draft of the consultation
paper on the four new national standards for raw milk, pasteurized
milk, sterilized milk and reconstituted milk was officially released
for public comments. In May, premier Li Kegiang presided
over an executive meeting of the State Council to consider the
revitalization of the dairy industry. In June, the State Council
released the "Opinions on Promoting the Revitalization of the
Dairy Industry to Ensure the Quality and Safety of Dairy Products”.
In December, the "Opinions on the Promoting the Revitalization
of the Dairy Industry” jointly issued by nine ministries emphasized
the increasing support of farming in large-scale to promote the
revitalization of the dairy industry. As the largest dairy farming
company and the largest producer of raw milk in China (in terms
of herd size), the Group believes that a sound and sustainable
development of dairy industry is rooted on an effective link and
synergistic collaboration of each element within the production
chain. Through the pioneering green economic and ecological
model of zero-distance integration of forage grass planting,
cow breeding and milk processing within two hours, the Group
is committed to establishing a national brand and a world-
class modern farming enterprise. The Group will capitalise on
the opportunity, ride on the trend and continue to stand out
leveraging on the historic opportunity arising from the dairy
industry’s transformation.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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PROSPECTS

While the lingering Sino-US trade tension, the nationwide
deleveraging situation, the uncertain foreign exchange movement
and the import of milk power will possibly impede the milk prices
and industry profitability in China. Nevertheless, we observe quite
of lot of positive catalysts, like preferential policies, quality-driven
type of consumption, tax cut and upgrade of dairy farming
technology, research and consolidation of dairy operators, that
will boost the milk prices, the milk consumption in China and
ultimately lead to a healthy development in the dairy industry.
In the long run, we are optimistic and do see promising growth
opportunities in dairy industry.

Stepping into 2019, the supply and demand of raw milk is
reaching equilibrium in China, and the price of raw milk continues
to pick up. The Group'’s profitability which was once affected
by the decline in raw milk price in the past few years would be
significantly improved. The Group will continue as usual to build
a world class and most sophisticated farms, produce the best
quality milk and focus our devotion, profession and endeavour
into the development of China’s dairy industry, so as to provide
the most nutritious milk for consumers.

The Group will resolutely adhere to the basic principle of quality
first and continue to promote scientific breeding and feeding
technologies proactively. We strive to increase milk yield and
quality, enhance brand competitiveness, continue to leverage on
our own milk resources and advanced management advantages.
Modern Dairy could take the lead in transformation and upgrade in
dairy industry, and achieve product branding from manufacturing
to creation, so as to maximize the value for shareholders,
customers and partners and produce the most nutritious raw milk
for consumers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our gratitude to all our staff for their dedicated service
and contribution over the year, and extend our thanks to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their trust and
support.
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PRODUCTS OF THE COMPANY
DB EmIT A

Fresh Raw Milk
£ BRI

We operate a total of 26 dairy farms with 231,530 dairy cows in total across seven provinces in mainland China. Each
milkable cow on average can produce 10.1 tons of fresh pasture milk each year.

BMERREAM EEEREE26MEMS - A& £231,5308 34 GEKILFFHEF E L ZE 1011 £ & 44
B e

R ARG AEEXS
% 3% E R
=4 . PURE MILK

Gold Pure Milk
& R A1
Self-owned dairy farms, high quality of the milk sources, two-hour milking to o

processing, with the gold prize for five consecutive years at Monde Selection,
pure milk has launched with new image.

BR®S BENR ENINNIMINSTX EELFREHERR
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MODERN FARMING
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HIGH CALCIUM MILK
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High Calcium Milk
= 85 4 18

High in calcium from good dairy farms, Modern Dairy High Calcium Milk has 125
mg calcium for each 100 ml, vitamin D is specially added to facilitate calcium
absorption, the milk is nutritious, pure and rich in taste.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Limited (“Modern Dairy” or the “Company”) is pleased
to present the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018
(the "Reporting Year").

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW:

In 2018, the emerge of international protectionism and unilateralism
imposed uncertainties to the global political and economic
equilibrium. In China, the supply-side reforms and Sino-US trade
war post uncertainties to the farming industry. Nevertheless, the
Chinese gross domestic product remained stable with a moderate
growth rate of 6.6%.

With the intensified Sino-US trade tension, US imposed 25%
tariffs on certain types of export goods from China, including
alfalfa and soybeans. Additionally, the corn supply-side reform,
the shrinkage corn planting land driving corn price rising locally,
has exerted further pressure on the operation cost of farming
industry in mainland China.

Domestic milk prices have gone through a few years of downturn,
small and medium farmers have gradually withdrew from the
market, and the dairy farming herd size dropped correspondingly.
According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the
domestic raw milk production and the number of dairy cows
had been decreasing in the past three years. As affected by
the cumulative effects of supply adjustment and consumption
peak season, domestic raw milk prices began to pick up in the
autumn of 2018, bringing positive momentum to upstream farming
enterprises. At the end of 2018, the Company’s external raw
milk selling price has reached approximately RMB4 per kg. The
upstream dairy farming is on track of recovery.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2018, China introduced several policies to reinvigorate consumer
confidence and promote development of dairy enterprises: In
February 2018, the first draft of the consultation paper on the four
new national standards for raw milk, pasteurized milk, sterilized
milk and reconstituted milk was officially released for industry
comments. The draft of the consultation paper of raw milk grading
mechanism, clearer guidelines for milk processing procedures
and the guidance on milk product packaging and labelling were
promoted. The measures were conducive to enhancing the
confidence for consumers, thereby boosting the consumption of
domestic fresh milk. The “Opinions of the General Office of the
State Council on Promoting the Revitalization of the Dairy Industry
to Ensure the Quality and Safety of Dairy Products” released in
May positioned the dairy industry as an indispensable industry
for cultivating a healthy China and a strong nation. It reaffirmed
complementary interests and a win-win situation amongst dairy
enterprises. It also strived to enhance the standard of milk quality,
establishment of a raw milk grading mechanism and quality
assurance with premium pricing. The central government of China
aims at maintaining over 65% of dairy farms to have a herd size
of over 100 dairy cows in order to retain the raw milk self-supply
rate of over 70% by 2020, with the expectation of full revitalization
of the dairy industry by 2025. In December, the “Opinions on
the Promoting the Revitalization of the Dairy Industry” jointly
issued by nine ministries further enhanced the support for the
operators of farming industry in large-scale to promote the healthy
development of dairy industry.

The year 2018, marks the tenth anniversary since the melamine
incident in 2008. During the decade, the dairy farming industry
has undergone an overwhelming transformation in the areas of
technological advancement, industrial upgrading and supportive
national wide policies. Both the quality and quantity of the dairy
industry has significantly improved, and become a massively
large-scale and compliant industry chain with stable product
quality under stringent regulations and quality standards.

EEENWR DN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEESNWmR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the soaring raw material cost, foreign exchange pressure
and the effect of supply-side reform in China, the dairy industry was
on the track of recovery, and we were able to deliver a satisfactory
financial results in the Reporting Year, with total revenue up by
3.6% to RMB4,956.8 million, cash EBITDA increased by 41.3%
to RMB1,528.4 million and net operating cash inflow escalated
by 180.7% to RMB1,406.0 million, as compared to 2017. This is
the result of a series of actions taken by the management team.
Firstly, we have scrutinized our feed cost structure thoroughly
and relentlessly implemented the cost-saving strategies across 26
farms. Secondly, we maximized the synergies effect with Mengniu
Group in the areas of purchase, sales network and financing.
Thirdly, we facilitated the launch of new products through associate
factories with Mengniu. Fourthly, we lowered our financial gearing
by proceeds from disposal of idle asset. Fifthly, we have invested
over RMB88 million to tackle the heat stress and as a result, the
habitat for the herds has been improved and hence uplifted the
milk yield. Yet, Modern Dairy never makes any concession to the
quality and safety of milk products as they are lives of our business.

Leveraging on the world’s first model of “integration of forage
planting, dairy farming and milk processing”, the Group has

become the largest dairy farming enterprise, high quality raw
milk provider and dairy processing manufacturer in China.

XKEE

BEERMBERALEA ELBEHURFEH
HEARENESET DEMNDEE#RZF
BT EERTERSSARENTH
¥E B AEMINE ARKALI568H &
JC 0 IR ©EBITDAE M141.3% = A R #1,528.4
BEL KEHR KA FER017F B N
180.7% 2 AR ¥1406 0B &L W HEERE
BRI —RWITHNER -F— BEMRK
B AEARK NGRS WHE206EHSEEER
MR AREARE F= BHMESFFEEE
HE HENKEBRETEANHBRIESRK
e FE= HMBEEASFINEE THRAE
HEHMNTER FH HMBEHEHESR
EMSHREMNBERE - FH HMEEBRA
ARMSB00E TIEHAEHLE THED
HEERRATHFEMNEE -AM BAK
ERAEDNDEONEERLDFEHEME
F HAREETRMEBNED -

KEE2REANIHERE HFBEE T
PMT—BIBEX AEECER/TH
RESAKNNFRBELE SmERPHEHRE
BRELIMIRES-

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEEERERAF




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Adhering to the breeding and production model with economy
of scale, modernization and standardisation, the Group strives to
meet the booming demand of milk from consumers, to enhance
food safety, epidemic prevention and environmental production,
and to produce dairy products with quality competitive to
international standards. Riding on the Group’s milk sources with
premium quality and well-established sales network from Mengniu,
the Group's associate factories commenced operation in the
second quarter of 2018, which is expected to further strengthen
the branded liquid milk business.

In 2018, the Group has enhanced its performance by reducing
operating costs and improving efficiency. On the income aspect,
the Group built a core herd of cows and raised the proportions
milkable cows to increase operating income. On the cost aspect,
although the Sino-US trade friction has led to an increase in
domestic and international feed prices, the Group insisted
on improving the health and milk yield of each milkable cow,
increasing the use of silage and tightening cost control measures.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has entered into a letter of
intent on cooperation framework of the agricultural environmental
protection project with CITIC Environment and CITIC Agri Fund,
integrated the energy assets and improved the efficiency of asset
utilization. In addition, the Group has sold the idle assets from
downstream production factory to Mengniu.

The Group will focus on its upstream business, consolidate
resources and enhance financial position and liquidity.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE:

For the Reporting Year, the Group has achieved significant
improvement in major operating targets. The external average
selling price ("ASP") of raw milk stood at RMB3.85/kg (2017:
RMB3.83/kg), representing an annual growth of 0.52%. The
annual milk yield (“AMY") per head of milkable cow increased
by 3.1% to 10.1 tons compared to 2017. With the uplift of milk
yield and the increase of proportion of milkable cows to the total
number of dairy cows, the total annual milk production hit 1.28
million tons (2017: 1.18 million tons), representing year-on-year
growth of 8.20%. In 2018, the Group has achieved 14.49% sales
growth year-on-year of raw milk up to RMB4.716 billion (2017:
RMB4.119 billion). Benefiting from an increase in ASP of raw milk
and higher milk yield, the gross profit margin (before raw milk
fair value adjustment) of the dairy farming business increased by
0.36 percentage points ("ppt”) to 31.46% in 2018 year-on-year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WED N

The Group still successfully kept the unit cost of one kilogram
(unit cost/kg) of raw milk at RMB2.45/kg, even though the feed
prices had significantly increased, globally and domestically as
a result of the Sino-US trade war. This was the results achieved
by continuous improvement in the health of cows and increase
in the using of silage as feed. Out of which, the feed cost
amounted to RMB1.89/kg, same as 2017. In order to integrate
the surrounding resources to cope with the demand from each
farm, the Group specifically has established a forage department
with a strong procurement team. The Company also consolidated
and streamlined procurement process so as to reduce purchasing
costs. Additionally, the Company also increased the use of silage
feed and adjusted the feed mix so as to secure the health and
comfort of dairy cows.

During the Reporting Year, the Company dedicated to the
objectives of “production maximization, costs mitigation, and
stopping losses”. The Company has lowered operating costs
through improving the formula, adjusting the feed mix, broadening
sources of income and adopting disciplined expenditure. Through
the modern management, the Company has optimized the herd-
size structure, raised unit production for each milkable cow.

For the Reporting Year, the Group has achieved significant

improvement in main operating indices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The ASP of external sales of raw milk stood at RMB3.85/kg (2017:
RMB3.83/kg), representing a growth of 0.52% year-on-year. The
AMY per head of milkable cow increased by 3.1% to 10.1 tons.
With the increase in unit of production output and the proportion
of milkable cows, the total milk yield amounted to 1.279 million
tons (2017: 1.182 million tons), representing a growth of 8.20%
year-on-year. In 2018, the revenue from sale of raw milk of the
Group amounted to RMB4.716 billion (2017: RMB4.119 billion),
representing an increase of 14.49% year-on-year. Benefiting from
an increase in ASP of raw milk and higher milk yield, the gross
profit margin of the dairy farming business increased by 0.36 ppt
to 31.46% in 2018 year-on-year.

For unit cost of milk (“"UCM") production, even though, the feed

prices have increased, globally and domestically, as a result of
the Sino-US trade war, the Group’s UCM was successfully kept
at RMB2.45/kg. This was the results achieved by continuous
improvement in the health of cows and increase in the using of
silage as feed. Out of which, the feed cost amounted to RMB1.89/
kg, same as 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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DAIRY FARMS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group operated a total of 26 dairy
farms (within herd size each close to or over 10,000 dairy cows)
with 231,530 dairy cows (2017: 233,058 heads) spread across
seven provinces in mainland China. The proportion of milkable
cows to the total number of dairy cows increased by 3.61 ppts
to 58.01% (2017: 54.40%). Total external sales volume of raw milk
amounted to 1,225,441 tons (2017: 1,075,538 tons) contributing
to the production of high-end milk among the downstream dairy
enterprises. Leveraging on the world’s first model of “integration
of forage planting, dairy farming and milk processing”, Modern
Dairy has become the largest leading dairy farming company and
the largest producer of raw fresh milk in mainland China in terms of
the herd scale and volume of annual production. As a nationwide
farm, we are endowed with unique geographical advantages that
our farms are mostly located in regions with fine climate, ample
supply of feed, and in the proximity of various processing plants

of dairy products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Herd Scale BEERE
As at
31 December
2017
20174
12 A31H
Head
5a

Dairy cows gL 4

Milkable cows B ZL A4 134,315 126,839
Heifers and calves INRE A RN 97,215 106,219
Total number of dairy cows LB 231,530 233,058

The Company'’s financial performance is highly correlated with
market prices of raw milk and also affected by the milk yield of
each milkable cow. In general, when milk prices increase, the
Company’s profitability will increase correspondingly under
normal operation condition. When milk yield improves, the UCM
will decrease relatively. Yet, milk yield is affected by a number
of factors, including the number of lactation, breed, comfort
level, genetics and feed mix. Nevertheless, the Company has
continuously been conducting research on each factor, inviting
foreign cow experts to regularly station and give guidance at the
farms, and, through exchange amongst industry experts and staff
training, improving milk yield and cow health.

Milk Yield

During the Reporting Year, we recorded annual milk yield of
10.1 tons per milkable cow (2017: 9.8 tons), up by 3.06% year-on-
year. Such results are attributable to effective herd management,
genetic improvement by over generations and generations, and
increase in the number of cows reaching peak stage of lactation.
The total AMY of the Group grew 8.2% to 1.28 million tons (2017:
1.18 million tons).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WED N

OPERATION STRATEGIES

Improve unit production output and raw milk quality by
scientific breeding and feeding techniques

We keep improving our operation efficiency and average AMY. At
present, our average AMY per milkable cow is among the highest
of all dairy companies in the mainland China. We believe that both
the unit production and quality of raw milk of our milkable cows
will continue to rise as we keep improving the genetic mix of herd
across generations, and increase the proportion of milkable cows
to total herd size. In addition, we are committed to continuous
research so as to alleviate the heat damage to room-temperature
milk, and further reduce the content of furosine in milk, subject
to eligibility of various indicators such as microorganisms in the
products.

Enhance feed nutrients and optimize the feed mix

We will continue to collaborate with local farmers and agricultural
research institutions in pursuing research and planting high
quality feed suitable for our dairy cows. Moreover, according to
the locations of our farms, we collaborate with local farmers of
particular regions to jointly build customized and efficient feed
supply chains with the objective to reduce transportation cost
of feed and to ensure the quality, nutrition content and a stable
supply of feed.

Heat Stress Alleviation Measures

Heat stress as a result of high temperature in summer has become
a seasonal problem for milkable cows. The yield of each milkable
cow is generally slightly reduced to the impact caused by heat
stress. To minimize the impact, the Group has implemented
alleviation plans. In the Reporting Year, the Group deployed
over RMB88 million on modification of cowshed, and equipped
cowshed with efficient ventilation system, such as powerful
fans. After the implementation of the plan, there were obvious
improvement in the milk yield per cow. The Company will keep
close monitor to the effect of heat stress and upgrade the facilities
in barns and enhance the health of each dairy cow.

Quality Management

The overall execution of the quality management of Modern Dairy
is based on the principle of “Four Don't": don't cooperate with
unqualified suppliers, don't stock unqualified raw feed materials,
don’t feed unqualified inventory of raw feed materials, don’t
release raw milk from farms that fail inspection.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the quality control of raw feed materials, the Group ensures
the source control by inspecting suppliers on-site and establishing
a database of suppliers; ensures feed arrival control by having
a stricter standard of testing than that of the national standard;
ensures the process control by sampling the inventory of raw
feed materials and control indicators on daily basis; ensures that
the feeds in cows’ mouth are of the right mix consistent with
the relevant formula by conducting real-time sampling during
the production process with reference to formula data at close
to infrared calibration. For the process control, Modern Dairy
establishes a process-oriented quality management system,
establishes CCP point on key production stages, and set process
food safety indicators for monitoring, and timely rectify and track
the potential risks discovered. For the delivery quality control,
Modern Dairy has 18 quality inspections and controls on raw
milk delivering, 24 daily inspections and controls, 98 third party
inspections and controls to comprehensively control the quality of
raw milk. For the whole chain quality tracking system, the quality
information platform is traced by quick response code, to achieve
the traceability of whole chain quality information for stocking up
arriving raw feed materials, delivering and feeding, milking on the
milking parlor and delivering raw milk.

The safe and high quality milk of Modern Dairy is ensured by
source control, process monitoring and terminal control.

Herd Management

Modern Dairy adopts the means of lean management in managing
herd, values scientific breeding and precise formula. With the
innovation of a comprehensive herd management system, the
Group overcomes the “information isolation” of farms, establishes
an efficient information collection system, improves the system
integration of cows from individual, breeding, feeding, health to
milk-producing module. All barns of farms are covered of wireless
communication, the information of herd can be inquired and
undated anytime and anywhere through the handset equipment
and APP; by using the low frequency scanners, which show timely
and accurate reminders of cow breeding process, to raise the
conception rate to cows, simplify and improve cow breeding; with
pedometers and yield sensors (ie. low frequency ear tags), which
record and analyze milk yield of cows automatically, to identify
and alert diseases among cows in advance. The comprehensive
utilization of advanced data analysis systems enables us to achieve
scientific decision-making, improve the level of production
management, and achieve sustainable consolidated profitability.
Regard "high standard, high positioning and high starting point”
as the principles, the Group achieves the objectives of “increase
unit production output, reduce operation cost, optimize herd
structure” in herd breeding.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WED N

Environmental Protection and Epidemic Prevention

With the mission of “creating the world’s most advanced farms,
producing the highest quality milk, and achieving harmonious
development of people and nature”, the Group actively fulfills
its social responsibilities. The Group continuously improves
on various aspects such as product quality, dairy cow disease
control and environmentally friendly production to maximize social
benefits.

Currently, the Company’s various milk quality indicators are
better than the EU standards. Food safety indicators are set in
the raw milk production process, and the whole process is strictly
monitored to ensure that the raw milk quality meets the standards.
Since Mengniu increased its stake in the Company, the Group and
Mengniu have enhanced cooperation in product testing, unified
inspection standards and processes, improved testing efficiency
and product quality. The Group strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations for epidemic prevention management,
conducts health rating management for dairy cows, cautiously
controls the environment of farms, refines the management of
farms, provides epidemic prevention and protection for dairy
cows, and establishes quarantine and health check plans for cows,

to ensure the health of cows.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Based on resource recycling, the Group has built a green recycling
industrial chain of “forage planting — dairy farming - fertilizer
treatment — biogas power generation — fertilizer back to the field”.
Each farm is equipped with large-scale biogas power generation
facilities and comprehensive utilization facilities for biogas
fertilizer, which absorbs, digests and indiscriminately treats the
manure. For sustainable development, the Group will continue to
implement high-standard environmental protection policies and
implements rigorous epidemic prevention measures in our farms.
The Group expects, through co-operation with CITIC Environment,
it could enhance industrial efficiency and expand the scale of
green production.

ASSOCIATE FACTORIES

In March 2018, the Group completed the disposal of 50% equity
interest each of Modern Dairy (Feidong) Co., Ltd. (“Feidong”)
ERAHERER)B R A A and Modern Dairy (Bengbu) Co., Ltd.
("Bengbu”) B ZE(EHR) R A 7)) (both of which operate milk
processing plant) to Mengniu Group and formed two associate
factories (the “Associate Factories”). Pursuant to the articles of
association of Feidong and Bengbu, Mengniu Group has 51%
of the voting power at the shareholders’” meetings and controls
three out of a total of five directors of each of Feidong and
Bengbu, and thus Mengniu Group has control over the Associate
Factories. Accordingly, Mengniu will consolidate the Associate
Factories, while Modern Dairy will book the operating results of
the Associates Factories through equity accounting. The share
of profit by the Group of the Associates Factories recorded as
RMB24.87 million in the Reporting Year.

Details of the disposal are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors — Connected Transactions — Disposal of 50% equity
interest in subsidiaries” in this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WED N

Riding on the marketing strategies and competitive advantage of
the sales channels of Mengniu, “Modern Farming”, the branded
liquid milk was re-launched in the market with the positioning
and new packaging of “Good Milk from Good Farms” during the
Reporting Year. In conjunction with the advertising placement
in the movie "The Island (2018)", it became the spotlight of the
market, driving up the consumers’ demand. Another new product
"high-calcium pure milk” being promoted with “Good Calcium
from Good Farms” was officially launched in early 2019. With
the market's knowledge and experience of the Company's high-
quality milk sources and milk products, the Associate Factories
are expected to bring another growth highlight for the Group.

Cooperation with CITIC Environment

The Company and CITIC Environment Investment Group Co.,
Ltd. and one of its subsidiaries (together “CITIC Environment”)
entered into a letter of intent on cooperation framework in
September 2018, to jointly establish a joint venture on the
transformation and operation of manure anaerobic fermentation
system and other assets of farms under the Group, which involved
the treatment of plug flow reactor for anaerobic fermentation
being the principal manure treatment. Biogas produced during
fermentation can be deployed for power generation and steam
production; biogas residues after drying can be used as beds in
cowsheds, while biogas slurry is partially returned to cowsheds and

the remaining biogas slurry will be reused as organic fertilizers.
For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
28 September 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SYNERGIES WITH MENGNIU

The Group and Mengniu have achieved satisfactory synergy in
terms of purchasing, sales, cost control, resource utilization and
even corporate management. In December 2018, the Company
sold certain idle production equipment to Mengniu. It did help
integrating the Group's resources, but also lower interest-bearing
liabilities and enhance the financial strength of the Group. In
respect of raw milk production, the Group adjusted the milk
supply to Mengniu according to the seasonal pattern. In early
2019, the Company entered into a cooperation agreement with
Yashili International Holdings Ltd, a subsidiary of Mengniu, to
provide premium raw milk for its high-end new dairy products.
With the increase in the demand of diversified high-end raw milk,
the high-end raw milk is expected to become the Company’s high
value-added business and a new engine of growth.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

The Group's dairy products are comparable to the average
standard of imported milk products in terms of milk fat, milk
protein, somatic cells count, total colony count and other fresh
milk key indicators, and the quality is among the top rankings in
the world. The Company is the first and only company in China that
passed the “Quality Milk Project” for its pasteurized milk and UHT
milk. During the Reporting Year, four of our Group's products were
all awarded the Gold Prize of Monde Selection 2018. The pure
milk was consecutively awarded the Gold Prize for the fifth time.

In 2019, the brand of Modern Dairy has been shortlisted as the
“Strategic Partner of China’s Aerospace Industry”, marking our
premium quality branded milk widely recognized by all sectors
of the society.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW Bt 7% 8 R
Revenue A
Business Segmentation Analysis XKoo H

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the consolidated T X &&= % B H1IEFEMEL & 5 2
revenue of our two operating segments for the years ended: SO ABRA :
2017
0175
External Internal
Sales Sales Subtotal
NBHEE  REHE It
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT ARETR
Sales of raw milk business FRIMEEER 4,715,942 116,787 4,832,729 4,119,192 280,166 4,399,358
Sales of liquid milk products business ~ KEPEREEEH 240,869 - 240,869 664,609 - 664,609
Consolidated revenue aHERA 4,956,811 116,787 5,073,598 4,783,801 280,166 5063967

AEBUW AR EF3.62%E AR 49568
BEL(017F: AR¥47838H&7T)°
AMEZRERARDEELME R HF
HEEBERME -

The Group's revenue slightly increased by 3.62% to RMB4,956.8
million (2017: RMB4,783.8 million). The increase was mainly due
to the increase in sales volume of raw milk and increase in ASP
of raw milk.

TREIFATFENRBPHEE WA
EERTFTHEEFS:

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of raw milk for the years indicated:

2017
M17F
Sales Sales
revenue volume ASP
BERA HEE  THEE
RMB'000 tons RMB/ton
AREFTL B OARETL/H
Raw milk FR
External sales NPHE 4,715,942 1,225,441 3,848 4,119,192 1,075,538 3830
Internal sales HHHEE 116,787 25,891 4,511 280,166 73,235 3826
Subtotal 1N 4,832,729 1,251,332 3,862 4,399,358 1,148,773 3830

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Dairy farming business

Total revenue of raw milk (as an aggregate of external
and internal sale) slightly grew by 9.85% year-on-year to
RMB4,832.7 million (2017: RMB4,399.4 million).

External sales revenue of raw milk recorded a year-on-year
14.49% increase to RMB4,715.9 million (2017: RMB4,119.2
million) as compared to 2017.

ASP of raw milk slightly grew by 0.52% year-on-year to
RMB3.85/kg during the Reporting Year (2017: RMB3.83/
kg), sales volume increased by 8.88% year-on-year to 1.251
million tons (2017: 1.149 million tons), mainly due to the rise
in AMY per cow and number of milkable cows.

Liquid milk products business

Since April 2018, the Associated Factories were officially
operated by Mengniu. The Company adopted the equity
accounting to book the results of the Associate Factories
since then. The revenue from our liquid milk products
business for the first quarter recorded RMB240.9 million
during the Reporting Year (2017: RMB664.6 million),
accounted for 4.86% of the consolidated revenue (2017:
13.89%).

Total sales volume of liquid milk slided by 60.94% year-to-
year to 29,132 tons for the Reporting Year (2017: 74,584 tons).
The significant drop in sales volume is a result of the disposal
of 50% equity interest in and handover of the operations of
the liquid milk business to Mengniu in April 2018.

EEENWR DN

A4 BEER

R E U A (SN & B 8 B 48
H)ABARKEA8327H B (20174 + A
R¥43994FE L) ' AL AEIL9.85% °

RE TR INEDEE WA B AREEL715.9
BEILQ7FE : ARBAN92BEE L)
12017 F Lt 8 [F bt 38 H014.49% o

BERPIFEHEERAERFEAEAR
#3.857C, A T (20174 « A R¥3.837T,/
NF) FILLBE#052% - 52 £1.251 8
B HA(20174F 1 11495 & WE) » [A kb 3 A0
888% - TERHREBHENMFNFEDN
BEEARKIAFEHEEMATE -

BEDERER

B2018F48 HETIHMERNBTFL
E B ARRNA g EREHEZ
ITRMAR - BRENEREBFKRARKE
REEFEF " ZHFARB2409B8 T
(20174 : ARMEG646BET)  1ha B
W A 4.86% (2017 & © 13.89%) °

REEI A E BN A B RFE A29,132
WA (2017 4 : 74,584WE ) - [A] tb K 18 T %
60.94% - HERIETHREAREER
o 2 5 50% % W B 2018F 4 A ¥ R
REZBRTE -

bR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWR DN

COST OF SALES BEFORE RAW MILK FAIR
VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

The Group's cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments
primarily consisted of cost of dairy farming and cost of liquid milk
products. The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost

of sales of our products for the years indicated:

Cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments
e Dairy farming business:

ERGBAFEBEANEEXN

AEBNRHMPDATFEABAMBEER AT
ZERERDTERERANRBEDERKE - T
REINAEBERRNARFEFENHEERAN
B A0

R FERRAAHERA
s IAEBEEK

2017
2017 &
RMB'000 %
AREF T BEAlt
Direct materials HEWME 2,449,233 73.9% 2,262,827 74.7%
Labor cost AT kAR 243,406 7.4% 206,420 6.8%
Utilities NAEXEHR 96,414 2.9% 70,257 2.3%
Depreciation e 250,422 7.6% 239,264 7.9%
Other costs of farms EWISHEME Y 272,676 8.2% 252,440 8.3%
Subtotal of cost of sales before R 3 A F (B 38 & 5
raw milk fair value adjustments K F BEEHIHE
of the dairy farming business AR N5 3,312,151 100% 3,031,208 100%
Inter-segment cost A 26 A AR (68,381) (202,257)
Cost of sales before raw milk BRI AT EFAZI
fair value adjustments of MGBEEBKHE
the dairy farming business BN 3,243,770 2,828,951
Total feed cost (before eliminating cost of sales in relation RATEIRFE - 868 R 6

to internal supply of raw milk) during the Reporting Year
amounted to RMB2,449.2 million (2017: RMB2,262.8 million),
representing an increase of 8.24%, which was mainly due to
the increase in number of milkable cows.

Despite the impact of the Sino-US trade war, we lowered
the use of alfalfa by regulating the formula of the feed, and
effectively managed to control the forage costs. During the
Reporting Year, the cash cost of (excluding depreciation)
raw milk sold (before eliminating cost of sales in relation
to internal supply of raw milk) amounted to RMB2,447/ton
(2017: RMB2,430/ton), approximately the same as 2017.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquid milk products business

The raw material cost in respect of the branded liquid milk
business during the Reporting Year (before eliminating cost
of sales in relation to internal supply of raw milk) slided by
60.24% year-on-year to RMB191.6 million (2017: RMB481.9
million) as a result of the disposal of 50% equity interest in
and the handover of the operations of the branded liquid
milk business to Mengniu since April 2018.

Cash cost (excluding depreciation) per ton of branded
liquid milk sold (before eliminating cost of sales in relation
to internal supply of raw milk) amounted to RMB7,253 million
(2017: RMB7,553 million), representing a decrease of 3.97%
year-on-year.

EEENWR DN

BENERER

& SRR R BE 1 2 RS 50% A% FE P B
2018F4ABRERRBEFEE BA
ERTEHEDEFDNARM R (E
S5 IR R RO 4 FE AR B 85 S K AR BT |
Lt T B60.24%%E AR #191.68 & 7t(2017
F:ARE®IBI9BET) -

HAE BT MR EDER KA (R
FEINEFEABRADEEEEHEE
AR A AR7,2538 &7t (2017 %
AR¥7553B &) [ EE3.97% -

Gross profit and profitability EA

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and

kB EE N

TREINRBPRFERABEMDE

AprES

gross profit margin before raw milk fair value adjustments: A =B 4H
2017
2017 F
Gross
Gross Profit
profit margin
EF EF =
RMB’000
ARET T
Dairy farming business HUEEBEER
Before elimination YA 1,520,578 31.46% 1,368,150 31.10%
After elimination HiHk 1,472,172 31.22% 1,290,241 31.32%
Liquid milk products business RENE REH
Before elimination A 19,908 8.27% 59,980 9.02%
After elimination HiHR 73,969 30.71% 140,603 21.16%
AGBEXEE

Dairy farming business

Gross profit of our dairy farming business before raw milk fair
value adjustments (before eliminating cost of sales in relation
to internal supply of raw milk) amounted to RMB1,520.6
million during the Reporting Year (2017: RMB1,368.2 million),
representing an increase of 11.14% year-on-year, which was
mainly due to the increase in sales volume of raw milk.

BMMIFEEEFHORBDAFE
o B BT ) (E 88 B0 R R £ B AR RS
HERARNIRAERFEEAEARE
1,520.6 5 & 7T(20174F : 1,368.2H &)
F L IR A11.14% T 22N ERAH
S B B2 N AT EK -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WED N

Gross profit margin of our dairy farming business before raw
milk fair value adjustments (before eliminating cost of sales
in relation to internal supply of raw milk) stood at 31.46%
during the Reporting Year (2017: 31.10%), representing an
increase of 0.36 ppt year-on-year, which was mainly due to
the increase in AMY per cow.

e Liquid milk products business

Gross profit of our liquid milk products business (before
eliminating cost of sales in relation to internal supply of raw
milk) amounted to RMB19.9 million during the Reporting
Year (2017: RMB60.0 million), representing a decrease of
66.83% year-on-year. The significant slide was due to the
disposal of 50% equity interest in and the handover of the
operations of the branded liquid milk products business to
Mengniu in April 2018.

Gross profit margin of our liquid milk products business
(before eliminating cost of sales in relation to internal supply
of raw milk) was 8.27% (2017: 9.02%), the decrease was mainly
due to the change of pricing model to “cost-plus”.

Losses arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell
of dairy cows

As at 31 December 2018, the biological assets of the Group were
valued at RMB7,717.1 million (31 December 2017: RMB7,751.1
million) by an independent qualified professional valuer, Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited. Losses
arising from changes in the fair value of dairy cows less costs to
sell dairy cows were RMB870.1 million as at 31 December 2018
(31 December 2017: RMB868.3 million). Both were approximately
the same as 2017 year-on-year.

Gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk at fair value
less costs to sell at the point of harvest

The gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk at fair value
less costs to sell at the point of harvest amounted to RMB1,371.5
million (2017: RMB1,228.0 million), representing an increase of
11.69% year-on-year, mainly due to the increase in sales volume
of raw milk.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) required that
raw milk harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs
to sell, and the difference between the fair value less costs to sell
and the actual costs incurred was charged to profit or loss.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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Other income

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Reporting Year, other income amounted to RMB66.1
million (2017: RMB51.8 million) which mainly consisted of
government grants and interest income, of which interest income
accounted for RMB11.0 million (2017: RMB8.2 million), while the
government grants amounted to RMB43.7 million (2017: RMB37.6
million). Government grants mainly consisted of subsidies for
agricultural projects such as “Grain to Fodder”.

Operating expenses

BEEBANRR DM

=N

RAEFRFE EMHBRABARKLIES
T(2017F: ARBSI18AET) TEBHE
BREmE FERASZ EFFBEKRABA
RE1MOBET(2017F : ARKS2AET) °
B A ARB3TEET(2017F: AR
BI376EBL) BNEHREERE Bk
EHEXEBEMME-

RERX

2017
2017
RMB’000
ARET T

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

HE R HEKA
TR X

172,256 372,602
232,450 356,486

Total operating expenses

RERXBER

404,706 729,088

The total operating expenses decreased from RMB729.1 million
in 2017 to RMB404.7 million in the Reporting Year, representing

a reduction of 44.5% year-on-year.

° Selling and distribution costs (“S&D costs”)
The following is an analysis of the S&D costs:

KBRS BEBER20I7TFEFENAREI2NIE
ELREAERFEARKILTIEE L [
Lt R 4 44.5% o

HERDERA(HERDERAE]
HERDHERADITMAT :

2017
2017 £
RMB’000
AR F T
Dairy farming business MEBEEY
Transportation costs and others  E# & & H i 163,130 149,779
Liquid milk segment R o =B
Transportation, loading and EREHE
unloading costs 982 43,301
Staff remuneration Bt T 37 M 1,718 40,044
Publicity expenses EEE 546 92,514
Others =i 2,444 44,644
Business tax and surcharge EEB e RMM 3,436 2,320
Total selling and distribution HERDHEHB BT
costs 172,256 372,602
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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S&D costs stood as RMB172.3 million for the Reporting
Year (2017: RMB372.6 million) mainly consisted of, among
other things, transportation costs for sales of raw milk,
transportation costs for sales of liquid milk products, salaries
of sales personnel and daily expenses.

Transportation costs for sales of raw milk recorded at
RMB163.1 million (2017: RMB149.8 million), representing
an increase of 8.9% year-on-year, mainly attributable to an
increase in the sales volume of raw milk.

The amount of S&D cost of branded liquid milk segment
amounted to RMB5.69 million (2017: RMB210.9 million),
accounted for 3.3% (2017: 56.6%) of the overall S&D costs.
The significant decrease was mainly due to the disposal of
50% equity interest in and the handover of the operations
of downstream business to Mengniu. Mengniu took account
for the marketing and promotion expense thereafter.

Administrative expenses

The Company recorded RMB232.5 million during the
Reporting Year (2017: RMB356.5 million), representing a
decrease of 34.78% year-on-year.

Administrative expenses mainly included, remuneration of
management staff (including equity-based share option
expenses) and depreciation charges of office building,
staff quarters and facilities, of which remuneration of
management staff (excluding equity-based share option
expenses) amounted to RMB113.4 million of the Reporting
Year (2017: RMB127.5 million). Since the Associate Factories
taken by Mengniu, the marketing and related management
personnel of the Company decreased resulting in lower
administrative expenses.

The equity-based share option and share award expenses
included in administrative expenses amounted to RMB8.6
million of the Reporting Year (2017: RMB96.3 million),
representing a decrease of 91.07% year-on-year. It was mainly
due to a one-off amortization of the remaining unamortized
value of options after the staff members’ acceptance of the
offer made by Mengniu in respect of their options during
2017.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBANRR DM

Impairment losses, net of reversal BEEEMNRERD
2017
2017 &
RMB'000
ARET T
Impairment losses recognised on: T I % T HE R AR E B8
— Trade receivables — liquid milk - B ZERRIEB-REDE®
product (Distributors) (D 8Em) 358,891 488,489
— Trade receivables — liquid milk - BRI IBE-REDE @R
product (other customers) (H=EF) 5,365 6,782
— Other receivables - H fth pE Y Fk 1A 3,569 110
Impairment losses reversed on: BT ESERLONRESRE:
— Trade receivables - liquid milk - BB REBE-REDNE®
product (other customers) (A xEP) (163) =
367,662 495,381

The Group discontinued its cooperation with the relevant major
distributors as a result of the disposal of 50% equity interest in
and the handover of the operations the liquid milk business to
Mengniu Group in 2017, the delayed collection of trade receivable
due from these distributors may not be fully recovered. After
taking into account the present value of future collection and
the security of 318,697,354 ordinary shares of the Company, an
impairment loss of RMB488.5 million was recognised in respect of
the Group's trade receivables due from these distributors. During
the Reporting Year, the Group conducted an impairment test
based on the ECL model and recognised additional impairment
loss of RMB358.9 million after taking into account the discounted
cash flow expected to be received by the Group.

R2017F  LEREDERSOBBELE X
MESTEEEE ASBEEKIEEBRE
ZHOHEMNAE ZEDHAEINEKRE
SHEFLEEBERTER2EWE - LK%
U 8] 2% 18 /9 38 {E 318,697,354 B% AN A &) 3B
BREF NEERBERZEDHEEHER
ESRFERREBEBARKISSAE T -
RAERFE NEBERBECLERETT
WEMNG EETAEBBHKIGITER
e ERTHEINNEEIEBLARKISEIH
Bt
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Other gains and losses, net

During the Reporting Year, net losses arising from other gains and
|losses amounted to RMB138.6 million (2017: net losses of RMB35.7
million) mainly consisting of net amount of foreign exchange
losses, impairment provision for fixed assets and impairment loss
on goodwill. The breakdown of other gains and losses is as follows:

Hit s K B8 FHE

REAERFE EMRaRBEEMELNE
BEERARARB13B6EET(2017F : B8
FBRARBBIEET) EEBEIINEERE
FECBTEEREERE BHERERKF-
Hip ez MEEAMADT

2017
2017 4F
RMB'000
AR T T
Other gains and losses: Ht s REE !
Loss from settlement of modified HEEKREIIRENEE
considerations - 15,361
Loss from disposal of an associate LE—MEHE A ArmEE - 239
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) SNEE B 1B (M s ) % 5 126,957 (10,199)
Loss from disposal of inventories HEFERNERE - 5,134
Loss from disposal of property, HEME BELEEXED
plant and equipment [gi=! 4,768 11,268
Gains arising on disposal of subsidiaries i & [ @ 2 7 & £ A I &= (18,193) =
Impairment loss on AFS equity AHEHEREREREER
investment - 12,021
Impairment loss on property, ME BERZEREEIE
plant and equipment 36,444 -
Impairment loss on goodwill HMEREERE 25,950 -
Fair value (gain) loss on financial assets A FEF AEBFZ /L E
at FVTPL M A FE (W) BB
Foreign currency forward contracts HMNEE B A A (35,394) 1,949
Foreign currency option contracts HINFE HR & 49 872 =
Bills receivable JE I = & (1,427) =
(35,949) 1,049
Gains on derecognition of financial RIEEREeBHABEH KR
liabilities (1,352) (57)
138,625 35,716

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other expenses

Other expenses amounted to RMB23.1 million (2017: RMB20.4
million), mainly consisting of, among other things, contract
compensation and losses from sales of milk powder.

In June 2016, Modern Farming (Saibei) Co., Ltd. (“Saibei”), a
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a consigned processing
contract with Bengbu Heping Dairy Co., Ltd ("Heping”) to process
liquid milk product for Heping. As the Directors predicted the
contract would not be fulfilled, Saibei cancelled the contract with
a compensation of RMB12 million to Heping in December 2018.

Finance costs
Finance costs amounted to RMB338.6 million (2017: RMB328.4
million), representing an increase of 3.1% year-on-year.

Among which, borrowing costs, down 6.3% to RMB335.1 million
(2017: RMB357.7 million), mainly due to the decrease in interest
bearing borrowings.

The fair value loss of interest rate swaps incurred by the Company
amounted to RMB3.5 million during the Reporting Year, compared
with a gain of RMB31.8 million in 2017. In view of the large finance
costs, the Company will adopt various feasible measures to reduce
interest bearing liabilities, including, among others, the disposal
of idle assets and integration of resources.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

The Group's cash EBITDA amounted to RMB1,528.4 million during
the Reporting Year (2017: RMB1,081.8 million), grew by 41.28%
year-on-year. The cash EBITDA margin increased to 30.83% (2017:
22.61%), up by 8.22 ppt.

Taking into account the above factors, loss attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB496.1 million (2017: loss of
RMB975.1 million), representing a reduction of 49.1% year-on-year.

Basic loss per Share was RMB8.15 cents (2017: RMB16.19 cents
per Share).

BEEBANRR DM

Hftb B X
HASZXARARB2ZI1BET(2017F : AR
B204BET) TEREANBENRDHH
EEK-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the Reporting Year, the amount of net cash generated from
operating activities of the Group was RMB1,406.0 million (2017:
RMB500.9 million), representing a 180.69% increase year-on-year,
demonstrating a robust recovery in overall operation.

As at 31 December 2018, the net gearing ratio, which was
calculated on the basis of the amount of total borrowing less cash
and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits as a percentage
of the total equity, was 97.4% (31 December 2017: 95.1%).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's available and unutilized
bank financing facilities were approximately RMB4,954.7 million
(31 December 2017: RMB6,306.5 million). Having considered
the (i) forecast cash flow from operating activities of continuing
operation, (ii) existing financial resources and gearing level of
the Group, and (iii) existing banking facilities available to the
Group, the Directors believe that the Group’s financial resources
are sufficient to meet its debt repayment, day-to-day operations,
contracted capital expenditures as at 31 December 2018.

Operating activities

During the Reporting Year, the net cash inflow from operating
activities of the Group was RMB1,406.0 million (2017: RMB500.9
million). The surge of net cash inflow from operating activities
was mainly due to the increase of income in the Reporting Year
and the Group has strengthened recovery of accounts receivable.

Investing activities

Net cash outflow from investing activities was RMB1,061.6 million
(2017: net outflow of RMB972.7 million), representing a year-on-
year growth of 9.14%. The improvement was mainly due to the
increase in fixed asset investment and disposal of subsidiaries.

Financing activities

Net cash outflow from financing activities was RMB307.9 million
(2017: net inflow of RMB286.6 million), mainly due to the decrease
in bank borrowings this year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2018, the total interest-bearing borrowings

was RMB7,148.1 million.

Details are set out as below:

EEENWED N
EEMER
MR2018F12A31H  BEEEBRBEBEAEARE
7,148 1B BT °

AARNMT

2017
2017
RMB'000
AREF T
Borrowings: &

Bank borrowings R AT 18 4,437,502 3,481,210
Medium-term notes HiEZ E 621,880 1,866,895
Corporate bonds UNEIREE-S 1,087,568 1,084,867
Other borrowing H &= 1,001,111 1,106,115
7,148,061 7,539,087

Carrying value repayable: EEEREE:
Within one year —E R 4,401,668 3,980,839
Between one and two years —ZE-FR 2,316,393 1,364,676
Between two and five years “FE2RHER 430,000 2,193,572
7,148,061 7,539,087

The following is an analysis of the respective borrowings:

o Bank borrowings

During the Reporting Year, the effective annual interest rate
of bank borrowings varied from 0.45% to 5.0% (2017: from

0.9% to 6.4%).

EEEBROFTAOT

o SRITME
NARERFEZERN  RITEINEEREF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WE DN

The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018:

TR &HR2018F12A43MB N E B &
REIRITHE R

2017
2017 4
RMB’000
AR T T
Bank borrowings: RATHE N

Unsecured borrowings R E R 3,972,022 3,468,694
Secured borrowings BEBER 465,480 12,516
4,437,502 3,481,210

Carrying amount repayable: EEEREE:
Within one year —FE A 1,691,109 1,568,181
Between one and two years —FEMENRN 2,316,393 516,000
Between two and five years MEEZERFA 430,000 1,397,029
4,437,502 3,481,210

Medium-term notes and corporate bonds

On 23 March 2016, Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company (“Modern Farming”) issued
medium-term notes with an aggregate principal amount
of RMB600,000,000 which will mature in three years. The
medium-term notes bear a fixed interest rate of 4.75% per
annum. Related transaction costs amounted to RMB1,800,000.
The effective interest rate is 4.86% per annum.

In June 2016, Modern Farming obtained approval from
China Securities Regulatory Commission to issue corporate
bonds in the PRC of an aggregate principal amount up to
RMB2,000,000,000 within 24 months from the approval. On
12 August 2016, Modern Farming issued the first tranche
of the corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount
of RMB250,000,000 which will mature in three years. The
corporate bonds bear a fixed interest rate of 5.30% per annum.
Related transaction costs amounted to RMB1,125,000. The
effective interest rate is 5.47% per annum.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 28 March 2017, Modern Farming issued the second
tranche of corporate bonds of an aggregate principal
amount of RMB800,000,000 which will mature in three
years. The corporate bonds bear a fixed interest rate of
5.49% per annum. Related transaction costs amounted
to RMB3,600,000. The effective interest rate is 5.66% per
annum.

e Other borrowing

BEEBANRR DM

R2017F 38288 BMRME(E®) %
TEHMRABEF LB EAEARE
800,000,000 ' BN =ZF & B H - A A
BEFHNETHNEAEETFS549% - HE X
SHA A AR 3,600,000 BB X
BT F5.66% °

e HMERK

2017
2017 4F
RMB'000
AR%ET T
Principal amount payable: EEERSTE
Within one year —F R
— Collateralised borrowing -EBEHEEED = 39,604
- Borrowings from Mengniu -RKBRFEENER
Group (Note) (Bt 3%) 1,001,111 1,066,511
1,001,111 1,106,115
Less: Amounts due within one year B — FE R E R
(shown under current liabilities) (REEEEIETR) 1,001,111 1,106,115

Amounts due after one year

—F &I BRE

Note: In May 2017, the Group entered into two entrusted loan
agreements with Mengniu Group and Agricultural Bank of
China ("ABC"), pursuant to which, Mengniu Group agreed
to offer borrowing facilities of RMB1.5 billion to the Group
through ABC. The borrowing facilities will mature in May 2020
and bear interest at fixed rates determined with reference
to the benchmark interest rate of People’s Bank of China. In
September 2017, pursuant to the letter of comfort to certain
US$ loan, borrowing facilities of RMB1.0 billion was extended
to September 2020, and then further extended to September
2021 pursuant to the letter of comfort to the HK$ Loan in
September 2018. The outstanding borrowings at 31 December
2018 will mature within one year and bear interest at fixed rate
of 4.00% per annum.

GROUP STRUCTURE

Save for disclosed in this announcement, during the Reporting
Year, there was no material change in the structure of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WE DN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the total number of ordinary
shares in issue remains unchanged, stands as 6,131,406,706 shares.

The Group had interest bearing borrowings of approximately
RMB7.15 billion as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017:
approximately RMB7.54 billion), of which the current interest
bearing borrowings amounted to RMB4.40 billion (31 December
2017: RMB3.98 billion), non-current interest bearing borrowings
amounted to RMB2.75 billion (31 December 2017: RMB3.56 billion).
RMB and foreign currency borrowings amounted to RMB4.87 billion
and US$312 million respectively, and EUR20 million (31 December
2017: RMB and foreign currency borrowings amounted to RMB6.29
billion and US$180 million and EUR13 million, respectively).

As at 31 December 2018, the total assets and net amounts of
financial assets of the Group amounted to approximately RMB15.9
billion (31 December 2017: approximately RMB16.72 billion) and
RMB6.55 billion (31 December 2017: approximately RMB7.09
billion).

As at 31 December 2018, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately RMB6.45 billion
(31 December 2017: approximately RMB6.97 billion), the net
borrowings of the Group (interest bank borrowings and other
borrowings, net unsecured cash and cash equivalents items)
amounted to approximately RMB6.38 billion (31 December 2017:
approximately RMB6.74 billion).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE OF
ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, there was no buildings and equipment of
the Company (31 December 2017: RMB?3.9 million) were pledged
as security for the Group’s borrowings.

As at 31 December 2018, biological assets with carrying value of
RMB875.5 million (31 December 2017: RMB1,154.2 million) were
pledged as security for the Group’s borrowings.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2018 and 2017.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND OPERATING
LEASE COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's capital commitments in
relation to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB7.8 million (31 December 2017: RMB41.9 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has operating lease
commitments in relation to the operating leased property, plant
and equipment and leased land of RMB57.8 million (31 December
2017: RMB11.9 million).

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Group continued to closely manage financial risks to
safeguard the interest of the shareholders of the Company. The
Group applied its cash flows generated from operations, bank
loans and proceeds from the issuance of the bonds to satisfy its
operational and investment needs.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has been proactively fulfilling its social responsibility
and adheres to the principle of safety and quality come first,
proactively develops and implements modern scientific breeding
and feeding know-how. The Group puts great effort to strike a
balance between business growth and social responsibility, so
as to convey the Group's care and blessing to all stakeholders.

The Group is committed to improving the quality of its products by
providing consumers with a commitment to provide healthy, safe,
nutritious and high-quality dairy products. Meanwhile, adhering
to the principle of energy conservation and environmental
protection, due to the improvement of raw milk quality and
processing technology, the Group's heat treatment temperature of
pasteurized milk decreased by 5c and heat treatment temperature
of UHT milk decreased by 1%, achieving cost savings.

The Group actively promotes the economic development of
farms in the surrounding areas and increases the income of local
residents. The Group actively implements the precise poverty
alleviation policy, responds to the call of poverty alleviation, and
does a good job of poverty alleviation in industry and society.
Firstly, the contract of silage planting was signed with local farmers
in farm areas to reduce the impact of natural disasters on crop
harvest. At the same time, to solve the local employment problem,
the Group's farms provide multiple jobs throughout the country,
effectively alleviating the pressure of rural surplus labor force and
increasing the income of local farmers. The Group also undertakes
social responsibility and promotes local economic development
through direct donation of materials, donation of money and visits
to nursing homes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBN@WE DN

The Group's social responsibility efforts have widely spread
from dairy breeding, accountable quality, green development to
employee development and social care. The Group has always
adhered to the concept of “"people-oriented”, and taken the
responsibility for promoting sustainable development of the dairy
industry, giving back to the nature and serving the society.

To better illustrate the Group's social responsibilities,
environmental protection and social and corporate governance,
a report on the environmental, social and governance report (the
"ESG Report”) will be separately released in due course.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

OF EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 4,735
employees (31 December 2017: 5,097) in mainland China and Hong
Kong. Total staff costs during the Reporting Year (including staff
compensation capitalized to biological assets) were approximately
RMB435.7 million (2017: RMB478.8 million).

The Group values recruiting, training and retaining quality
personnel. We recruit qualified employees from local universities,
vocational schools and other technical schools, and we provide
these employees with various pre-employment and on-the-job
training. The Group also offers remuneration at competitive rates
with the aim of retaining quality personnel.

PROSPECTS

Currently, domestic consumption in the first and second tier
cities continues to increase, and consumption power in the third
and fourth tier cities and rural areas has gradually released, this
brought a huge consumption potential to high-quality dairy
products. Large-scale upstream enterprises model with intensive
and detailed operation can fulfil the demand for high-quality raw
milk and has become the trend of China’s dairy industry.

Entering 2019, the Group will enter the ninth year of listing. The
Group will continue to adhere to the three lifelines of food safety,
environmental protection safety and epidemic prevention safety to
create technologically advanced farms and produce high-quality
raw milk.

The Group will adhere to improving the milk yield, lowering costs,
enhancing efficiency, promoting synergies and creating brands.
The Group strives to reduce finance cost by lowering financial
gearing, disposal of non-core assets, uplift of asset utilization.
On the other hand, the Group will deepen the synergies with
Mengniu, diversify the categories of raw milk products, especially
the profitable high-end products and so to create an engine of
growth for the Group.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GAO Lina, aged 62, is an executive Director, Chief Executive
Officer and Vice Chairman of the Company. Ms. Gao is one of the
founders of the Group and is currently also a director of Modern
Farming. Ms. Gao has significant experience in cross-border
trading, resource integration and administrative management.
Prior to joining the Group in August 2005, Ms. Gao was the
general manager of Taian Foreign General Trade Corporation
between October 1993 and June 2005. During this period, the
company became the largest import and export enterprises in
Taian City. Ms. Gao was the director general of Taian Municipal
Taian Promotion Bureau between October 2003 and June 2005.
During the two years, large projects such as Mengniu Group,
Guangcai Grand Market and Baolong Group were introduced
to Taian City, with a total investment of over RMB6 billion. Ms.
Gao developed her experience in managing dairy farms since
joining the Group and was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 14 November 2008. Ms. Gao was awarded
“Taian City Excellent Entrepreneur in Reforming and Enterprising
Endeavours” in 2004. Ms. Gao was awarded the “Scientific and
Technological Progress Award (Class 1 of Promotion Category)”
by the Ministry of Education of the China in January 2013, and
Ms. Gao was granted the honour of Top 10 Business Leaders in
China Economy at the 2014 China Economic Summit Forum & The
12th Annual Meeting of China Economic Characters. Ms. Gao was
awarded Best CEO in “Institutional Investors — Survey Report on
All Asian Management Team 2016"” and “2017 China Financial
Market Awards ® Best Corporate Leader of the Year”.

Mr. HAN Chunlin, aged 46, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operation Officer of the Company. Mr. Han is also a director of
Modern Farming and Helingeer Modern Farming Co., Ltd. Mr.
Han has more than 20 years of experience in food and beverage
industry in the China. Prior to joining the Group in September 2008
and his appointment as an executive Director of the Company
on 14 November 2008, Mr. Han worked as the marketing vice
general manager of Nowara Shinnosuke (Fujian) Food Industry
Company from February 2006 to July 2008. From January 1999 to
September 2004, Mr. Han served at the liquid milk department of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu as marketing manager. Prior to that, Mr.
Han was a branch-plant manager at the Milk Powder Department
of Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Company Limited from
July 1994 to January 1999. Mr. Han received a bachelor’s degree
in biology from Inner Mongolia University in China in July 1994.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Minfang, aged 50, was appointed as an non-executive
Director and chairman of the board of Directors of the Company
in March 2017. Mr. Lu is currently the executive director and chief
executive officer of Mengniu and is a member of the strategy and
development committee of Mengniu. Mengniu is the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lu is also the chairman and a
non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (stock
code: 1230.HK) (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of Mengniu. He was the
executive director and chief executive officer of Yashili before his
appointment as chairman of the board of directors of Yashili. Mr.
Lu was the vice president (Greater China) of Danone Early Life
Nutrition Greater China and had been with the Danone Group
and Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During his
tenure at the Danone Group, Mr. Lu demonstrated strong strategic
business and market planning capabilities. With strong leadership,
management skills and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr.
Lu had contributed significantly to the success of the Danone
Group's baby nutrition business in China. Prior to joining the
Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years with Johnson & Johnson
(China) Company Limited and approximately 4 years with General
Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience
in sales and marketing and has been serving in general manager
or executive level roles for over 7 years. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in the management of fast moving consumer products
and dairy companies and has an excellent grasp and in-depth
knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor’s
degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.

Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul, aged 45, is a non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Wolhardt joined the Group in July 2008
and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company
on 30 July 2008, and has since been involved in the corporate
development and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Wolhardt
was the Chairman of the Company from 17 September 2012 to 28
June 2013. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief executive officer of
DCP Advisors, Limited. Mr. Wolhardt is the independent director
in Niu Technologies, a company listed in Nasdag. Mr. Wolhardt
was previously worked with KKR Asia Limited and Morgan Stanley
responsible for private equity business in China. Mr. Wolhardt is
currently the director of Fujian Summer Development Co., Ltd.,
a company listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Wolhardt is
also an independent non-executive director of Mengniu and a
non-executive director of COFCO Meat Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 1610). Mr. Wolhardt was an independent non-executive
director of China Cord Blood Corporation, a company listed on
New York Stock Exchange (Stock code: CO) from April 2012 to May
2015. Mr. Wolhardt is a certified public accountant and certified
management accountant. Mr. Wolhardt received a Bachelor
Degree in Accounting from the University of lllinois (Urbana-
Champaign) in the United States.
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Mr. ZHANG Ping, aged 54, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2016. Mr. Zhang is the chief
financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. Zhang holds several directorships
in certain subsidiaries of Mengniu including the director of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co.,
Ltd., Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. and Aspen Ventures
Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhangis also currently the non-executive director in
Yashili. Mr. Zhang postgraduated from Beijing Information Science
and Technology University with master degree in management
engineering, and has over 24 years of experience in the industry of
fast-moving consumer goods, specializing in the management of
operation, finance and audit as well as risk control. He successively
worked as manager of internal audit and system development,
finance director in Swire Beverages Co., Ltd, general manager of
its bottler manufacturing company and chief executive officer in
Coca-Cola Bottler Manufacturing Holdings Limited.

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, aged 42, is currently the assistant vice president
and the general manager of milk sources business department of
Mengniu. Mr. Zhao joined Mengniu in 2000 as a sales personnel
and has since served successively as regional manager, sales
director, general manager of operation and general manager
of planning and logistics. Mr. Zhao graduated from Beijing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics with a master degree
in information engineering and management. Mr. Zhao has 18
years of experience in the dairy industry and specializes in both
sales management and supply chain management. Mr. Zhao has
in-depth knowledge of PRC dairy market and great foresight in
the PRC dairy industry.

Mr. WEN Yongping, aged 44, was appointed as an non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2017 and resigned on January
2019 as he has been designated with other arrangement for
business development in Mengniu Group. Mr. Wen is the vice
president of Mengniu and the general manager of the chilled
business department of Mengniu. Mr. Wen graduated from
Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and obtained a Master
Degree of Food Engineering. Mr. Wen was previously the general
manager of production direction centre, operations assistant vice
president, milk sources vice president in Mengniu Group, and he
is experienced in production operational management and milk
sources management.
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EERGREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kong Wai Conway, aged 64, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from
Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston Polytechnic) in
London with a bachelor’s degree in business studies in July 1980
and further obtained his post graduate diploma in business at
Curtin University of Technology in Australia in February 1988.
Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in public accounting
and auditing, corporate finance, merger and acquisition and
initial public offerings. From September 1980 to September
2009, Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young and held
key leadership positions in the development of his firm in China.
Mr. Lee is currently an independent non-executive director of
West China Cement Limited (stock code: 2233), Chaowei Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), GOME Electrical Appliances
Holding Limited (stock code: 493), Tibet 5100 Water Resources
Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1115), NVC Lighting Holding Limited
(stock code: 2222), Yashili International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1230), GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451),
WH Group Limited (stock code: 288), China Rundong Auto Group
Limited (stock code: 1365), companies listed on Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Guotai Junan Securities Limited Co., Ltd (stock code:
2611), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Lee was a non-executive director
and the deputy chairman of Merry Garden Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
1237) until 30 September 2015. Mr. Lee was the independent
non-executive director of CITIC Securities Company Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
6030) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030) until May
2016. Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, The Chartered Accountants, Australia and
New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee was
a member of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
of Hunan Province from 2008 to 31 December 2017.
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Mr. LI Shengli, aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Li obtained his doctorate degree in animal
nutrition science from China Agricultural University in July 1996.
Since 2003, Mr. Li has been with China Agricultural University,
working at various times as an assistant professor and professor.
Mr. Li is currently vice-director (Animal Nutrition) of the State
Key Laboratories, director of the Sino-US Dairy Research Center
of China Agricultural University, director of the Sino-Dutch Dairy
Development Center, chief scientist in national dairy products
industry technology system, a specialist to the China School Milk
Programme and a specialist in the Cattle and Poultry Research
Centre of Beijing Sanyuan Breeding Technology Co,. Ltd. Mr. Liis
a specialist to the Working Committee of National Dairy Herd
Improvement Programme (DHI) of the Dairy Association of China
and the chairman of China Institute of Animal Husbandry and
Veterinary Cattle Chapter. In 2007, Mr. Li obtained a patent
on Rubeili (FLfEF), a type of high-energy and high-protein
supplementary feed for dairy cows. Mr. Li was awarded the
second prize and a prize of the Beijing Science and Technology
Award (JE R RIZFETEE) in 2000 and 2007 respectively, and
was recognized by the Beijing Municipal Government as “Top
10 Scientists with Contribution to the Economic Development in
Rural Villages of Beijing” in 2009 and received the first prize for
advancement in science and technology awarded by the Education
Department in 2012 and the first prize for Chinese Agricultural
Science awarded by the Ministry of Agriculture in 2013 and the
second prize of National Scientific and Technological Progress
Award in 2014. Mr. Li was appointed as an independent director
of Modern Farming in October 2006 and resigned in June 2009.
Mr Li has been appointed as an independent director of Xinjiang
Western Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. ($Ts8 A 2B ER D BR A
7l), a company listed on China Venture Exchange (stock code:
300106) since July 2009.

Mr. KANG Yan, aged 43, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Kang graduated from the Renmin
University of China in 1998. Mr. Kang is a qualified practicing
attorney in China and is currently a partner of Fangda Partners.
Mr. Kang joined Beijing Commerce & Finance Law Offices in 2002
and was promoted as a partner in 2008. Mr. Kang has over 10
years of experience in legal corporate advisory on mergers and
acquisitions and initial public offerings.
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EERGREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEN Hongbo, aged 41, is the vice president of the Group.
Mr. Chen joined the Group in September 2008 and has been
responsible for equipment operation since then. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Chen was with Mengniu from May 2002 to
September 2008 during which period Mr. Chen was in charge of
operation several factories of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and worked
as the manager of the Mengniu (Wuhan) Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd.
Mr. Chen worked for Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co.,
Ltd. as an equipment supervisor from July 1996 to May 2002. Mr.
Chen obtained a master degree in light industry technology and
engineering from Hubei University of Technology in September
2010.

Mr. DONG Xianli, aged 54, Mr. Dong is the vice president of
the Group to supervise the function of internal control, risk
management, legal compliance and investment of the Group.
Mr.Dong joined the Group as chief financial officer of the Group
in December 2016 until 1 March 2019 when he was redesignated
as the vice president of the Group. Mr. Dong has extensive
experience in financial management with accountant and
valuation qualifications in the People’s Republic of China. Mr.
Dong graduated from Beijing Forestry University with a bachelor
degree in soil and water conservation in July 1985 and from Inner
Mongolia University of Technology with a master degree in project
management in January 2010. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Dong was the assistant vice president of Mengniu. During his
tenure of service with Mengniu Group for more than 12 years, Mr.
Dong has developed strong expertise in financial management in
milk industry and was primarily responsible for risk management,
internal audit and project investment of Mengniu Group, including
holding various senior managerial positions and directorships in
certain subsidiaries of Mengniu.

Ms. Zhou Xin, aged 43, joined the Company as chief financial
officer of the Group on 1 March 2019. Ms. Zhou has over 20 years
extensive experience in financial management, treasury, taxation
and investor relation earned from sizeable companies including
multi-national company listed in Nasdag. Ms. Zhou obtained
a master degree in International Accounting and Financial
Management from University of Glasgow in 2007. She is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
amember of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Zhou has served as the chief
financial officer in a company listed in Nasdag.
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Mr. ZHAO Zunyang, aged 40, is the assistant to chief executive
officer of the Group and head of the nutrition center. Mr. Zhao
joined the Group in April 2010 and was responsible for the
production management for two years in the Group's ranches.
From April 2013, Mr. Zhao was in charge of the nutrition of the
herd. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhao had work experiences in
the dairy industry at state-owned enterprises, foreign companies
and American ranches. Mr. Zhao obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
animal husbandry from China Agricultural University in July 2000
and a master’s degree in animal nutrition from China Agricultural
University in June 2003. In May 2008, he was awarded a master’s
degree from Virginia Polytechnic Institute University in cow
nutrition professional doctorate.

Mr. Guo Zhigang, aged 38, is the assistant to the President
and head of the technical support center of the Group. Mr. Guo
joined the Group in February 2010 and is responsible for the
management of herd disease treatment in the Group. He has
been responsible for the Group's technical support center since
April 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Guo worked at Wen's
Dairy, Feihe and dairy farms in the US. In 2017, he was awarded
outstanding young cow veterinarian of China Veterinary Medical
Association. Mr. Guo received his bachelor’'s degree in animal
medicine from Southwest Agriculture University in June 2004 and
his master’'s degree in animal medicine from China Agricultural
University in September 2016.

Mr. YANG Wenhai, aged 45, is the assistant to chief executive
officer of the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group in July 2017
and has been responsible for procurement and party work of the
Group since then. Prior to joining the Group, from July 1996 to
June 2017, Mr. Yang worked at COFCO Oil of China National
Cereals, Oils and Foodstuffs Corporation including, the deputy
general manager of the packaging and marketing department
of COFCO Qil, general manager of COFCO Cereals And Oils
Industry (Chaohu) Co., Ltd., general manager and deputy general
manager of the oil marketing department of the Nantong Branch
of Chinese Vegetable Oil Company and the manager of the
operation department of eastern China region for the soybean
and oil department of the Chinese Vegetable Oil Company.
Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in grain and oil storage
from Zhengzhou Grain Institute in July 1996 and a master’s degree
in business administration from Renmin University of China in
July 2002.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERBE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and the management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
committed to upholding a high standard of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholder(s)”) and the Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
("CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Listing Rules”). The Company has, throughout the
year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report,
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation from code provisions A.6.7.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the Shareholders. One non-
executive Directors was not able to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2018 due to other
business engagements.

Three non-executive Directors and two independent non-executive
Directors were unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 2 March 2018 owing to other business
engagements.

THE BOARD

Role of Directors

The Company is headed by the Board which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising the Company's affairs. The Board is
accountable to the Shareholders for managing the Company in
a responsible and effective manner. Every Director is committed
to act in the best interest of the Company and to contribute their
expertise and knowledge to the Company. The Board decides
on overall strategies and monitors the Group's performance on

behalf of the Shareholders.
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The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of
the Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls operating
and financial performance in pursuit of the Group's strategic
objectives. The day-to-day management of the Group's business
is delegated to the chief executive officer and the management
of the Group under the supervision of the executive Directors of
the Company. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees of the Company (the
"Board Committees”). Matters reserved for the Board and
Board Committees are those affecting the Group's overall
strategic policies, financial objectives, dividend policy, changes
in accounting policies, material acquisition and disposal of assets,
investments and other significant matters.

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely Ms. GAO Lina, Mr. HAN
Chunlin, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LU Minfang, Mr.
WOLHARDT Julian Juul, Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. WEN Yongping,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LI
Shengli, Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, and Mr. KANG Yan.

The biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 45
to 51 of this annual report.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties
of care, skill and diligence. Comprehensive directors and officers
liability insurance coverage is in place to provide protection to
the Company, the Directors and senior management.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise,
varied background and experiences. Through active participation
in Board meetings and serving on various Board Committees,
the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors bring in independent judgment and make valuable
contributions to the effective direction and strategic decision
making of the Group.

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific
term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under the articles
of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”).
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EXEAERS

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed
for a specific term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation
under the Articles of Association. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, one
of the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Board has received
from each independent non-executive Director a written annual
confirmation of their independence and is satisfied with their
independence in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all independent non-executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors of
the Company is three and represents at least one-third of the
Board as required under Rule 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway holds more than seven listed
issuer directorships. As advised by Mr. Lee that he is a full time
professional director and has high attendance for all kind of board
meetings, such that the Company believes Mr. LEE can devote
sufficient time to the each of board and board committee he
engaged with listed issuers and in compliance with Appendix 14
A.5.5 to the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. All Directors have access to the
advice and service of the Company Secretary to ensure that board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
The Company Secretary complied with the professional training
requirement with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) todevelop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b)  toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(c)  toreviewand monitorthe training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(e) to review existing employee incentive schemes of the
Company; and

(f)  to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting Year”),
the Board has fulfilled the corporate governance functions by
reviewing the Company’s corporate governance practices.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQO")

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures. He also steers the Board and the Company
towards its corporate goals. The CEO is responsible for the
effective implementation of the overall strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board as well as the daily operation of the Group.
For the Reporting Year, the Chairman of the Board is Mr. LU
Minfang. The CEO of the Company and Vice Chairman of the
Board is Ms. GAO Lina.

With the support of the CEO and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues brought up at Board meetings and that they receive
adequate and reliable information in relation to matters discussed
at Board meetings and also other affairs of the Group on a monthly
basis in order to enable the Directors to assess the Group's
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details.
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BOARD PROCEDURES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has held four
meetings to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operations
and financial performance of the Group. The Directors participated
in person or through electronic means of communication. Details
of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 1 June 2018 ("AGM 2017") are set out as follows:

EEEER
HE2018F12A3BLEFE EFTSHTNH
REH TR BEEBERURARNEEI XK R
FERR - EFAHFAEBETEMNAR
He EELRFESTT EETELTEER
RNABIR2018F6A1 BHETHWBREBFE XK
g((2017ERRBFXRE)BERHNFIBET
R

Number of Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and General meetings attended/held

R/ BrESeed ETZECCERRRAERY
Annual  Extraordinary
General General
Meeting Meeting Audit  Remuneration Nomination
g BE Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director EEi? BEXE BEAE EXe® EpZEe §HZEe REZEe
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. GAQ Lina EEMzt n 0/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
(Vice Chairman and CEQ) (BITEZEH) THEE TEH TER
Mr. HAN Chunlin BEMEE 1/1 0/1 44 N/A N/A N/A
(Chief Operation Officer) (EEHETE) T A TEf i A
Non-executive Directors FYTES
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman) ERRLEE(LE) 11 0/1 474 N/A N/A 11
TER TER
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul WOLHARDT Julian 1 n 4/4 212 N/A N/A
Juul e & TER TER
Mr. ZHANG Ping REEE 0/1 0/1 44 N/A 1 N/A
T ER TER
Mr. WEN Yongping BATEE 7 0 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER
Independent BUFHTES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. LI Shengi ZHEHEE n 0/1 44 N/A 1 N/A
TER A
Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway THELE n 11 4/4 2/2 N/A n
TER
Mr. KANG Yan RELYE 1" 0/1 4/4 22 7n 1"
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The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company'’s senior management for information and
may make inquiries if necessary. Directors of the Company who
considers it necessary to seek independent professional advice in
order to perform his/her duties as a Director of the Company may
convene, or request the Company Secretary to convene, a meeting
of the Board to approve the consultation of independent legal
or other professional advisor for advice at Company’s expenses.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent to all Directors before
the proposed date of a meeting. Additional Board meetings, if
necessary, are arranged and held as and when required. During
the Reporting Year, the Chairman met with the non-executive
Directors and the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other executive Directors to exchange views on
matters concerning the business development, management and
corporate governance of the Group.

Every Director is entitled to access the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are complied
with. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by any Director during normal office hours with
reasonable advance notice.

Appointment, Re-election of Directors and removal

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with article 17.18 of the
Articles of Association. Directors appointed as an addition to the
Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be subject to re-
election by the Shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting or the next following general meeting of the Company
respectively after the appointment. Also, when an independent
non-executive Director proposed for re-election has served the
Company for more than nine years, his or her re-election will be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved at the annual
general meeting.
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THE BOARD'’S DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted diversity policy, which sets out the
approach to diversity of Board members. In determining the
Board’s composition, the Company considers a range of diversity
elements, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and education background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based
on merit and objective criteria while taking into full account of
the interest of Board's diversity.

As at date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors
with both gender, three of which are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of
the management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
nationality, professional background and skills.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL

DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The
Company shall be responsible for arranging suitable training for
all Directors at the Company’s expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. For newly appointed Director
a induction package will be given to ensure that he has a proper
understanding of the operations, business and governance
policies of the Group.
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A summary of training received by the Directors during the year
ended to 31 December 2018 according to the records provided
by the Directors is as follows:

TRERRSE

BEEEMRENLE  EEREE20184F
NANBLEFEMESHEIB LT

Type of trainings

Directors X 3= 3 5 Al
Executive Directors HITESE
Ms. GAO Lina =SB L A B
Mr. HAN Chunlin BEMEE A B
Non-executive Directors kHITES
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman) BB E E(EE) A B, C
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul WOLHARDT Julian Juul %t 4 A B, C
Mr. ZHANG Ping ok F A A, B
Mr. WEN Yongping o T v A, B
Independent Non-executive BYKBITES

Directors
Mr. LI Shengli R RS A& A B
Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway THEEEE A/ B C
Mr. KANG Yan RELL A B

A:  Reading materials, journals and updates relating to the
business and industry development

B:  Reading materials relevant to the latest development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement

C: Attending or delivering seminars and/or conferences and/
or forums

BOARD COMMITTEES

In order to oversee particular aspects of the Group, the Board
had established a Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee
a Nomination Committee and a Strategy and Development
Committee with the defined terms of reference in line with the
CG Code. The terms of reference are published on the respective
websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon request.
Details of these Board committees including their composition,
major responsibilities and functions and work performed are as
follows:

A HEEBEBLRTEZRMNEYD 1Y
K& E R

B: MEAMLTRAMAMEREER

EWEY

C: HEXREIFMIERXEHERXH

g
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Remuneration Committee

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. LI Shengli
and other members are Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. KANG Yan.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent
non-executive Director and the majority being independent non-
executive Directors of the Company.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration for all the Directors and senior
management of the Group, and make recommendations of the
remuneration packages for all the executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and the senior management to the Board.

The Company’'s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees including executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is based on the skills,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s
and the Group's affairs. The remuneration packages are also
determined by reference to the Company's performance and
profitability, remuneration level in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions. The emolument policy for independent non-
executive Directors, mainly comprising Directors’ fees, is subject
to annual assessment with reference to the market standard.
Individual Directors and senior management would not be involved
in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
has been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration for the
executive Directors and senior management of the Group,
reviewed the remuneration policy and made recommendation to
the Board for the remuneration for the non-executive Directors
for its approval. Remuneration Committee has also reviewed the
existing employee incentive schemes of the Group.
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management = & B E KX 8 # £20185F12A31H Ik ¥
by band for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below: FEZ M e &HE 0T -
Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) persons
MEgEEGE T BB A"
0-1,000,000 0
1,000,001-2,000,000 3
2,000,001-3,000,000 2
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 12 and 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LEE Kong
Wai, Conway and Mr. KANG Yan and one non-executive Director,
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway and
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul posses the relevant professional
qualifications required under the Listing rules. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to
oversee the Group's financial reporting system, risk management
system and internal control procedures, and to review and
monitor the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the
applicable standard. The Audit Committee has been provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
December 2018. Major work completed by the Audit Committee
during the year includes:

o reviewed the Group’s annual report, interim financial
information and annual consolidated financial statements;

o reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

o reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

J reviewed the external auditor’'s management letter and the
management’s response;

o reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of
financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

o reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function;
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o reviewed continuing connected transactions entered into
by the Group or subsisting during the Reporting Year; and

° reviewed usage of annual caps on certain continuing
connected transactions of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprised one non-executive
Director Mr. LU Minfang and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. KANG
Yan. The Chairman of Nomination Committee is Mr. LU Minfang.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman
and the chief executive. The Nomination Committee has been
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed and recommended the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board. It
reviewed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors. It also made recommendations to the Board on retiring
Directors for re-election at the AGM 2017.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for directorship
(the “Nomination Policy”) which supplemental to the Terms
of Reference of the Nomination Committee of the Board (the
“Nomination Committee”). It aims at setting out the processes
and criteria for the nomination of a candidate for directorship in
the Company and ensure that all nominations of Board members
are fair and transparent in order to facilitate the constitution
of the Board with a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the
Company's business.
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The Company has adopted the following Nomination Policy during

the Reporting Year:

1. Objective

1.1.

1.2.

This policy was approved and adopted by the
board of directors (the "Board”) of the Company by
resolution passed on 17 December 2018 upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

This policy sets out the selection criteria and procedures
to be adopted when considering candidates to
be nominated to the Board for it to consider or
recommended to the shareholders of the Company for
election, whether new appointment or re-appointment,
as directors of the Company at general meetings or as
directors to fill casual vacancies to ensure the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet various needs of the Company.
It is the Board which has the ultimate responsibility for
selecting and appointing the directors.

2. Selection criteria

2.1.

When considering a candidate nominated for
directorship or a director’s proposed re-appointment,
the Nomination Committee will take into account the
following factors as a reference:

o whether the qualification, skills, experience,
industry knowledge of the candidate meet the
business needs or are in line with the long term
development of the Company;

o effect on the board’s composition and diversity
in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and the compliance with the diversity
policy of the Company;

] commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient
time to effectively discharge his/her duties. In
this regard, the number and nature of offices
held by the candidate in public companies or
organizations, and other executive appointments
or significant commitments will be considered;

ZS

2.

j

N

I=:0)

1.1.

1.2.

TRERRSE

MAERFEDRMATRABE

ABRREREIREZE S EZ -
BB R2018F 12 517 H 8 iB #) #
EFEMmMALNIEFS([EFS])
HEE R R o

FEREINEZENEEFEIRS
UBEZE AL G RREH
HIE BN RIE AR R BEE
EHMESF TiwmeERRAXE L
HMEXTXEHZERARNAEF
KIEREFHEMBIGRFZEB UME
REFESHEFEE KRMZEMK
T EREFFE HE AR E] A
BREL EFEHEENZMATE
FRARKEML-

miE g

2.1.

ERIEAETEFHNIREANLE
FEAENZAEHR EEZEE
HEBEXTAEERE :

e REANER KB B
TEAMBEETERFEFE
AEENEARAIRHRE

e EHHEFESHHEAKXNMIES
H(B#H#EETRREL  Fi
(18558 X £)  XER#HE
ER B FEXER KR
BE ~ A R IR % F H)Z T iE
B ZEARE TR AR Z
TTAIEB R

e BEEANRFRAZEHEE
AETEBE B ME &
ZRIREANFE DR L A
BEMLABEHERIEE K
REMITHEFLEA AN

Annual Report 2018
—E-N\EER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEAERS

2.2.

2.3.

o any potential/actual conflicts of interest that may
arise if the candidate is selected;

] for the appointment or re-appointment of
independent non-executive directors, the
independence of the candidate and his/her
immediate family from the Company; and

. in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an
independent non-executive director, the number
of years he/she has already served.

The above factors are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person,
as it considers appropriate on a case by case basis.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form,
together with their written consent to be appointed as
a director of the Company and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any document or the relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a director of the Company.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

3. Nomination procedures

3.1.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s Articles of
Association, if the Board recognises the need to appoint
an additional director, the following procedures should
be adopted:

o the chairman of the Nomination Committee shall
call a meeting of the Nomination Committee,
and invite nominations of candidates from
Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting.
The Nomination Committee may also identify
or select candidates to be recommended to the
Board, with or without assistance from external
agencies or the Company;
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. the Nomination Committee may use any process
it deems appropriate to assess the suitability of
and the potential contribution to the Board by
the candidates based on (but not limited to)
the criteria set out in section 2.1 herein, which
may include personal interviews, background
checks, presentations or written submissions by
the candidates and third party references;

o the Nomination Committee will hold a physical
meeting to consider the matter and avoid the
making of decisions by written resolutions unless
it is impractical that a physical meeting be held;

e the Nomination Committee shall provide to the
Board for its consideration with all the information
required, including information set out in Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the
candidates;

o the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board, including the
terms and conditions of the appointment.

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. The Board shall have the final decision on
all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates
to stand for election at any general meeting.

All appointments of director should be confirmed by
letter of appointment setting out the key terms and
conditions of the appointment of the directors, which
should be approved by the Nomination Committee.

In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting, and to invite nominations from
shareholders, a circular accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting will be sent to shareholders
of the Company. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications
and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the
circular to shareholders of the Company.

3.2.
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4.  Re-appointments of existing directors
In cases of re-appointments of existing directors, a physical
meeting will be held to consider the re-appointment based
on (but not limited to) the criteria set out in paragraph 2.1
above.

5. Nomination by shareholders
The shareholders of the Company may also propose a person
for election as a director, details of which are set out in
the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as Director” of the Company.

6.  General
6.1. This policy and the progress towards achieving the
objectives set out in this policy will be disclosed in the
corporate governance report of the Company.
6.2. This policy shall be reviewed annually by the Nomination
Committee at its annual meeting. This policy shall be
updated and revised as and when necessary in light
of changes in circumstances (e.g. change in business
needs of the Company) and reflect any change in
regulatory requirements, including those under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Any amendment to
this policy shall be approved and resolved by the Board
in writing.
6.3. In case of discrepancy in respect of the language of
this Policy, the English version shall prevail.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee comprises one
executive Director, Ms. GAO Lina, two non-executive Director,
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul and Mr. WEN Yongping who resigned
on 15 January 2019, and Mr. Zhao Jiejun who was appointed on 15
January 2019 and one independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
LI Shengli. The Strategy and Development Committee is chaired
by Ms. GAO Lina.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group's external auditors are Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit services (including any
potential conflict of interest) performed by the external auditors.
The amount of fees charged by the auditor generally depends on
the scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year ended 31
December 2018, the remuneration to the auditor of the Company
were approximately RMB2.8 million (2017: RMB2.7 million) for
audit services and RMBO0.17 million (2017: RMBO0.15 million) for
non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are
responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies
are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018, the requirements of the International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations
(collectively "IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the applicable laws were complied with.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group's ability to continue as going concern. The Board
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditors of the Company
are disclosed in "Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 101 to
108 of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the management
of the Company have provided all members with monthly updates
giving a fair and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules during
the Reporting Year.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Year, there is no significant change in the
Company's constitutional documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The scope of the review is determined and recommended by
the Audit Committee. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Such review also considers the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company in relation to its accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget. Risk
management and internal control review reports are circulated
to the Audit Committee members and the Board in accordance
with the approved scope.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has complied with Code
Provision C.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The major
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
set out as below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

J Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

J Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

The Board together with senior management monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. Based on the risk assessments conducted for
the year under review, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system. The
framework of the system enables the Group to achieve objectives
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as
follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

With aim to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.
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o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the Reporting
Year, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the risk management system
and internal control system maintained by the Group is sufficient
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized
use or disposition, and that transactions are properly authorized
and proper accounting records are properly maintained.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management of the Group. It provides an
independent and objective assurance to safeguard the Group's
operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined approach
to evaluate and improve the Group's process on risk management,
internal control and governance. The risk based audit plans ensure
that high risk areas of the Group’s operations and resources are
specifically attended to Ad hoc reviews are conducted on areas
of concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill
the requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control systems in general. During the Reporting Year, the
internal audit department has conduct audit at different farms of
the Group and reported to the senior management.

The senior management has reviewed the risk management and
internal control system of the Group for the Reporting Year and
considered them to be effective and adequate.

The Group will continue to enhance the system to cope with the
changes in the business environment.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Effective communication

The Company discloses relevant information to Shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and consolidated
financial statements, the interim report, as well as the annual
general meeting. The section under “CEQ’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report
facilitate the Shareholders’ understanding of the Company’s
activities. The annual general meeting allows the Directors to
meet and communicate with the Shareholders. The Company’s
consolidated financial statements and each of the required
disclosure of information are dispatched within the prescribed
period imposed by laws and regulations.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the
Group meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and
participates frequently in other conferences and presentations.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate
website is maintained to disseminate Company announcements
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
electronically on a timely basis.

SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS

Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings may require an extraordinary general meeting by
a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
either via personal delivery or mail (Attn: Board of Directors/
Company Secretary, at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong) or via email (info@
moderndairyir.com). The Board shall proceed duly within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition to convene a general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
Secretary forwards communications relating to matters within
the Board’s purview to the Board.
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Procedures for making proposals at shareholder’s meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to
be discussed at general meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board pursuant to the following address via personal delivery,
mail or courier to: Attention: Shareholder Communication, Board
of Directors, Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals
are appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for
approval at next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate.

Voting by way of poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the
Shareholders at the AGM must be taken by poll. The chairman
of the meeting will therefore demand a poll for every resolution
put to the vote of the AGM pursuant to article 14.6 of the Articles
of Association. The relevant details of the proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each Director standing for re-election, will
be included in the circular to Shareholders dispatched together
with the annual report. The Company will announce the results
of the poll in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed they have complied with the required
standard set out in the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during the
Reporting Year.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. When the Company announces
its interim and annual results, management will normally meet
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial
media, provide briefings on the business progress and recent
developments of the Company. The Company has regularly
participated in investor summits and conferences to enhance
communication with the investment community. Investors are
welcomed to send their enquiries to our investor relation at
info@moderndairyir.com or browse the Company’s website
(http://www.moderndairyir.com) for latest update information of
the Group.

On behalf of the Board
GAO Lina
Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019

TRERRSE

REEBRE
AAARDEERRRERE E B R
BER-EARARGHRIHARFEE
i 8

FCEEBEE—ReEKBREE &
ﬁ*ﬁﬁm&%ﬁﬂﬁaﬁgﬁi RHEBEEAE
AEBERBIHERNEBENA-
ARAREEHE2MEEEEGE R & -
AR EHLROIM AR A KL
#% & & B Hinfo@moderndairyir.com # fd
B KREEBERKXEERALQA BN
(http://www.moderndairyir.com) T £ 7 £ B &9
RMEMEHR -

N

D)?is'i'

REXE=S
BEF

= B

EH 20193 A25H

Annual Report 2018
B \FER



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERESE

The Board presents its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
"Group") for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting
Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are (i) production and sale
of raw milk to customers for processing into dairy products; and
(i) production and sale of liquid milk products. The Company
has handover the operations of its production and sale of liquid
milk business to China Mengniu Dairy Company Ltd (“Mengniu”,
together with its subsidiaries, “Mengniu Group"”) after the
completion of disposal of 50% equity interest each in Modern
Dairy (Bengbu) Co. Ltd and Modern Dairy (Feidong) Co., Ltd in
March 2018.

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements and the notes on pages
109 to 274.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during
the Reporting Year, except that the trustee of the share award
scheme of the Company adopted on 26 March 2018, pursuant to
the rules of this scheme, purchased on the open market a total of
20,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company as restricted shares
at a consideration of approximately HK$28,835,000 (equivalent
to RMB23,583,000).
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 109. The movements in reserves are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 113.

No interim dividend was paid during the Reporting Year (2017:
nil), and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend (2017: nil) in respect of the Reporting Year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Reporting Year amounted to approximately RMB0.23 million (2017:
RMB1.73 million).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business, a discussion on the Group's
future business development and possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing, and an analysis of the Group's
performance using financial key performance indicators for
Reporting Year are provided in the CEOQ's Statement on pages 8
to 11 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 to
44 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a
high standard of corporate social responsibility is essential
for building up a good corporate and social relationship and
motivating staff and creating a sustainable return to the Group.
We are committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and community in which we conduct business and
where our stakeholders live.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As a responsible business participant, the Group strictly
endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopted effective environmental
technologies to ensure our products meet the required standards
and ethics in respect of environment protection.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options, restricted share
award and cash-based incentive award are provided to retain
loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff and
management team that can bring the Group to different levels
of success.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS

The Company adopts an open, fair and impartial procurement
policies, and takes the lead in formulating industry standards
as a win-win approach for a healthy development of the dairy
industry. The quality and safety of feed are always our primary
consideration. We have established long-term cooperation
relationship with a number of suppliers, and strived to ensure that
they are in compliance with our undertaking on quality and ethics.
We require the suppliers to observe our undertaking on integrity.
We have stringent requirements in supplier selection and that
they must satisfy the qualification requirements in quality, safety,
nutrients, historical record and overall performance etc. and pass
our constant examination and evaluation before becoming our
qualified suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS

To provide high quality products and services to customers are
always our mission. Customers’ need and demand are always
our top consideration. With the increase of income and the
popularization of health concepts, the demand of dairy products
is increasingly augmented with a growing tendency for diversified
products. We keeps improving our customer service system and
makes regular investigation on the satisfaction of consumers to
proactively understand their demand. Besides, we have opened
hotline to receive complaints and suggestions from consumers
and communicate with them.

In addition, we, together with Mengniu Group expands the
sales network and increases sale forms, setting up outlets in
large supermarkets, By doing so, we hope to gradually develop
customers, deliver our fresh milk products in time, and meet
consumers’ demand.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group's main operations are carried out by the Company's
subsidiaries in the mainland China while the Company itself is
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group's operations
are regulated by Hong Kong and mainland China laws. During
the Reporting Year and up to the date of this report, the Board
was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.
Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles of
Association”), every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all loss or liabilities
(to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of each Director is determined with reference
to the duties, responsibilities, performance of the Directors, the
results of the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the corporate governance practice of the Company are
set out on pages 52 to 73 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s authorised or issued share
capital during the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 113 and note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately RMB5,923.1 million
as at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB6,019.5 million).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 275 to
276.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2018 are set out in notes 29, 30, 31 and 32 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The turnover attributable to the Group’s primary customers.
Mengniu Group, accounted for approximately 90.02% (2017:
74.09%) of the Group's total turnover for the Reporting Year. The
Group's five largest customers contributed in aggregate 96.63%
(2017: 88.35%) of the Group's total turnover for the year ended
31 December 2018.

During the Reporting Year, the five largest suppliers of the Group
in aggregate represented 12.73% (2017: 12.37%) of the Group's
total purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 3.65% (2017: 3.40%) of the Group's total purchases.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the interest in Mengniu of Mr. LU
Minfang, Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. WEN Yongping as disclosed
in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
below of this report, none of the Directors or any of their associates
or any shareholder (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's top five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy on 17 December
2018 (the "Dividend Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the
declaration and payment of dividends shall be determined at the
sole discretion of the Board.

The Company'’s ability to distribute dividends will depend on,
among others, the profits, operating results, cash flow, financial
condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements and other
factors of the Company which the Directors consider relevant, and
the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The remaining
profit will be used for the development and operation of the
Group.

The Company’s distribution of dividends shall also comply with
any restrictions under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association of the Company, as well as subject to the approval
of shareholders of the Company.

For details of the Dividend Policy, please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 19 December 2018.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. GAQO Lina (Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HAN Chunlin (Chief Operation Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul
Mr. ZHANG Ping
Mr. WEN Yongping
(resigned on 15 January 2019)
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun
(appointed on 15 January 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LI Shengli

Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. KANG Yan
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In accordance with Article 17.18 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, Mr. HAN Chunlin, Mr. LI Shengli and Mr. LEE
Kong Wai, Conway will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM") as at the date of this report.

By virtue of Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office
only until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Mr. Zhao Jiejun has
been appointed by the Board as a non-executive Director on 15
January 2019. As such, Mr. Zhao Jiejun shall be eligible to offer
himself for re-election at the AGM.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on
pages 45 to 51.

Directors’ Services Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Related Parties Transaction

None of the “"Related Parties Transactions” as disclosed in note 46
to the consolidated financial statements for the year under review
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction
or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS - LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
underlying shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares interest
& 4 i R
EEn EaMtE REERGOGEHE BHABES
Ms. GAO Lina® Interest in controlled corporation 221,581,733 3.61%

SEMZ Lo ZYEGEE RS
Beneficial owner 38,077,916@ 0.62%

EmfFFE A

Mr. HAN Chunlin Beneficial owner 23,628,916 0.39%

HEEMEE EHmAA

(1) Ms. Gao holds approximately 49.12% of the interests in Jinmu
Holdings Co Ltd. (“Jinmu”). Ms. Gao is deemed to be interested
in the 221,581,733 shares in the Company held by Jinmu under the
SFO.

(2)  This represent legal and beneficial interest of 4,800,000 shares in
the Company, 4,001,000 award shares granted on 24 April 2017
but not yet vested under the share award scheme of the Company,
and 29,276,916 share options in underlying shares of the pre-IPO
management options (the “Management Options”) granted by the
Company.

(3)  These represent 1,975,000 award shares granted on 24 April 2017 but
not yet vested under the share award scheme of the Company, and
21,653,916 share options in underlying shares of the Management
Options granted by the Company.

M =SktH "ﬁ_Jinmu Holdings Co Ltd.([Jinmu])
B4912% iz - BIEBH R BEEG - mﬁ
T R A R Jinmu BT $5 221,581,733 8 &~ 2 &
R P HEE R -
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Interest in Associated Corporation
Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation are

set out below:

REBZIENER
REBEZERODNFRENAT

Number of Approximate

shares in percentage of

associated shareholdings

Name of Director Name of associated corporation corporation interest

R L B g 4

ExpA HEZE AR R4 B B BOB D

Mr. LU Minfang China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 1,777,574 0.05%
E#mEE PEEXFTIAXER QA

Mr. ZHANG Ping China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 486,223 0.01%
R EAE TERFIAXEAERAA

Mr. WEN Yongping China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 513,965 0.01%

B F

Note: Mr. LU Minfang, Mr ZHANG Ping and Mr. WEN Yongping are non-
executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Lu Minfang is an executive
director and chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr. ZHANG Ping
is a chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. WEN Yongping is the
vice president of Mengniu and the general manager of the chilled
business department of Mengniu. As at the date of this report,
Mengniu holds 60.76% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. WEN Yongping resigned as non-executive Director of the
Company on 15 January 2019.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to

the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 31 December
2018 in relation to the disposal of the Company's idle equipment to
Mengniu (the “Disposal”), Mr. LU Minfang is an executive director
and the chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr. WOLHARDT Julian
Juul is an independent non-executive director of Mengniu. Mr.
ZHANG Ping is the chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. WEN
Yongping is the vice president of Mengniu and the general
manager of the chilled product business department of Mengniu.
Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. WEN Yongping hold
interest in Mengniu as at 31 December 2018 as disclosed in section
headed "Directors’ Interests — Long and Short Position in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debenture” above. Accordingly, each of
Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul, Mr. ZHANG Ping
and Mr. WEN Yongping was considered to have a material interest
in the Disposal.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance, to which the Company, its fellow
subsidiaries, its subsidiaries or its holding company was a party,
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or any time during
the Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Director named in the paragraphs below have interests in
businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
during the reporting year.

As mentioned above, each of Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. WOLHARDT
Julian Juul, ZHANG Ping and Mr. WEN Yongping, held offices
in Mengniu during the Reporting Year. Mengniu is a substantial
shareholder of the Company and is engaged in the dairy industry.

The above-mentioned competing business is managed by separate
entities with independent management and administration. The
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying
on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the
businesses of these entities. When making decisions, the relevant
Director, in performance of his duty as Director, have acted and
will continue to act in the best interests of the Group.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in any company or business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
and the Group were entered into or existed during the reporting
year.

PRE-IPO MANAGEMENT OPTIONS

The Company, on 31 October 2010, before initial public offer
of the Company, granted management options (“Management
Options”) to Ms. GAO Lina and Mr. HAN Chunlin. The following
Management Options were outstanding as at 31 December 2018:

BREXHBEEEIN RAERFAMBEES
AEEFESANBEALEERNEBXBKENX
AAREBABRFNEARAAXEETEAR
T -

EESH

| == Y
RBEFRN ARBARAEEBLETZIFAD
FEENEAEERRIAEAMEREELSE
BRITIBRZEL-

BEXRAHRENEEERERE

AN T R2010FE10831BEI AR A E XA
HEEnme Bzt rREEREER T
EEEERE(EEEBRED -UTAR
2018 12 A31H MW ARITER B IE /B AR & -

Number of underlying shares of the Company which may be

issued pursuant to the Management Options

REEEERRETERTNACIARBRAHA

Name of grantee Date of grant As at Granted Exercised Cancelled As at

1 January during during during 31 December

2018 the period the period the period 2018

RRARE RHAM R2018% BARH BRiTE R H R2018 %

1R18 12A31R

Ms. GAO Lina 31 October 2010 29,216,916 - - - 29,276,916
RESLL 20105104317

Mr. HAN Chunlin 31 October 2010 21,653 916 - - - 21,653,916
BEMAE 20106103318

50,930,832 - - - 50,930,832

These options are exercisable at the exercise price HK$0.86 per
share during the period commencing from the listing date of
the Company (26 November 2010) until 10 years from the date
of grant.

The number of shares in the Company to be issued upon the
exercise of the outstanding options is 50,930,832 shares,
representing 0.83% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2018.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 November 2011
(“Share Option Scheme |")

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 17 November 2011.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 June 2014 (“Share
Option Scheme 11”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 5 June 2014.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 30 September 2016
("Share Option Scheme III")

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 30 September 2016.

As at the date of this report, there was no outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme |, Share Option Scheme
Il and Share Option Scheme IlI, except the pre-IPO Management
Option. Other details of the share options schemes are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related accounting policy for the fair values of the share options
are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme which
was adopted by the Company on 9 September 2016 (the “Share
Award Scheme |"”), and on 26 March 2018 the Company adopted
a new share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme I1”) which
shall remain effective for ten years. The goal of the share award
schemes are to motivate the employees to maximize the value
of and share the results with the Company in order to achieve
sustainable development of the Group.

Under the Share Award Scheme |, a total of 35,969,000 ordinary
shares of the Company were purchased from open market by the
trustee of the scheme and were all granted as restricted shares
to selected participants of under the scheme (the “Awarded
Shares”) in April 2017.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEREE

BRE

R201FE1MB17B HE A E R st 8
(MR EI1D)
RNRQNBR20MENNAI7B EEF 0 EH —
EHEREE -

R2014F6ASAERMB B R EFT B[
RS EIN)

N Bl R2014F 6 A5 H £ 1§ 1 5F 8
B& #E 5T &l -

— IR

MR2016FE9 30 XM BRETE([EB
B RE s &)

KRNBNR2016F9A308 EIF RN —THE
R E -

RABEEH BRERAHABEENEEER
Petgsh Bt E - BRESIRER
REGHEIINTR T I & R 1T 60 B0 B BHE - BB AR
BASANEMFRENGAPBHRERRME
36 °

BREATFEZHBES
BwERMES -

i 40 52 B =t 2

AR E B 201689 A9 R 1R & 1R H
MR A BN (TR B R M 8N RAR
AM2018F3A26B KM S — H R LB
HORGRB ) RO ERT YIS
BtFEAR-BROERMABEERMERS
ARAAESABERRARARES =
RRASHEEERAFAER -

ARHEREREA R

$E%F%1’ﬁ’ﬁﬁb:+¥u » KR A A $£35,969,000
BEBRBFEZTARD F'aﬁmiﬁﬁ%;-\”/
MN2017F 48 & B?“%;HrEIJIETEﬂ% 2
EEARHMERGOG(TEBRS]) -

Annual Report 2018
B \FER



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The Awarded Shares granted are subject to the terms and
condition of the scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting conditions
to the vesting of the Awarded Shares imposed on such selected
participant as specified in the rules of the scheme and the grant

notice.

Out of the Awarded Shares, 13,274,000 of which were granted to
certain members of management of the Company, which would
vest in two tranches each on the second, and third anniversaries
of the grant date provided that certain performance and service
conditions are met. The remaining Awarded Shares of 22,695,000
were granted to the eligible employees.

Amongst the Awarded Shares granted, 8,121,000 of which were
forfeited due to resignation of selected participants, while the
remaining Awarded Shares are not yet vested at the date of this
report.

As the total contributed amount of the Share Award Scheme | has
reached its limit, the Company on 26 March 2018, adopted Share
Award Scheme II. For the avoidance of doubt, any restricted share
granted prior to 26 March 2018, shall for all purposes continue to
be administered and take effect in accordance with the rules of
Share Award Scheme | as adopted on 9 September 2016.

During the Reporting Year 20,000,000 shares of the Company were
purchased by the trustee as restricted shares under Share Award
Scheme II, but none of which was granted to scheme participants.

As at 31 December 2018, the total number of restricted shares
purchased under the above two schemes was 55,969,000,
representing approximately 0.91% of the issued share capital of
the Company.

For details of the Share Award Scheme I, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 27 March 2018. Further details
of the share award schemes are also set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed "“Pre-IPO
Management Options” and “Share Award
Schemes” above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company to have

, “Share Options”

any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any or
its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other corporate.

DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE
SFO

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of
substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executives of the Company and their respective associates, in
the shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register required to be maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of substantial

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEREE

EERERODIEZT ZER

BREXEXRCRBENEEEBERE] (B
Pt ] R (B fn B2 B ET &1 ) & &0 P B0 B8 & 5
ARAFEEFMMERRNAKNERFEE
MEREEELEETARYE REEXEAQA
TETHRAERARRABALAKEEMM
BEB(EERESRAEGRIZES X
BRAURBARAREMEMERZ KM X
BHmEas -

RERFZRHE
BREESERKXA

S IRBINIRRAT

MR2018F12A31H TEZRF(BEEH AR
AITETHRAEBRBEE S EMEBE AR
RARBREEBR ZIE(EEREFRPE
BHIEXVE) MR D - BERHND RESF T #
ERBEEHSRBEKOFEIBKEAEZLRE
HftmERE AR T

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued Share

shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital
HERAT S BT
FTERRER B REuME ik 8 B RAEEDE
China Mengniu Dairy Beneficial interest 1,317,903,000(L)™ 21.49%
Company Limited EamEn
FESRFIAEBRRAA
Interest in controlled corporation 2,407,866,412(L)@ 39.27%
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Name of substantial
shareholders
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Capacity/Nature of interest

B0/ EEME

Number of Shares

4 B B

Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued Share
Capital
ERRABEBT
RABDH

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.

FRESKREARETL LA

Bank of China Limited
FERITRMDBER A A

BOC International Holdings
Limited
hEREER R AR QA

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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Interest in “other” capacity under
Part XV of the SFO

RIEE 75 KB E &P £ XVED
RIEM] FHHEN#ER

Interest in controlled corporation
(through BOCI Financial
Products Limited)

XEGEZE#R(BEPRER
TRMERBRAAF)

Interest in controlled corporation
(through Nam Tung
(Macao) Investment Limited)
XA B (F B R P
MBEARERRLQA)

Interest in “other” capacity under
Part XV of the SFO

RIEE 75 KB E &P XVED
RIEM] FHHEN#ER

Interest in controlled corporation
(through BOCI Financial
Products Limited)

XEFEZE#R(BEPRER
ETRMERBRAAF)

Interest in controlled corporation
(through Nam Tung (Macao)
Investment Limited)

PR B R R GF R OR P
MAETEREER QA

Interest in “other” capacity under
Part XV of the SFO

RIZEF N E &I EXVED
ATEAL] & A8 #E s

363,903,000(L)
689,438,782(S)

325,535,782(L)

1,500,000

363,903,000(L)
689,438,782(S)

325,535,782(L)

1,500,000(L)

363,903,000(L)
689,438,782(S)

5.94%
11.24%

5.31%

0.02%

5.94%
11.24%

5.31%

0.02%

5.94%
11.24%



Name of substantial
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Percentage of
the Company's
issued Share

shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital
L NN -
TERREE 5H MitE BHEE BEAES
Interest in controlled corporation 325,535,782(L) 5.31%
(through BOCI Financial
Products Limited)
XEGEEEE (BB RER
EHMEMBRAA)
BOCI Financial Products Limited Beneficial interest 325,535,782(L) 5.31%
FREFReHERBRAR ExER
Interest in “other” capacity under 363,903,000(L) 5.94%
Part XV of the SFO 689,438,782(S) 11.24%

RIERE 75 M & R B XV ED
NTEM] & DA ER

(1) Among which up to 689,438,782 shares of the Company have been (1
lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited pursuant to a securities
lending agreement dated 18 May 2017 entered into between
Mengniu as lender and BOCI Financial Products Limited as borrower.

(2)  The interests refer to the same parcel of underlying shares in the ~ (2)
Company. Future Discovery Limited is the subsidiary of Mengniu.

(3) (S) Indicates a short position.

(4) (L) Indicates a long position.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company or as recorded in the register required to be maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2018.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Disposal of 50% Equity Interest in Subsidiaries

On 22 January 2018, Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. GRAX#HZE
((2E)BPBR 2 F)) (“Modern Farming”), a subsidiary of the Company,
as seller and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company
Limited (REHSFILEEE)RHBBRAF) (“Inner Mongolia”)
as buyer entered into a share transfer agreement, pursuant to
which Modern Farming agreed to sell and Inner Mongolia agreed
to acquire the 50% of the entire issued share capital of Modern
Dairy (Bengbu) Co., Ltd. GRAHZE(HH18)E R A F]) ("Bengbu”) and
50% of the entire issued share capital of Modern Dairy (Feidong)
Co., Ltd. CRRBE(FER)BR A F)) ("Feidong”). Inner Monglia is
a subsidiary Mengniu which is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Inner Mongolia is an associate of Mengniu
and a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The consideration of the disposal is RMB56.04 million in aggregate.
Upon completion of the disposal, the Company retains 50% equity
interest in each of Bengbu and Feidong.

The disposal provides a good opportunity for the Group to reduce
reliance on the Mengniu Group and it is in the best interest
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole to focus on
operating dairy farms in China and the business of providing raw
milk. In addition, the mutual and complementary partnership with
Mengniu could create value for its shareholders by leveraging on
Mengniu’s core strengths and taking advantage of the privileged
dairy policies launched by the PRC government. The disposal was
completed in March 2018.

Details of the disposal are set out in the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 22 January 2018 and 13 February
2018, respectively.

Disposal of Idle Assets

On 31 December 2018, Modern Farm (Saibei) Co., Ltd. (R4
*(E4t)BR A F) ("Modern Farm (Saibei)”), a subsidiary of the
Company, as seller and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou
Co., Lid. (AXa R4 ILEBEAFRE LA F]) ("Mengniu (Baotou)”)
as purchaser entered into a sales and purchase agreement in
relation the disposal of the Tetra Pak milk filling machine (room
temperature line) (FIZEEFIMERKEIRL) owned by Modern
Farm (Saibei) and its spare parts with total consideration of
RMB6,267,900. Mengniu (Baotou) is a subsidiary of Mengniu which
is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Mengniu
(Baotou) is an associate of Mengniu and a connected person of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERASEERBRAE

BEXS

HEM B 2 750% % #

R2018F 1 A28 AR AW B QA RAK
WEEBRBERAA(RRAKE(ER)]  1E
BERFEARHEFIEZEEB)RMHDAR
ARAITABRETRSF ] EREA)FT LR E
EHE OB BRAHEEBRRELER
ANELEFRBEURBERBIEER)ERA
BI([HEE]) 2 P E FH1TIRAMHS0% KR KK
X¥PER)ARA2RIERDEZIMEEBITRA
B50% c AEE ST ABEARAETERRERRY
MFAFe A BRIFELEMHRAEUAEZE R
SHETASFNBBARARAINEE
AL e

HEFENRERGHAARKESMUBET -
HEFHETKE ARANFERNERE#
5 50% A #E

TESEEAASBRERE AIRILHEESF
SEMNEGR EXERPELENSRRERER
BMEBFTEEARDEBRENEREREF
wmollkih BMERFIHZLEDZRF HBT
HENBMNIERE B4 TREFNNE
PHERUAERFEANEEAE - REEFER
201843 A /K °

EBELESENFEBIRALAR B HSF
A20185FE1 A22H K2018E2H13A M) & &
N i K o

HEREEE

R2018F12A31H AR RA WK B RAER
MEEILLARARTRAKE(EL)]  1E
AEFEASRGRFAEBREAFARECA
AEFERE)] EFRAERVEEHE "
NAEBEEERRBE(EIL)ESH R L
WINERBEEAGERETZH BREAAR
#6,267,900 e R (BE)AARARB EER
REFHMBAR -FAl  RELIWHRIUE
MAE SH(BB)AEFNBEAREAR
AIMBEEAL-



For a details of the disposal, please refer to the Company’s

announcement.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Off-Take Agreement
The Company started to sell raw milk to Mengniu Group in 2006,

and in 24 October 2008 following arm’s length negotiations,

Modern Farming entered into an off-take agreement (the " Off-
Take Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), pursuant to which
the Company shall supply raw milk to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Date:

Parties:

Nature of the
Transaction:

Committed
Purchase:

Right to sell to
other parties:

24 October 2008

(i) Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Mengniu

Modern Farming shall supply raw milk to
Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Both parties shall start to discuss estimates
of annual supply three months prior to the
beginning of each calendar year.

Should the parties fail to reach an agreed
amount, Modern Farming shall be entitled to
require Inner Mongolia Mengniu to purchase,
subject to certain limitations, all of its raw
milk production in the upcoming calendar
year.

Modern Farming may sell up to 30% of its
raw milk produced daily at each dairy farm
to third parties at its discretion, except to
two of Mengniu's competitors. Other than
the aforesaid, the Off-Take Agreement
contains no other restrictions on Modern
Farming'’s sales of raw milk to third parties or
development of its own dairy products.
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The pricing of the raw milk sold to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu is determined through
a formula which is calculated with reference
to a base price with upward adjustment for
meeting certain quality standards, such as
the level of fat and protein content and other
upward adjustments if the Modern Farming's
farms are within an agreed proximity to
Mengniu Group's dairy processing plants.
The base price is based on the price which
Mengniu Group at the relevant time offers
to buy raw milk from other mid- to large-
scale dairy farms (which can offer raw milk of
comparable quality) or, if there are no such
mid- to large-scale dairy farms in such region,
other comparable dairy farms in nearby
regions with adjustments (reflecting the
prices in different regions).

The base price and upward adjustment
payable by Mengniu Group under the Off-
Take Agreement shall not be lower than the
base price and upward adjustment it pays
respectively to other mid- to large-scale
dairy farms in the same region (other than
short-term reward programs offered to milk
suppliers that only account for a small portion
of Mengniu Group's total raw milk purchases).
Inner Mongolia Mengniu also grants Modern
Farming an option to sell to Inner Mongolia
Mengniu the same amount of raw milk at
the same terms and prices Inner Mongolia
Mengniu offers to any third party suppliers.

The Off-Take Agreement shall be for an term
of 10 years commencing from 24 October
2008 and is automatically extended for
another 10 years upon expiry in the absence
of any force majeure or events of default.

Details of the Off-Take Agreement have been disclosed in the
Company's announcement dated 23 May 2013.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Off-take Agreement

during the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to
approximately RMB4,222,146,000 (2017: RMB3,304,833,000).
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Framework Supply Agreement

Modern Farming, after entering into the Framework Supply
Agreement dated 16 June 2017 (as amended by the Amendment
Agreement to the Framework Supply Agreement on 28 November
2017 (collectively the “Framework Supply Agreement”) with Inner
Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial Corporation Limited
("Fuyuan” together with its subsidiaries “Fuyuan Group”), could
secure stable and high quality feedstuffs supply from Fuyuan,
which are more cost effective and could alleviate Company’s
production cost.

Date: 16 June 2017 as amended on 28 November
2017.

Parties: (i) Modern Farming as the buyer; and
(i) Fuyuan as the seller.

Duration: For a term commencing from the effective

date of the Framework Supply Agreement to
31 December 2019.

Principal Pursuant to the Framework Supply
Terms: Agreement, (i) the Modern Farming agrees
to purchase the feedstuffs that meet the
quality requirements of the Modern Farming
which are delivered to the relevant farms
of the Modern Farming, and (ii) the Fuyuan
Group agrees to sell and deliver the feedstuff
for dairy cows, which meet the quality
requirements of Modern Farming, to the
respective farms of the Modern Farming.

Pricing: The price payable and other payment terms
by the Modern Farming to the Fuyuan Group
shall be determined by reference to the
lowest quoted price and other payment terms
at which the Modern Farming could obtain
the same type of feedstuffs from independent
third party (whether local or overseas); for
this purpose, the Modern Farming will seek
quotations from at least two independent
parties offering the same type of feedstuffs
each time.
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Effective Date:  The Framework Supply Agreement is effective

on the date it was signed.

Annual The purchase of feedstuffs under the

Capacity: Framework Supply Agreement for the
periods:

1. commencing from the effective date of

the Framework Supply Agreement to
31 December 2017: RMB180 million;

2. From 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2018: RMB230 million;

<) 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019:
RMB230 million.

The aggregate purchase of feedstuff for the year ended 31
December 2018 from Fuyuan amounted to RMB65,217,000 (2017:
RMB106,519,000).

Framework Supply and Processing Agreement

By entering into of the Framework Supply and Processing
Agreement dated 16 June 2017 (as amended by Amendment
Agreement to the Framework Supply and Processing Agreement
on 28 November 2017 collectively the “Framework Supply and
Processing Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, together
with its subsidiaries (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu Group”) could
enhance brand awareness of the Group's products, capacity
utilization, market share and could result in greater economic
benefit and maximization of synergy effect with Mengniu Group.

Date: 16 June 2017 as amended on 28 November
2017.

Parties: (i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu; and
(ii) Modern Farming.

Duration: For a term commencing from the effective

date of the Framework Supply and Processing
Agreement to 31 December 2018.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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Principal (a) the Inner Mongolia Mengniu Group agrees

Terms: to purchase the milk products (including
pure milk, yogurt and pasteurized milk) that
meet the quality requirements of the Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Group from the Modern
Farming; and (b) the Modern Farming agrees
to sell and deliver the milk products (including
pure milk, yogurt and pasteurized milk),
which meet the quality requirements of the
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Group, to the Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Group;

Pricing: The price payable by the Inner Mongolia
Mengniu Group to the Modern Farming
for the supply of milk products should be
determined on the “cost plus 3%" basis.
Effective Date:  The Framework Supply and Processing
Agreement is effective on the date it was
signed.

Annual
Capacity:

Annual cap for each of the periods

a) commencing from the effective date of
the Framework Supply and Processing
Agreement to 31 December 2017:
RMB239.8 million;

b) 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018:
RMB240 million.

The aggregate supply of milk products to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to
RMB239,995,000 (2017: RMB239,307,000).

On 21 May 2013, the shareholding interest of Mengniu in the
Company increased to 10% or more, meaning that Mengniu
became a substantial shareholder of the Company, and thus a
connected person of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
with effect from 21 May 2013. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Mengniu, it also became a connected
person of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules with effect
from 21 May 2013. As a result, the transactions contemplated
under the Off-Take Agreement, the Framework Supply Agreement
and Framework Supply and Processing Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules with effect from 21 May 2013. Mengniu
further increase its stake in the Company in 2017. As at the date
of this report, Mengniu holds 60.76% of the issued share capital
of the Company.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
above continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

1. inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
than terms available from independent third parties; and

3. inaccordance with the relevant agreements governing them
and on the terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), the Board engaged the auditor of the Company
to report the Group's continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected transactions
of the Company that are subjected to be reported in the annual
report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions have been
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and are set out in the announcements of the Company which are
available at the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s
website at www.moderndairyir.com.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react changes in dairy product quality, food
safety, production, animal disease, environment pollution,
market developments and financial risks. The Audit Committee
reviews risk-related policies and scrutinizes that management has
performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal
control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling risks
arising from the Group's business activities, changing external
risks and regulatory environment, and report to the Board on
the above.

Strategic Risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge on
the dairy industry. The Group will invest in good grass plantation,
good dairy cows, quality milk production and promotion of
integrated operation that based on the strategic plan in order to
cope with the market demand and expectation. The Group will
closely review and monitor its short and long-term strategies and
strives for the best interests to its shareholders.

Operational Risks

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by failure
of internal processes, people, system or external events, such risk
is mitigated by and controlled by establishing sound internal
control, setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation
of duties and effective internal reporting. Management regularly
reviews the Group’s operations to ensure that the Group's risk
of losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from fraud,
errors, omissions and other operational and compliance matters,

are adequately managed.

Financial Risks

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures
and may enter into currency forward contracts or currency option
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure. Furthermore, with aim to tackle the risk of interest
rate fluctuation, the management regularly review and assess the
Group's exposure to interest rate movement and may consider
entering into interest rate swap contracts or other hedging
strategies when necessary.

The principal financial risks are set out in Notes 39 and 40 to
the consolidated financial statements headed “Capital Risk
Management” and “Financial Instrument”.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. KANG Yan
and one non-executive Director, Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul.
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
discussed the risk management and internal control systems and
financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
results for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Details of the significant events after 31 December 2018 of
the Group are set out in Note 51 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, is eligible to, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
LU Minfang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. GAO Lina (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. HAN Chunlin (Chief Operation Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul

Mr. ZHANG Ping

Mr. WEN Yongping (resigned on 15 January 2019)
Mr. ZHAQO Jiejun (appointed on 15 January 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LI Shengli

Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. KANG Yan

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway (Chairman)
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul

Mr. KANG Yan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. LI Shengli (Chairman)

Mr. ZHANG Ping

Mr. KANG Yan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman)

Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. KANG Yan

STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT

COMMITTEE

Ms. GAO Lina (Chairman)

Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul

Mr. LI Shengli

Mr. WEN Yongping (resigned on 15 January 2019)
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun (appointed on 15 January 2019)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. CHEN Hongbo

Mr. DONG Xianli

Ms. ZHOU Xin

Mr. ZHAO Zunyang

Mr. GUO Zhigang

Mr. YANG Wenhai

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Ms. GAO Lina
Mr. LI Kwok Fat

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. LI Kwok Fat (FCPA, ACIS, ACS)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
L E&EH

HEADQUARTERS

Economic and Technological Development Zone
Maanshan City, Anhui Province,

China

REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited

PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG OFFICE
Room A, 32nd Floor

COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Finance Limited
PO Box 1093
Queensgate House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton (Hong Kong)

As to China Law
Commerce & Finance Law Offices

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Development Bank of China Maanshan Branch
China Construction Bank Maanshan Branch

Bank of Communication Maanshan Branch

Citibank N.A. Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 1117

WEBSITE

http://www.moderndairyir.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA MODERN DAIRY HOLDINGS LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 109
to 274, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREBEZEEm@W

Fair value of milkable cows

4R FE

We identified the fair value of milkable cows as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2018 and the significant degree of estimates made by the
management in determining their fair values.

The Group reported milkable cows of Renminbi (“RMB”) 5,636
million as at 31 December 2018. These biological assets are
measured at fair value less costs to sell at the end of each
reporting period.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, fair values of milkable cows are determined by
using the multi-period excess earnings method, which is
based on the discounted future cash flows to be generated by
such milkable cows. The management’s estimation is primarily
based on the discount rate, the estimated feed costs per
kilogram (“kg”) of raw milk, estimated average daily milk yield
at each lactation cycle and the estimated local future market
price of raw milk. The Company has engaged an independent
valuer to assist it in assessing the fair values of milkable cows.

Details of milkable cows and the related estimation uncertainty
on their fair value are set out in notes 4, 24 and 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the fair value of
milkable cows included:

o Testing the Group's internal controls
over the fair value determination of
milkable cows;

o Evaluating the independent valuer's
objectivity, qualifications and competence;

o Utilising our internal valuation specialists
to assess the valuation methodologies
and the discount rate; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including the estimated
feed costs per kg of raw milk, estimated
average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the future market price of
raw milk by comparing to historical and
industry data.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BYZEENRSE
EREBEZEEm@W

Impairment assessment on goodwill allocated to ADH CGU (as defined below)

SEEADHE 2 EX EF R R EFIEZ(EER T X)

We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill arising
from acquisition of Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (“ADH Companies”) which is a cash-generating unit engaged
in dairy farming operations ("ADH CGU") as a key audit matter
due to the significant degree of estimates and underlying
assumptions made by the management in determining the
recoverable amount.

The Group reported goodwill of RMB1,088 million relating to
the acquisition of ADH Companies as at 31 December 2018. An
impairment loss of RMB26 million was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, goodwill impairment assessment requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated and the Group
determines the recoverable amount of cash-generating units
based on avalue in use calculation. The management’s estimation
is primarily based on the cash flow projections and the discount
rate. The Company has engaged an independent valuer to assist
it in performing the goodwill impairment assessment.
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NHTADHRA A  E R EMF BEEBONRELEM
([ADHR @ EABUDBENRENEIENSBREZSE
B DHREEBERETARODSERFETHEREME
NMEBRE-

RZE-NF+ZA=+—HB EEEHRSEHENE
ADHRARIWEEBRARKI1.08BEE T -REBEEARES
6EETRBE_ZT-N\F+_A=+t—HLFE®R-

BMGEETBERRMTINIBHAEE BEREFEFTE
HAEIERENEZELAEAN T ADEE - BEEE
ERNEREBEEFEETReELEMNNAT KD EE - 1
BETHNGFIEERNBASRAARBRER - AQFE R
BEIAEEMHEETHERENMG-

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment on goodwill allocated to ADH CGU
included:

o Evaluating the independent valuer's
objectivity, qualification and competence;

J Utilising our internal valuation specialists
to assess the valuation methodologies
and the discount rate; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the
future cash flows by comparing the
estimated revenue as well as gross
operating profits against historical data
and the data used in the prior periods’
impairment assessment.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) EREEZEE@

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

FE Y B 5 B X 1Y 8 18 AT 1

We identified the impairment assessment on trade receivables  Our procedures in relation to the impairment
from certain distributors of the Group’s liquid milk products  assessment on trade receivables from the
(the "Distributors”) as a key audit matter due to the impairment  Distributors included:

loss recognised involved a significant degree of estimates and

judgements made by the management in the estimation of future Obtaining and checking the relevant
cash flows. agreements with respect to the collaterals

of trade receivables; and
As disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements,

the Group recognised an impairment loss of RMB359 million e Evaluating the appropriateness of
during the year ended 31 December 2018 and reported trade the management’s basis used in the
receivables, net of impairment loss, of RMB218 million due from impairment assessment which considers
the Distributors as at 31 December 2018. the discounted cash flows.

Details of the estimation uncertainty of the estimated impairment 1 5t % 85 7 & W B 5 BR ZOR E 31 (i 89 12
of trade receivables are set out in note 4 to the consolidated ¢ £ #& :
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mak Chi Lung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2019

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GmElEEkH

fto 2 [ W = &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

2017
—t &
NOTES RMB'000
Mt & ARET T
Revenue e A 5/6 4,956,811 4,783,801
Cost of sales before raw milk B R A B 7 A
fair value adjustments 45 £ B 2K 8 (3,410,670) (3,352,957)
Raw milk fair value adjustments AEERKR NS REE D
included in cost of sales NE I (=S 8/24 (1,371,468) (1,228,046)
Loss arising from changes in fair value ¥, 4 A ¥ (& & &) 5 2L 4
less costs to sell of dairy cows SHERKANE AR EIE 24 (870,099) (868,337)
Gains arising on initial recognition of KRR K Uk E iz A FE
raw milk at fair value less costs YB3 E B AN ¥ 1 HE AR
to sell at the point of harvest EAmls 24 1,371,468 1,228,046
Other income = fth Uk A 7 66,131 51,832
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEBAX (172,256) (372,602)
Administrative expenses TR (232,450) (356,486)
Share of profit (loss) of associates FE(E Bt & N T A (B ) 24,873 (205)
Impairment losses, net of reversal 1B 5 18 10 B B [ 10 (367,662) (495,381)
Other gains and losses, net Bz R EEERE 8 (138,625) (35,716)
Other expenses HE R 7 (23,091) (20,428)
Loss before finance costs and tax M Bh & R AN K B IR B 18 8 (167,038) (666,479)
Finance costs A& KA 9 (338,622) (328,395)
Loss before tax % %5 B B 18 (505,660) (994,874)
Income tax (expense) credit FrEM(FEX)ER 11 (513) 27
Loss for the year FERNE B (506,173) (994,847)
Other comprehensive expense: EmermMAX:
Item that will not be reclassified TEEFIEREEDN
to profit or loss: b=l =
Fair value loss on investments BRAFETFTAEMEER KA
in equity instruments at fair value MEZTAEKREANTEE
through other comprehensive B[R AFTESAHE M
income ("FVTOCI") 2E WA (11,526) -
Other comprehensive expense FARAE 1’@ £ A 5 X
for the year, net of income tax (B ER) (11,526) -
Total comprehensive expense FR2>EMAX 258
for the year (517,699) (994,847)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBaRAMEE KSR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

2017
—E—+tF
NOTE RMB'000
Mt & ARET T
Loss for the year attributable to: A& T FRENLEIRE:
Owners of the Company AN/NEEI = RN (496,088) (975,116)
Non-controlling interests IE 28 % HE 25 (10,085) (19,731)
(506,173) (994,847)
Total comprehensive expense AR & 7 F R EMN
for the year attributable to: 2 258
Owners of the Company RKATEHAEA (507,404) (975,116)
Non-controlling interests I 5 B& E 25 (10,295) (19,731)
(517,699) (994,847)
Loss per share (RMB) G RAEARS) 15
Basic H K (8.15) cents & (16.19) cents
Diluted o (8.15) cents & (16.19) cents 7

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e &R R &

AT 31 DECEMBER2018 R=ZF—N\NFE+=-A=+—H

2017
i
NOTES RMB'000
it AR T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS (RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - EREE 16 3,920,685 4,698,736
Land use rights + i {5 A 17 117,220 125,802
Goodwill S 18 1,398,589 1,424,539
Interest in associates REEE R AR 19 180,913 =
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATFEFAREMEZEEA
WERTA 20 2,508 -
Available-for-sale equity investment A ERERE 21 - 12,934
Biological assets EYEE 24 7,717,113 7,751,070
13,337,028 14,013,081
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 25 978,508 848,635
Trade and other receivables and JEWE 5 BRF & E b fE U
advanced payments RIE KB | 26 781,173 1,022,069
Land use rights + i {5 A 17 4,002 4,106
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFHEFABRRZD
profit or loss THREE 22 80,424 -
Other financial assets EMmemEE 22 - 31,704
Pledged bank balances and EEHRBRTEBRRRER
non-pledged bank deposits BITHER 27 61,355 131,467
Bank balances and cash BITHEBRERES 27 703,039 666,519
2,608,501 2,704,500
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEE
Trade and other payables FERT B 5 8RR & E BT
I8 28 2,072,363 1,905,576
Tax payable &R 322 2
Bank borrowings — due within one year R 17 f& 5 - R — 4 X 5 & 29 1,691,109 1,568,181
Medium-term notes oHR E i 30 621,880 1,267,437
Corporate bonds NAEFH 31 1,087,568 39,106
Other borrowings — due within one year H b {& 58 - )X — & A 2| & 32 1,001,111 1,106,115
Derivative financial instruments PTE4&BIT A 23 17,729 -
Contract liabilities EHAEE 34 232 =
6,492,314 5,886,417
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES B S EFE (3,883,813) (3,181,917)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBDAEE
LIABILITIES 9,453,215 10,831,164
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fr e MR R &

AT 31 DECEMBER2018 R=Z—N\NF+=-H=+—H

2017
—E—tF
NOTES RMB’000
B 3 AREF T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRRE
Share capital % 7% 35 526,058 526,058
Share premium and reserves B 1D 55 1B N 35 5,919,237 6,443,064
Equity attributable to owners of KRR AEARMGEER
the Company 6,445,295 6,969,122
Non-controlling interests IE 2 % HE &= 108,838 119,307
TOTAL EQUITY RS 6,554,133 7,088,429
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Bank borrowings — due after one year  #R 178 5 — A — 5 1% 5 51 29 2,746,393 1,913,029
Medium-term notes HhEZE R 30 - 599,458
Corporate bonds UNGIR=¢= 31 = 1,045,761
Deferred income iE E A 33 152,689 184,487
2,899,082 3,742,735
9,453,215 10,831,164

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 274 were  #H R F109E2/4E N E AW B REN - =
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson — hHEF=Z B -+ R A KEE e & N IFHE

25 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: Tl REE2:
LU Minfang GAO Lina
E® K = Em
Director Director
EF EF

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

At 1 January 2017 R-E-—t&E-F-H 452959 3292068 1585752 117,206 - (61,424) - 1634952 7021513 101,383 7,122,8%
Loss and total comprehensive EREERZE

expense for the year AxfE - - - - - - - (i5ne) (975,119) (19.731)  (994,847)
Share issued (note 35) BEIRM () 43157 807,037 = = = - - - 850,194 - 850,194
Acquisition of non-controlling 4 8 3£ 2 % # %8

interest (note 37(a)) (R 3£37(a)) 29,942 541961 (555,297 - - - - - 16,606 (14,807) 1,799

Deemed acquisition of RiEkBERRER
non-controlling interests (F 537(b))

(note 37(b)) - - (50,502) - - - - - (50,502) 50,502 -
Share purchase for the Share 3t i 17 2 By 31 218
Award scheme (note 36(c) B3 5 B (Fi 3 36(¢)) = = = = = 13 = = 13 = 13)

Recognition of equity-settled BERRRIELE
share-based payment RERZHHFHR

(notes 36(a) and 36(c)) (I35 360 R 36(0) = = = 92623 14,517 = = - 107,140 - 107,140
Transfer due to cancellation R B i3 85 & &

of share options (note 36(al) (¥ £ 36(z)) = = - (04543 = = - 204583 = = =
Capital contribution from IR ER 1 &

non-controlling interests = = = = = = = = = 1.960 1,960
At 31 December 2017 RZE-—+F

+-A=t-14 526,058 4,641,066 979,953 5,286 14517 (62,137) - 864,379 6,969,122 119,307 7,088,429

Adjustment (note 2) AR (W2 - - - - - - (11,802) 10,316 (1,486) (174) (1,660)

At1 January 2018 restated) R =F—N\F
-A-BEEN) 526,058 4,641,066 979,953 5,286 14,517 (62,137)  (11,802) 874,695 6,967,636 119,133 7,086,769

Lossfor the yezr ERER - - - - - - - (496088 (496,088  (10,085) (506,173)
Qther comprehensive EREHMZERR
expense for the year - - - - - - (1,316 - (11,316 (2100 (11,526)

Total comprehensive expense ER2EF X BH
for the year = = = = =

(11,316)  (496,088) (507,404)  (10,295) (517,699)

Share purchase for the Share 31 17 % B3t I8

Award Schemes (note 36(c) 117 8 B (% 36(c)) - - - - - (23,583) - - (23,583) - (23,583)
Recognition of equity-settled ﬁ&‘”};‘zﬁﬂ&%ﬁ
share-based payment DY OE O EGE
[note 36(c) (& 36(0)) - - - - 8646 - - - 606 - 646
At 31 December 2018 RZE-) ﬁ

+-A=1- 526,058 4,641,066 979,953 5,286 23,163 (85,720)  (23,118) 378,607 6,445295 108,838 6,554,133
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

2017
—ZE—+fF
NOTES RMB’000
[T ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReETE
Loss before tax Bx % Bl &5 18 (505,660) (994,874)
Adjustments for: MATEHRE
Depreciation of property, AABENYE BE R
plant and equipment charged to R E
profit or loss 8 315,034 344,722
Impairment loss on property, ME  MEREERE
plant and equipment [ 8 36,444 -
Impairment loss on trade and FEWE 5Bk H b g
other receivables IE ) B & e 10 367,825 495,381
Impairment loss on available-for- AEEE(AHEE])
sale ("AFS") equity investment BaREREEE 8 - 12,021
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE 8 25,950 -
Release of land use rights =+ i b A #E AR BR 8 4,012 4,106
Bank interest income H|ATHEFA 7 (11,034) (8,166)
Government grants credited A BR P WA B B 48 BE
to income 7 (19,067) (17,844)
Finance costs B & K 9 338,622 328,395
Share of (profit) loss of associates JE {1 B = N B) G A1) s 18 (24,873) 205
Loss on disposal of interest in HEBE AR ERNEE
an associate 8 = 239
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries e B QR WS 8/38 (18,193) -
(Gains) losses on fair value changes EAFEGFTAER
of financial assets at fair value MeEMEERATHEE
through profit or loss (Y o) B 18 8 (35,949) 1,949
Fair value loss from settlement of BEKEBIRENRTE
Modified Considerations 18 8/35 - 15,361
Loss from disposal of inventories HEFEEIE 8 = 5,134
Loss from disposal of property, HEWE BERRZXE
plant and equipment ) ] 8 4,768 11,268
Gains on derecognition of financial RERecRBEMEK=
liabilities 8 (1,352) (57)
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) R B & 5 A HNE 518
from borrowings (U 38) % %8 129,611 (13,580)
Equity-settled share option expense LA RR 45 & RO BE AR M B St 8 - 92,623
Equity-settled share award expense AR EREE B IR 7 B X 8 8,646 14,517
Loss arising from changes in IGRANFEEH I E
fair value less costs to sell of HWERAEEREIS
dairy cows 24 870,099 868,337
Operating cash flows before EEESEYAMLE
movements in working capital HeEnReE 1,484,883 1,159,737
(Increase) decrease in inventories 7 &) R (100,322) 100,667
Increase in trade and other EUWE SERREM
receivables and advanced JE W R IE DA K B A
payments FIF L N (261,521) (182,836)
Increase (decrease) in trade and EBNESEZNEM
other payables F FRIE 5 0 O 2) 283,300 (576,683)
Decrease in contract liabilities AHaERd (116) =
Cash generated from operations E¥EBREANR S 1,406,224 500,885
Income tax paid ERMER (193) (28)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RETHHRERLFHE
ACTIVITIES 1,406,031 500,857
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

2017
—E—+tF
NOTES RMB’000
it = ARET T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest received 2 BRI 2 10,785 8,716
Purchases of property, plant and BAME BE K&
equipment (424,087) (387,941)
Investment in an equity instrument EmTAKRE (1,100) -
Investment in associates REERBINERE (100,000) =
Proceeds from liquidation of Rl RN =B
an associate B F 15 5K 18 = 1,443
Addition in biological assets EMBEENLE (1,161,254) (1,215,777)
Addition in pledged bank balances BB 1SR AT 4 BRI N (39,875) (112,244)
Release of pledged bank balances EERRITERRER 94,987 120,651
Addition in non-pledged bank REBHBEBE=AKN
deposits with original maturity of fm 3K 1 4R 17 17 )4 N
more than three months - (15,000)
Release of non-pledged bank REHABAEB=EAH
deposits with original maturity of BEEFRRITEARRR

more than three months 15,000 231,750

Proceeds from disposal of property, EEWE WERRKE

plant and equipment BT 1§ F 18 14,371 15,849
Purchases of land use rights BETFEA @é - (3,323)
Proceeds from disposal of & ZLFPTIS R

dairy cows 609,246 434,254
Settlement of cash portion of BEEREBIRER2IH

Modified Considerations 35 - (92,099)
Net cash received from foreign ANEE 3R B FT W IR & % 58

currency forward - 9,287
Net cash outflow on disposal of HENBLRNRE

subsidiaries /ﬁ HF 28 38 (91,560) =
Government grants received £ % B T A B 11,899 31,729

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REFHFMAREFEE

ACTIVITIES (1,061,588) (972,705)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

2017
—E—LF
NOTE RMB'000
[Ti= AR®F T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEED

Interest paid B H A (364,778) (340,468)
New bank borrowings raised MEBRITER 2,679,840 3,350,066
Repayment of bank borrowings 8 RE&E KA (1,470,974) (3,711,270)

Proceeds from issue of short-term BORBESFMERE

debentures - 500,000

Proceeds from corporate bond A RE 7 P15 3B = 800,000
Proceeds from other borrowings HiERmERIE 1,500,000 1,105,400
Proceeds from discounting JE U = 15 BE 3R BT 15 3R 18
bills receivable 81,845 -
Payment of transaction cost for XRRITERKRRBES
bank borrowings and B R 5 B A
corporate bond = (40,939)
Repayment of short-term MHESFEENE
debentures = (1,300,000)
Repayment of medium-term notes W HA R B (8 R B (1,200,000) =
Repayment of other borrowings EEEMER (1,510,273) (79,257)
Payment for repurchase of 8 B AR e 1 K
ordinary shares (23,583) (713)
Capital contribution from FERERLE
non-controlling interests - 1,960
Cash acquired from acquisition of e B8 I 1 IR M 2 B
non-controlling interests 1538 € 37(a) - 1,800
NET CASH (USED IN) REZB(FRAFABSREFH
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (307,923) 286,579
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN ReRBREEEMWEMGLD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5 36,520 (185,269)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FONRERREEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 666,519 851,788
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS S R§BERESZEY -
AT END OF YEAR,
Represented by cash and NB e RBITHERZED
bank balances 703,039 666,519
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVBBRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “"Company”) is a
limited liability company and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 26 November 2010. The registered
office of the Company is Maples Corporate Services
Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KYI-
1104, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located in Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Maanshan City, Anhui Province, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). As at 31 December
2018, China Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Mengniu”) and its
wholly owned subsidiary together owned 60.76% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in production
and sales of milk. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as (the “Group”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the principal subsidiaries of the Group
operate (the “functional currency”).

1.
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7] A 3 fift 9% = 5 7 X Maples Corporate
Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KYI-1104, Cayman
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

1.

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of that the Group
incurred a net loss of RMB506,173,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: RMB994,847,000) and, as of that date,
the Group's current liabilities exceeded its total current assets
by RMB3,883,813,000 (2017: RMB3,181,917,000). Having
considered the available credit facilities of approximately
RMB4,954,736,000 which remains unutilised as at 31
December 2018, the Directors are satisfied that the Group will
be able to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due
for the foreseeable future. These facilities include a facility of
HK$1,500,000,000 (equivalent to RMB1,314,300,000) under a
facility agreement with several banks expiring in September
2021 and a facility of RMB500,000,000 from Inner Mongolia
Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) expiring in May 2020 (note 46(d)). Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared

on a going concern basis.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

(a)

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time
in the current year.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
[FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers and the
related Amendments
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency

Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Classification and
Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 28  As part of the Annual
Improvements to IFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to IAS 40  Transfers of Investment
Property

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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ER gt e E e ((E g
X A2 F & )M M 6 BT 5T RS
AT I BT R R B

BRMBERE =M TA
R F 95

BRI GBHRE FFPAEAUAR
ERIFI155% IHEEET

BRMERE SEXZREMN
2EZB8g HE

BEFE2%

BRMERE UKROBERA
ERNF2HEN FAXBASHE
f& 57 LKit &

BT BRE EFERYER
HRNFAKN ZEAEIR 2B

& &7 T AR E BB
Bl 345 (R
B A4
B e ER (EEEKRYBR
E285% Y 7 Bl F [Z 20
&7 —E—EF -
= —NF )R
— &2
B et ER HEREYDE
F 4057 1
& &7

BRI XFa &I RAFEEER
¥l K& & 7] BBR B 75 5 2 Al
TEHAEEAFERBEFE
BB RER kMR R EEER
EMBHERRABIOBEEENE

REATE-
Annual Report 2018
—F-N\FFH




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FE B 5] & &£ 3] B BR Bf 7%

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SR (BB IS 3R & %
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued) Al )
(a) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are (@) MRAEAFEEBRGERMWEF T RE

mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied IFRS 15 for the first time
in the current year. IFRS 15 superseded IAS 18
Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initially applying
this Standard recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2018. Any difference at
the date of initial application is recognised in the
opening retained earnings (or other components
of equity, as appropriate) and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore,
in accordance with the transition provisions in IFRS
15, the Group has elected to apply the Standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not
completed at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, certain
comparative information may not be comparable
as comparative information was prepared under
IAS 18 Revenue, |IAS 11 Construction Contracts
and the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources which arise from contracts with
customers:

*  Dairy farming - breeding dairy cows to
produce and sell raw milk.

*  Liquid milk products — producing and selling
processed liquid milk.

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations and the accounting policies resulting
from application of IFRS 15 are disclosed in notes
5 and 3 respectively.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE=—ZFE—\E+=-A=+—HLEFE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FE B 5] & &1& 3] B BR BF 7%

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL WEER (B ERSEE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continuee 8 1) a0
(@) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are (@) REAEERHFHERNHT RE
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued) 1& 5T B B B 7% 3% & % Bl (@)
2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2.1 BUBHREENFEISHE
(continued) E&HWA @
Summary of effects arising from initial application A2 FE R E BB IR ER
of IFRS 15 BISRELENHERE
The transition to IFRS 15 does not have impact on BEZBEBEMBE RS LS
the Group's retained earnings at 1 January 2018. BRIEAHAEER T —

NE-—A-—BOREBRMNE

=2 48
EFE-

The following adjustments were made to RZE-—N\NE—-—H-BYHLKR
the amounts recognised in the consolidated EHBRAKRERN S BEIE
statement of financial position at 1 January 2018. HEATHE - BEIEFH
Line items that were not affected by the changes ZHNEBTEBREEARN -

have not been included.

Carrying
Amounts Carrying
previously Amounts under
reported at IFRS 15 at
31 December 1 January
2017 Reclassification 2018
R-ZFB-N#%
—A—8
R-B-t#F 15 B R B %
+=ZRA=+-A8 HEER
BEERM 155 M
FEEHSE EFTE RESHE
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Bt & ARETR ARBTT ARETE

Current Liabilities REHEE

Trade and other BRHESERR
payables Hih B 5E 28 1,905,576 (348) 1,905,228
Contract liabilities AHERE = 348 348
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BEMBHRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. F& F #7151 & & & 7] Bl PR Bt #%

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)
(@) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

2.1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of IFRS 15 (continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of
applying IFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018 and its consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended for each of the line items
affected. There is no impact of applying IFRS 15
on the consolidated statement of profit and loss
and other comprehensive income for the current
year. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Impacts on the consolidated statement of
financial position

WA (B BR B 3 R 5 %

Al 1)

(a) REFEBRFERNHIRE
1& &7 B B Bt 75 3R & 2 B (a0

2.1

HBMEREENFISHE
F&#HWA @

72 K& FH B PR R 7% 3R & E A
BISHELNZELE (M)
TRBEERERIT B RS
HAFSHRHEAEER_-F
—NE+ZRA=+—-—BH#&E
EMBAAREBEZXA L
FENGEAREERERANE
AXPZENRBENTE- N
AEE BRBEMBERS
HAFISHEEGRAERERE
MEEBRERTEEE
EXESHTENHBETESR
BEA-

HREMBRARARNTE

Amount
without
application of
As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
Bt % 3R & 2 B
iyl & % FE FI5HENEHE
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
MeE ARBTT ARBTRT AR T T
Current Liabilities #REE&&
Trade and other ERESERERR
payables E {th fE 1 508 28 2,072,363 232 2,072,595
Contract liabilities aHEaE 34 232 (232) =

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FE R # 5 R L& 5] B B B #&
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(@) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

(continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application

Of IFRS 15 (continued)

Impacts on the consolidated statement of cash

WMEER (BRI REE
Al |) @
(@) REAEERHFHERNHT RE
1& 5] Bl B Bf 3% 3R &5 % Bl (80
21 BEBBEREEANFISHER
F& 5B A @)
] 2 FE FH B BE B 7% 3R & £ B
FISEELEEERE (F)
HEREBREERERNTE

flows
Amount
without
application of
As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
B4R FE A B BR
B #% % & 2% Al
%l & %8 B FI5EHNEHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FTT AR®TFT ARETT
OPERATING ReZTH
ACTIVITIES
Increase in trade and ENE 5 ER K
other payables H b jE T FRIE N 283,300 (116) 283,184
Decrease in contract aHaERL

liabilities

(116) 116 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—F—N\F+ A=+ —B LEE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FER s R &E T BB 0%
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(a)

oy

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related
consequential amendments to other IFRSs.
IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit losses
("ECL") for financial assets and 3) general hedge
accounting.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance
with the transition provisions set out in IFRS 9.
i.e. applied the classification and measurement
requirements (including impairment under ECL
model) retrospectively to instruments that have
not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the
requirements to instruments that have already
been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The
difference between carrying amounts as at 31
December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at
1 January 2018 are recognised in the opening
retained earnings and other components of
equity, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may
not be comparable as comparative information
was prepared under IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of
IFRS 9 are disclosed in note 3.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE=—ZFE—\E+=-A=+—HLEFE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FE B 5] & &1& 3] B BR BF 7%

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL &2 QI ([ Bl PR B 7% 3R & %
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued) Al )@
(a) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are (@) REAEERGFHERWHT KL
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued) 1& 57 B B B 75 3% & % B (@)
2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 2.2 BRET R EERFEIOR S
BT A
Summary of effects arising from initial application 2 4 FE FH B PR B 7% 3R & & A
of IFRS 9 EORELWHEBE
The table below illustrates the classification and TEHPER G LERB B —
measurement of financial assets and financial TE—N&E—HF—H BE
liabilities under IFRS 9 and IAS 39 at the date of BRBf7& 3R £ B Bo% &
initial application, 1 January 2018. B =& B £39% 18 N 4 R
BEERBAGEN» HRE
2o
Financial
asset at
amortised
cost
Available- (previously
for-sale Equity classified as Non-
equity  instruments loans and FVTOCI Retained  controlling
investment at FVTOCI  receivables) reserve earnings interests
REH#
KAGEN

BAYE  SREE

AARRE (RA2ER AYEFA
THEE 2EKAN ERREK  Ht2E
BiRE R#EIA RE) KANRE RERN FERRER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Closing balance at RZZ-t%
31 December 2017 -1AS39 +Z=fA=+-H
WH R &8 - B

S ERFI9% 12,934 - - - (864,379) (119,307)
Reclassification ENTE
From available-for-sale ("AFS") EE BRI HE

(@& (i) (12,934) 12,934 - 11,802 (11,802) s
From loans and receivables BERREKZE = = 1,701,003 - - -
Remeasurement ENE
Impairment under ECLmodel  BHE EBBEER

THRE (i) - - (1,660) - 1,486 174
Opening balance at RZB-N#§

1 January 2018 -A-BHNBULEH - 12,934 1,699,343 11,802 (874,695) (119,133)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—F—N\F+ A=+ —B LEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FER s R &E T BB 0%
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(a)

oy

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
Of IFRS 9 (continued)

AFS investment
From AFS equity investment to FVTOCI

The Group elected to present in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") for the fair
value changes of all its equity investment
previously classified as AFS. The investment
is not held for trading and not expected
to be sold in the foreseeable future. At
the date of initial application of IFRS 9,
RMB12,934,000 were reclassified from AFS
equity investment to equity instrument at
FVTOCI, which related to unquoted equity
investment previously measured at cost
less impairment under IAS 39. At 1 January
2018, the fair value of the equity investment
approximate its carrying amount at 31
December 2017 and no fair value adjustment
would be made to the Group's investment
revaluation reserve at 1 January 2018 upon
initial application of IFRS 9. In addition,
impairment losses previously recognised
of RMB11,802,000 were transferred from
retained earnings to FVTOCI reserve as at
1 January 2018.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(@) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
Of IFRS 9 (continued)
(i) Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure ECL which use lifetime
ECL for all trade receivables. To measure
ECL, trade receivables are assessed
individually for debtors of dairy farming
and debtors of liquid milk products with
significant balances or collectively using a
provision matrix with groupings based on

aging.

Loss allowance for other financial assets
at amortised cost mainly comprised of
pledged bank balances, non-pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and other
receivables, are measured on 12-month
ECL (“12m ECL") basis as there had been
no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

As at 1 January 2018, additional credit
loss allowance for trade receivables of
RMB1,660,000 has been recognised against
retained earnings. The additional loss
allowance is charged against the respective
asset.

FE A ¥ 5] 2 &2 1& 5] B BR BY 7%
WMEER (BRI REE
Al |) @
(@) REAEERHFHERNHT RE
1& 5] Bl B Bf 3% 3R &5 % Bl (80
22 BB BEREEDFIK S
BT A @)
] 2 FE FH B BE B 7% 3R & £ B
FBOWEEWNEERE (F)
i)y EHEEEFEEATH
B
A& EER BB BT R
L EBFOFR MBI
EHEEHEEES
MATEREKE 5 BEFE
A2 HEHEEEB
2 A =EHEEER
B ERESERED
BERGEHENN4EE
BBEANMBEDERE
7N 1T @ Bl FE 1 SR
EERE, B R B F e

TRENMGE-

REBHEKAGTENE M
TREE(TEZEEC
EMRITAES KREM
RITHFER RITEH
K E e W R IR) B &
BEEDRI12(E B B
EEEE(12E A EH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. F& F #7151 & & & 7] Bl PR Bt #%

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)
(@) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the application of
all new standards
As a result of the changes in the Group's
accounting policies above, the opening
consolidated statement of financial position had
to be restated. The following table shows the
adjustments recognised for each of the line items

WREER (BB IHKRE%E
Al 1)
(@) REAFEEBRFEMHVHFITIRK
1& 5] B BR B %% 3R &5 % Bl (@)
2.3 FEAFTE F T £ B ¥ 5 1 47
EHBERAREENTE

MR EAAREBRSHREER
g MUEAVBHERRERE
EEH TRINFHSEX
FEMEMNBEREEROFE-
BMEXEHFTENHA L E

affected. Line items that were not affected by the BEENA -
changes have not been included.
31 December 1 January
2017 2018
(Audited) IFRS 15 IFRS 9 (Restated)
ZE-tf BB % BB E Z2-N\§
TZA=t-H BEER BREEA -B-H
(BER) #15% E9% (BE5)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTTR ARBTR
Non-current Assets FkRBEE
AFS equity investments AL EERRE 12,934 = (12,934) =
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRRFEFARR
SERANER
IA = - 12,934 12,934
Current Assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables EREHERR
Eth M 3R 1,022,069 - (1,660) 1,020,409
Current Liabilities RBEE
Contract liabilities AaE - (348) = (348)
Trade and other payables ERESERR
HtER TR (1,905,576) 348 - (1,905,228)
Capital and Reserves EXR GG
Retained earnings REEF (864,379) - (10,316) (874,695)
FVTOCl reserve BRATEFARM
e ON=L - - - 11,802 11,802
Non-controlling interests FERER (119,307) - 174 (119,133)
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(a) New and Amendments to

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2018 B Z = - \F+ A=+ —HBLFE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("“IFRSS") (continued)

IFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the application of
all new standards (continued)

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from
operating activities under indirect method for
the year ended 31 December 2018, movements
in working capital have been computed based
on opening consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2018 as disclosed above.

(b) New and Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

IFRS 16

IFRS 17

IFRIC 23

Amendments to

IFRS 3

Amendments to
IFRS 9

Amendments to
IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

Amendments to
IAS 1 and IAS 8

Amendments to

IAS 19

Amendments to
|IAS 28

Amendments to
IFRSs

Leases’
Insurance Contracts?®

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Definition of a Business*
Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle’
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FE B 5] & &£ 3] B BR Bf 7%
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)

(b)

New and Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

4. Effective for business combinations and asset

acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020

5. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

Except for the new IFRS mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will
supersede |AS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled
by a customer. In addition, IFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of IFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of
the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. IFRS
16 also includes requirements relating to subleases
and lease modifications.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRMETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z = —N\NFE+=-A=+—BLEE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. F& F %7 5] & & 1& 7] B PR Bf #%
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL FERA(BEBRMKEREE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") continued) Al |) @

(b)

New and Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured
at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability
is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as
the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing
cash flows in relation to land use rights for owned use
while other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Upon application of IFRS 16,
lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which
will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Under IAS 17, the Group has already recognised an
asset for prepaid lease payments for land use rights
where the Group is a lessee. The Group's prepaid lease
payments cover the entire lease terms of the respective
land use rights. The application of IFRS 16 may result
in potential changes in classification of these assets
depending on whether the Group presents right-of
-use assets separately or within the same line item at
which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FE B 5] & &£ 3] B BR Bf 7%
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)

(b)

New and Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
IFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB57,763,000 as
disclosed in note 43. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of
a lease. Upon application of IFRS 16, the Group will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify
for low value or short-term leases.

The application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure
as indicated above. The Group intends to elect the
practical expedient to apply IFRS 16 to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17
and IFRIC-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a
lease applying IAS 17 and IFRIC-Int 4. Therefore, the
Group will not reassess whether the contracts are, or
contain a lease which already existed prior to the date
of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends
to elect the modified retrospective approach for the
application of IFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise
the cumulative effect of initial application to opening
retained earnings without restating comparative
information.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—Z—NF+ A=+ —HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for: (i) biological assets,
which are measured at fair value less costs to sell, (i) equity
instruments at FVTOCI, and (iii) financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), which are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS
2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%'EI:"A

Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

(i) has power over the investee;

(i) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

(i)  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
controls until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%'EI:"A

Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs). Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9/IAS 39, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions
in note 2)

Under IFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for goods sold in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described
below.

Revenue from sales of milk produced is recognised when
the milk is delivered and title has been passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Leasing
An arrangement that involves a legal form of a lease is not,
in substance, accounted for as a lease if:

o the Group retains all the risks and rewards incident
to ownership of an underlying asset and enjoys
substantially the same rights to its use as before the
arrangement;

* the primary reason for the arrangement is not to convey
the right to use an asset; and

o an option is included on terms that make its exercise
almost certain.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating lease, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 # £ =
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Land use rights

Land use rights represent the Group's prepaid lease
payments for leasehold interest in land. The Group assesses
the classification of the leased land as a finance lease or
an operating lease based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the leased land have been transferred to the Group.
Based on such assessment, the Group’s land use rights are
accounted for as operating lease. Land use rights are stated
at cost and released on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Land use rights which are to be released in the next
twelve months or less are classified as current assets.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributed to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing cost eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological
asset measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised
in profit or loss when, and only when, the government grant
becomes receivable.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit under
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the PRC
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contribution.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Retirement benefit costs (continued)

Short-term employee benefits (continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options and award shares granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
of all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve or share award reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve or share award reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to retained earnings.

When the award shares are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share award reserve and the amount of the
relevant treasury shares included in equity under the heading
of shares held under the share award scheme is reversed
and the differences arising from the reversal is adjusted to
retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share-based payment arrangements (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share options and award shares granted to employees
(continued)

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled during
the vesting period (other than a grant cancelled by forfeiture
when the vesting conditions are not satisfied):

o the entity shall account for the cancellation or
settlement as an acceleration of vesting, and shall
therefore recognise immediately the amount that
otherwise would have been recognised for services
received over the remainder of the vesting period.

o any payment made to the employee on the cancellation
or settlement of the grant shall be accounted for as
the repurchase of an equity interest, ie as a deduction
from equity, except to the extent that the payment
exceeds the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such
excess shall be recognised as an expense.

Taxation
Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
thatitis no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) including buildings held for use in the production
or supply of goods, or for administrative purposes, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes (classified as construction
in progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment on tangible assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the assets is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Biological assets

The Group's biological assets comprise dairy cows. Dairy
cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell, with
any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss for the
year in which it arises.

The feeding costs and other related costs including staff
costs, depreciation charge, utility costs and consumables
incurred for raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until
such time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less costs
to sell. A gain or loss arising from agricultural produce at
the point of harvest measuring at fair value less costs to sell
is included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with IFRS 15 since 1 January 2018. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%%'_A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
3.

Bt %% R MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions in note 2) (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
OClI and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
"other income” line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 # £ =
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)
(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss is included in
the "other gains and losses, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under IFRS 9 (including
trade and other receivables, pledged bank balances, non-
pledged bank deposits and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors of dairy farming and debtors of liquid
milk products with significant balances or collectively using
a provision matrix with groupings based on aging.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instruments as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 @ ZE=—ZE—\NF+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increase
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
3.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 # £ =

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on aging basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%'EI:"A

Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial assets.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial assets
and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BE =B — N+ -A=t+—-HL&FE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

(continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets and is included
in the “other gains and losses, net” line item. Fair value
is determined in the manner described in note 42.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or
(c) financial assets at FVTPL.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

(continued)

(iii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
and other receivables, pledged bank balances, non-
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9
on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
assets, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9
on 1 January 2018) (continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group's past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the credit period of 30 to 120
days, and observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade and other
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9
on 1 January 2018) (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed do not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognised the financial assets and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred
to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) held for trading, (ii) contingent
consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, medium-term notes and corporate
bonds are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements of biological assets

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of biological assets. For heifers and calves, the fair value is
determined based on the 14 months old heifers’ local market
selling prices and adjusted by estimated feeding costs for
heifers and calves older or younger than 14 months. For
milkable cows, the fair value is determined by using the multi-
period excess earning method with key inputs including the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram of raw
milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated local future market price of raw milk.
Any changes in the inputs may affect the fair value of the
Group's biological assets significantly. The carrying amount
of the Group's biological assets as at 31 December 2018 was
RMB7,717,113,000 (2017: RMB7,751,070,000). Further details
are given in notes 24 and 42.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of its value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected or when
there is a downward revision to the estimated future cash
flows due to changes in facts and circumstances, further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of goodwill
was RMB1,398,589,000 (2017: RMB1,424,539,000), net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB137,297,000 (2017:
RMB111,347,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 18.

Provision of trade receivables

As disclosed in note 26, the Group reported trade receivables
of RMB1,069,543,000 due from certain distributors as at
31 December 2017 which had been overdue. The Group
performed an impairment assessment on such receivables
and recognised an impairment loss of RMB488,489,000 at
31 December 2017 and after taking into account of the
fair value of the collaterals and the estimated repayments.
During the current year, the Group performed the
impairment assessment and an additional impairment loss of
RMB358,891,000 was recognised after considering the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive from the collaterals.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables
are disclosed in notes 40 and 26.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE =2 —NEFE+ =A==+ —HLEE
REVENUE 5. kKA
() Disaggregation of revenue (i) WA#D
Segments
2 B
Types of goods EELE
Raw milk R4 4,715,942 - 4,715,942
Liquid milk products & BE I EE - 240,869 240,869
Total @t 4,715,942 240,869 4,956,811
Timing of revenue LN
recognition
A point in time R R 2 4,715,942 240,869 4,956,811
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from B FEFAHNW A B S T ERBFEN S BN Y
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed BR& %40 T :
in the segment information.
Dairy farming M+ EE 4,832,729 (116,787) 4,715,942
Liquid milk products R Be ) EE 240,869 = 240,869
Total revenue LN 5,073,598 (116,787) 4,956,811
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE —E—\E+ A=+ —HILEE
5- REVENUE (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers
The Group sells raw milk directly to dairy product
manufacturers and liquid milk products to its
distributors.

For sales of raw milk and liquid milk products to its
customers, revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being at the point the customer
received the goods and accepted the quality. Payment
of the transaction price is determined based on market
price. The normal credit term is 30 to 120 days upon
delivery.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Sales of raw milk are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted by IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker

(the "CODM") for the purposes of resources allocation

and assessment of segment performance focuses on the

type of goods delivered. No operating segment has been
aggregated in arriving at the operating and reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and reportable segments

under IFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

Dairy farming - breeding dairy cows to produce and

sell raw milk.

Liquid milk products — producing and selling processed
liquid milk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6-

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

7 28 E B )
DTEWA - EE BEERERE

For the year ended 31 December BE-E-N\&

2018 tZRA=t-HL%FE
Segment revenue 2 HBEA 4,832,729 240,869 5,073,598 (116,787) 4,956,811
Segment cost of sales before B T B 8 E A A

raw milk fair value adjustments A E R K 3,312,151 220,961 3,533,112 (122,442) 3,410,670
Reportable segment profit (loss) 2RI BRHNER) 812,215  (429,212) 383,003 5,655 388,658
Loss arising from changes in fairvalue ~ L4 AFEEH AT

less costs to sell of dairy cows BERAEEANER (870,099)
Share of profit of associates =N obgl 24,873
Unallocated other income A7 EEMBA 3,135
Unallocated other gains and losses FOREMBERER 21,493
Unallocated expenses APERX (73,720)
Loss before tax BREMES (505,660)
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NE+ZA=+-H
Segment assets PHEE 14,993,079 112,096 15,105,175 (997) 15,104,178
Unallocated assets ROREE 841,351
Consolidated assets AHBE 15,945,529
Segment liabilities NEEE 9,327,717 26,412 9,354,129 (997) 9,353,132
Unallocated liabilities *ORER 38,264
Consolidated liabilities AaR 9,391,396

e During the current year, the liquid milk products business ~ * RERN RENDEMEBKRIEZLER
became a non-core business, and this segment does not Ao FAFAEAREDBHNEEFIE - A
meet the quantitative thresholds for the reportable segment. - FM25EEFF-—FEHN2I] — B
However, it is presented above to conform with prior year's
presentation.

**  Inter-segment elimination represents the elimination of sales  ** WA HEFEE/IAFBE D A M T & & D
of raw milk from dairy farming segment to liquid milk products ERoBHEHERBMMEEARDER & &
segment and balances of related current accounts. B 8H o
Segment revenue of dairy farming segment included inter- FEBEHED B D ERARIEAE KA
segment revenue of RMB116,787,000, which are charged at AR %1 16,787,0007C * Jh ¥z 3L 4 & TE » &B &
internally agreed prices with reference to the local market MIRENERHIB2HRALL2EM T TE
prices between dairy farming segment and liquid milk B X BB 7 5 B AR UCER -

products segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea 6. TEBE @
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (continued) THBERA EE - BEEREEB®@®
Inter-
Dairy  Liquid milk segment
farming products Subtotal  elimination* Total
N4ERE REHER i AR R B @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR
For the year ended 31 December 2017  #HZE-Z—+ &
TZAZT-HIEXE
Segment revenue k1 ON 4,399,358 664,609 5,063,967 (280,166) 4,783,801
Segment cost of sales before raw milk 3 A F (B 35 % A1 &)
fair value adjustments AHHER K 3,031,208 604,629 3,635,837 (282,880) 3,352,957
Reportable segment profit (loss) MERHEHEF(ERE) 791,894 (727,560) 64,334 2,714 67,048
Loss arising from changes in fairvalue ~ A4 AL EEHRHAFHEE
less costs to sell of dairy cows KAEERER (868,337)
Share of loss of an associate EhBEEARNER (205)
Unallocated other income APEEMEA 898
Unallocated other gains and losses AOEEMNERER (34,372)
Unallocated expenses APEHX (159,906)
Loss before tax B A E B (994,874)
As at 31 December 2017 W-ZE—+&+-A=+-H
Segment assets NHMEBE 14,761,917 893,749 15,655,666 (6,682) 15,648,984
Unallocated assets AORBE 1,068,597
Consolidated assets AHEE 16,717,581
Segment liabilities PHAE 8,661,962 934,280 9,596,242 (1027) 9,595,215
Unallocated liabilities APEER 33,937
Consolidated liabilities BHAE

Inter-segment elimination represents the elimination of sales

of raw milk from dairy farming segment to liquid milk products
segment and balances of related current accounts.

Segment revenue of dairy farming segment included inter-
segment revenue of RMB280,166,000, which are charged at
internally agreed prices with reference to the local market
prices between dairy farming segment and liquid milk

products segment.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea 6. 7 #E B
Other segment information Hith o HEH
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss AAESEHRNKEEX D B EER
or segment assets: AH) &5
For the year ended 31 December BE-E-N\&
2018 tZA=t-ALEE
Additions to non-current assets (note) ~ FREBEERE (F ) 1,636,551 17,742 1,654,293 1,043 1,655,336
Depreciation and release of landuse ~ SFAB&RHNER
rights charged to profit or loss TR ERR 283,034 34,414 317,448 1,598 319,046
Impairment loss of trade and RERBRERE ZREHR
other receivables recognised AEtENFERREER
in profit or loss - 367,662 367,662 - 367,662
Impairment loss of property, plantand  REXZFHANNE  BE
equipment recognised in profit or loss XEREEE - 36,444 36,444 - 36,444
Impairment loss of goodwill recognised REZFEANBEFHELSE
in profit or loss 25,950 - 25,950 - 25,950
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HENE BERREMN
plant and equipment BR(KE) 4,786 (39) 4,747 21 4,768
Interest income HEKA (1,504) (180) (1,684) (9,350) (11,034)
Finance costs BAKA 335,658 2964 338,622 - 338622
Forthe year ended 31 December 2017 HZ-Z—+ &
TZA=T-HLE%E
Additions to non-current assets (note) ~ ERBEERE (&) 1,631,441 43194 1,674,635 403 1,675,038
Depreciation and release of land use st ABHNITER
rights charged to profit or loss T RERR 213,349 73,578 346,927 1,901 348,828
Impairment loss of trade and REREREKEZIEAR
other receivables recognised Bt NSRS REBE
in profit or loss - 495,381 495,381 - 495,381
Loss on disposal of property, plant LENE BERIBENER
and equipment 7,983 3N 8,294 2974 11,268
Interest income HEBA (819) (196) (1,015) (7,151) (8,166)
Finance costs BARKA 322,103 6,292 328,395 - 328,395

Note: Additions to non-current assets comprise biological assets,

property, plant and equipment, and land use rights.

A A B b AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%EI:'_A

RF 7% ¥ & B &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
6.

SEG M ENT IN FORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment profit or loss represents
the profit earned by or loss incurred from each segment
without changes in fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows,
share of profit (loss) of associates, and other head office
and corporate income and expenses that are not directly
attributable to operating segments. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

e  all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than AFS equity investment, equity investment at
FVTOCI, interest in associates, corporate cash and
bank balances, other financial assets and other head
office and corporate assets; and

e allliabilities are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than tax payable, and other head office
or corporate liabilities.

Geographic information

Since all revenue from external customers is derived from
the customers located in Mainland China and all of the non-
current assets are located in Mainland China and all the
segments are managed on a nationwide basis because of
the similarity of the type or class of the customers and the
similarity of the regulatory environment in the whole region,
no geographic information by segment is presented.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GERERENE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BLZ—Z2—\E+ A=+ —HLFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continea 6. 7 & E R
Information about major customers ERTITEEFHNER
Included in revenue arising from sales of raw milk to external AN EFPRDNEERANDARE
customers of approximately RMB4,222,146,000 (2017: 4,222146000C( =T — £ F: AR ¥
RMB3,304,833,000) and nil (2017: RMB572,271,000) arose 3,304,833,000) R E(ZF —£F: A
from sales to customer A and customer B, respectively. K #572,271,00070) 9 Al m A E PAK
During the current year, the Group also sold liquid milk EFPBHEMEENKA RAFE -
products of RMB239,995,000 (2017: RMB239,307,000) to AEBNTRAEFPALSERENER AR
customer A. No other single customer contributed 10% or #239,995000t(ZF — & : AR K
more to the Group's revenue for each of the two years ended 239,307,0007) c BE_ZFE - \F + =
31 December 2018. A=+ - ALMEFESF AEHM

BE-XPRAAEETRI0%IIA LWA -

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 7. HMIW AR HE B X

Other income H g A
2017
—E—tF
RMB'000
AR F
Bank interest income |7 M B WA 11,034 8,166
Government grants related to LA T & IE W A BT AL
— Assets (note 33) - & E (M 7£33) 19,067 17,844
— Others (note) - A o (B 5%) 24,606 19,714
43,673 37,558
Others H b 11,424 6,108
66,131 51,832
Note: These government grants are unconditional government M- ZERTHEAAREERE BT
subsidies received by the Group from relevant government PRI E G RFHE SERA
bodies for the purpose of giving immediate financial support SEEEIRMEDE I B e

to the Group's operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 7. Hfh it A & H 2 B X @)
(continued)
Other expenses Hpg X
2017
—E—LF
RMB'000
AR T T
Loss from sales of milk powders (note i) H & 43 %) &5 18 (Fff 5%1) 321 9,081
Donation expenses BB 225 1,733
Compensation for termination of BLIEA BB E )
a contract (note ii) 12,000 —
Others H b 10,545 9,614
23,091 20,428
Notes: i &E -
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group i. BE-_ZT-AFF+TA=1t—HL

dehydrated some of its raw milk into milk powders which
were intended for feeding calves. The Group sold the milk
powders to third parties, resulting in a loss of RMB321,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB9,081,000),
being the excess of the carrying value of the milk powders
over the proceeds received.

In June 2016, Modern Farming (Saibei) Co., Ltd. (“Saibei”),
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a consigned
processing contract with Bengbu Heping Dairy Co., Ltd
("Heping”) to consign Heping to process liquid milk
product. As the Directors predicted the process of liquid
milk production would not be resumed in the foreseeable
future, Saibei terminated the contract with a compensation
of RMB12,000,000 to Heping in December 2018.

FE -AEEBESRBDBRAKKS
DN BARNAERES - AEBEHER
BEHETFTE=77 EHBE_FT—
NE+ZA=Z+-—BLEFEBEBHEA
RE321000n(Z -+ F: AR
9,081,0007T) » BN 4340 &0 BR 1 1B = 70 P
BTRENILD -

RZB-REXNA ARXFANHER
AIRARMEEIERAR(TEL]) M
HEMFIAXRAR QAN FDFKE
REMITAH BMFRENIRE
PER - BREFAFHRAILERR
EMEMIBRENER - BIER-ZF
“NFFTZRAEMFLIEAH LH
8 A K 12,000,000 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

LOSS BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 8. MRBMERARBEAMEIR
TAX
Loss before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging B B & B Ko B IR AT B 1R Ty R (GEA)
(crediting): THEBEEBFTES DS :
2017
—E—+tF
RMB'000
ARETT
Cost of sales before raw milk fair value R £ 5 A S {E 7 & A &Y
adjustments 6 & K A
Breeding costs to produce raw milk A 2 REH B 8 JE K AR 3,243,770 2,828,951
Production costs for liquid R BE ) EE b B AR EE AR AR
milk products 166,900 524,006
3,410,670 3,352,957
Raw milk fair value adjustments T AEEK A RE L
included in cost of sales N 1B B 1,371,468 1,228,046
4,782,138 4,581,003
Other gains and losses: Hh s REE:
Loss from settlement of Modified REKEITIRENER
Considerations (note 35) (Bff 3£ 35) - 15,361
Loss from disposal of an associate HE—FBEAfmnER - 239
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) SNEE B 1B (W ) 7F &8 126,957 (10,199)
Loss from disposal of inventories HEFTEEBE - 5,134
Loss from disposal of property, LHEWE BERZE
plant and equipment & 18 4,768 11,268
Gains arising on disposal of REEME QA EES
subsidiaries (note 38) W 2= (Fff 5238) (18,193) =
Impairment loss on AFS equity AHEHERESIRERE
investment (note 21) &5 48 (T 51 21) = 12,021
Impairment loss on property, ME BEIZERE
plant and equipment (note 16) & 18 (Fff 52 16) 36,444 -
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 18) & 2 5 (& /& 18 (i 52 18) 25,950 -
Fair value (gain) loss on financial BAFEGFAEZRS R
assets at FVTPL EEMNATEMZE)ERE
Foreign currency forward contracts SNEE B A K
(notes 22 and 23) (Bt 5% 22 % 23) (35,394) 1,949
Foreign currency option contracts SN BE HR #E A& &Y
(notes 22 and 23) (Bt 5222 ] 23) 872 -
Bills receivable (note 26) JE W 2= 9% (B 55 26) (1,427) -
(35,949) 1,949
Gains on derecognition of financial FHBEREBBENKE
liabilities (1,352) (57)
138,625 35,716
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

8. LOSS BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND

TAX (continued)

8. BREUE B A K BIEAER@

2017
—E—+F
RMB'000
ARBT T
Depreciation of property, M BERZENE
plant and equipment 535,685 586,283
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEER LR (220,651) (241,561)
Depreciation charged to profit or loss 5 A Bz By 3T & 315,034 344,722
Equity-settled share option expense NRREEENERERX
(note 36(a)) (Bff 5% 36(a)) = 92,623
Equity-settled share award expense NIREEEN KRG ZEF X
(note 36(c)) (Bt 5 36(c)) 8,646 14,517
Other employee benefits costs H A 8 818 7 f X 435,722 478,750
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEERN LS (112,143) (113,903)
Employee benefits charged to FABZE®EBRA
profit or loss 332,225 471,987
Auditors’ remuneration % S 6N B & 2,800 2,700
Release of land use rights & 5 AR M R B 4,012 4,106

o'y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHKRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BLZ—Z2—\E+ A=+ —HLFE
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MMEMRAE
2017
—FE—tF
RMB’000
AR® T
Interest expenses on: MEFRX:
Bank borrowings RT3 187,625 162,453
Short-term debentures CBHES - 28,496
Medium-term notes FhER i 41,485 93,675
Other borrowings H b & 3R 44,306 25,588
Corporate bonds UNCIREES 59,871 47,508
Amounts due to Mengniu iS4 RE 1,804 -
Total borrowing cost & FRAK AR 48 58 335,091 357,720
Less: amounts capitalised for W BEERME BER
construction of property, HEHNERLERE
plant and equipment - (537)
Cost of discount of bills receivable FE W Z 45 I sE A AN = 2,965
Fair value loss (gain) on interest rates M= H AT EEB (W)
swaps 3,531 (31,753)
338,622 328,395
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the borrowing cost BE-_FT—tH+t-_A=+—HL#HF
was capitalised based on the terms of the general bank B -EXRAEREZTRER KRR
borrowings in respect of construction in progress. The BEROBFERER - BHE_ZT—+F+
weighted average capitalisation rate on general borrowings “A=t—HLEFE —RERHME
is 5.46% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2017. FHERELE R ZTF546%°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e KM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 EZE =2 —NF+ A=+ —HLEFE
10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, 10. BEB B AR R E
NET OF REVERSAL
2017
—E—+F
RMB’000
ARETTT
Impairment losses recognised on: WEBERUATER :
— Trade receivables — liquid milk -EWE ZFERF - RED
product (the Distributors) Em(oEmE) 358,891 488,489
— Trade receivables — liquid milk - EWE Z R - R
product (other customers) En(HEHuERE) 5,365 6,782
— Other receivables — H {th jE Y k1B 3,569 110
Impairment losses reversed on: WAEBERATED :
— Trade receivables — liquid milk - EWE Z R - R
product (other customers) En(EMERE) (163) -
367,662 495,381
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 HEz_2—\F+-_A=+—8B1tHF
December 2018 are set out in note 40. JE R (B BT FF 1B E0 RA BT 3E 40 o
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) M. FAEHRAXER)
2017
—B—tF
RMB'000
ARETTT
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: REBEFZFANERHN SR
Current tax: BV EA %% 18 -
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax REERER 513 156
Over provision in prior years: BAFEEERE -
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax RESERER - (183)
513 (27)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (continued)

The tax charge represents income tax in the PRC which is
calculated at the prevailing tax rate on the taxable income
of the subsidiaries established in the PRC.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law") at 25% for both years. Taxation
arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. According to the
prevailing tax rules and regulation of the PRC, 16 subsidiaries
(2017: 18 subsidiaries) of the Group are exempted from
enterprise income tax for taxable profit from the operation
of agricultural business in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2018.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as
the Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from
Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting RMB2,059,807,000 (31 December
2017: RMB1,961,503,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

M. AEREXHER)@®

BMEAXERRPEKIZNMNE QA
MERBMBANRITREGFENHE
P e

B Y A BB LR M (E AR R 32 25% 19
MEGHPBEECERSRIEEMRF
BIRD) - Kt e A ERE LN B A TR
BERAZERRITHERGFE -REF
BRIMBERAUEER BE-_FT—N
F+T-_A=1t—HLFE FAEENI6
RMBAR(ZE—tF:18HWNEBLR
ARNPEREREEBRELNERY
AN EREHBREEMEN -

TELEERBELEG RARAE
BREELBELARATERS BB
ZHA e

BIEFRCEMSRE  RP BRI
INELEMIBFEREEST KRR S AR
M0 BHH - ZHRETEE_ZEENF
—A—REAR YERAR_ZTTLF
+ZA=+—H&MNAF- fiF EHE
AR EENMER EERIY TR
B4 A AERBINRMRE - AEEK
AL R A5%10% Ik 3t P B K
B~ R REE M AR 2,059,807,000 7T
ZE—tFF+ZAZ=ZF—H AR
1,961,503,00070 ) I 4R & BT 15 R X 3t &
EHRBELEE DR AEERERET
SIEEEEEENRREA R RS E
HNA R RATRETGERD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (continued)
The tax expense for the current year can be reconciled to
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

M. AEREX(HER)@®

UTRAFERBRAXBGEBERAR
H 2 U & R R RR B AT B 1R A B R ¢

2017
—T—+tF
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Loss before tax B i A & B (505,660) (994,874)
Tax at applicable income tax rate REBAEMMKR2B%TE
at 25% (2017: 25%) EI’J ME(ZE—+F: 25%) (126,415) (248,719)
Effect of tax exemption granted to ERENFENTE
agricultural entities (90,023) (40,689)
Effect of non-utilised losses incurred EXEXEBEEADAEER
from agricultural business and other HM A NRAINEE
non-deductible expenses 204,376 249,422
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KERHEFENHEFE 12,575 40,190
Utilisation of tax losses previously not &) F i@ £ K R B TH &5 18
recognised = (48)
Over provision in respect of prior years @ {f F & 2 8 58 & & - (183)
Income tax expense (credit) Frigfifz(E&e) 513 (27)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's PRC subsidiaries had
unused tax losses of RMB200,019,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB314,496,000) incurred by non-agricultural business in the
PRC. These unused tax losses as at 31 December 2018 will
expire in year 2019 to year 2023 if not utilised. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such tax losses as
itis not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

EMOLUMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

12.EERFTETHRAENE

Details of the directors’ and the chief executives’ emoluments

are as follows:

EERTZTBRABMEFBLOT

Executive directors HTES
Ms. Gao Lina BESZL = 2,467 1,318 = 3,785
Mr. Han Chunlin BEMEE - 1,635 651 65 2,351
Non-executive directors FHiTES
Mr. Lu Minfang (note i) & SR % £ (B ) - - - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul % & = = = - -
Mr. Zhang Ping RTEE - - - - -
Mr. Wen Yongping (note i) Bk F 5 4 ([ 5% ii) = - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BIUFHITEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ FH & %4 204 - - - 204
Mr. Li Shengi FBNEE 200 = = - 200
Mr. Kang Yan FELE 200 - - - 200
604 4,102 1,969 65 6,740
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

12.BEERFTETHAEM @

2017
—E—+F
Equity-
Salaries,  settled share  Retirement
allowances option and benefits
Directors’ and benefits- share award scheme
fees in-kind expense contributions Total
RRELS
He 2H BRERRD  RAEA
B0 REWEN REHAL  FEHEX Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE ARBTE ARBTx ARBETE ARETR
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Gao Lina SEfxt - 2,412 9.656 25 12,093
Mr. Han Chunlin BEMEE = 1,516 4,817 25 6,358
Non-executive directors EHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang (note ii) & 8 ok & (B i) = = - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul
Mr. Zhang Ping R EE = - - - -
Mr. Wen Yongping Bk o A (B &)

(note ii) _ _ _ _ _
Mr. Yu Xubo (note ii) F 8% % & (B aEii) - - - - -
Mr. Hui Chi Kin Max AT B A (P R

(note ii) - - - - -
Mr. Sun Yugang (note iii) B M5 A (O i) - = = - -

Independent non-executive B FEHITE S
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ FHEF % 4 208 = = = 208
Mr. Li Shengli FHRELE 200 = = S 200
Mr. Kang Yan FREESEE 200 = = S 200
Mr. Zou Fei (note ii) B &4 aEii) 50 = = = 50
658 3,928 14,473 50 19,109

Ms. Gao Lina and Mr. Han Chunlin are also the chief

executives of the Company. The emoluments disclosed

above for executive directors were for the management of

the affairs of the Company and the Group. The executive

directors were also granted share options and share awards

under the share option schemes and the share award scheme

of the Company. Details of the share option schemes and

share award scheme are set out in note 36.

oy
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

12.BEERFTETHAEM @

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments

13.

shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

Notes:

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).

Mr. Yu Xubo and Mr. Hui Chi Kin Max, non-executive directors,
resigned from their office with effect from 29 March 2017. Mr.
Lu Minfang and Mr. Wen Yongping were appointed as non-
executive directors with effect from 29 March 2017. Mr. Zou
Fei, an independent non-executive directors, resigned from
his office with effect from 29 March 2017.

Mr. Sun Yugang, an executive director, who resigned from his
office and was appointed as non-executive director with effect
from 1 October 2016. Mr. Sun Yugang subsequently resigned
from his office as non-executive director with effect from 29
March 2017.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Of the five individuals with the highest remuneration in the
Group, two (2017: two) are directors of the Company whose

emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 12 above.

Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2017:

three) individuals for the year are as follows:

13.

X

BB TEETNME RE

FERARAEENREMZ

i &E -

BHE T N\E+_-_A=+—HIL#F
B -BIEESHNEXRE RESTHH
(T —tFE E)-

FATESTRREERTEREE
BE-ZE—tF=A-tNLBHREEHRE-
EgREERBKFEEB T -+t
FZA-ZThBREZERIRTE
F-BUFBTETERELEA _F
—tF=A-tTNBRERK-

HTEEFREMEEBE T —RF+
A-RREEBYEZERFNTES -
Hig ®RA-_FT—-—tHF=A=-+TNH
EEEFRTEERT -

TEREHFMAL

ZINE 3

EMAEsEaFMALHEER

RAHMEBER(ZCTE—LF - MA)
EMeHRBER EXWFEI12-UTRER

H &

ZEBESFMAL(ZT -5

=R EFFE

2017

—F—+tF

RMB'000

AR T

Salaries and allowances e kEah 3,653 3,028
Retirement benefits scheme B AK R A EE 4R

contributions 134 69

Equity-settled share option expense ERELEBRERX = 11,000

Equity-settled share award expense LR EEERM BRI 1,301 1,682

5,088 15,779
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

13.

14.

oy

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (coninies 13. BB B S H M A T @
No remuneration was paid by the Group to the Directors or ( EZFE - NF+ZA=+—HLF
the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join or B -AEEBERMESKDE KRS 5 M
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office AT EMMBE - ERMBERE B
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil). MBERNERNEABRITHE(ZE —
+F |-
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the KABBT(BTHDAEOMESEATE
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands MIEERRFMEEABAT
in Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") is as follows:
2017
—F—kF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T = 1,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001% JT & 2,500,000 % 7T 2 -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 /% 7T = 4,500,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 7% 7T Z 7,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 % 7t & 7,500,000 % 7T - 1
3 3

Certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees were granted share options and share awards, in
respect of their services to the Group under the share option
schemes and share award scheme of the Company. Details
of the share option schemes and share award scheme are
set out in note 36.

DIVIDEND

No dividend (2017: nil) was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during 2018, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. B REB R
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RRABFHBEAREEREALREEE
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BIREBIATHETE

following data:

2017
—T—+tF
RMB’000
ARETTT
Loss & B
Loss for the purposes of basic and ARAEESRERK
diluted loss per share HEEFEENEE (496,088) (975,116)
2017
—FE—tF
Shares
fix
Number of shares vl Q|
Weighted average number of ARAESRERR
ordinary shares for the purposes of BEEEMNTAK
basic and diluted loss per share hn#E 5 & 6,083,399,210 6,022,884,528
The number of shares adopted in the calculation of the HTEBREARAEBEEMRMEANK SN EE
basic loss per share has been arrived at after eliminating the REERARAROHBEBAZETHEA
unvested shares of the Company held under the Company’s WARAARGEBROESL HEHZE
share award scheme. The calculation of diluted loss per E-NEFRZZFE—LEEFT+A=T
share for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 has —BILEFENEBREBESER Y T K
not taken into account the effect of the share options and AR BERERRKRDERD(NER) B
share awards of the Company, as appropriate, since the Z2 THRBRITELEEEERETR
assumed exercise and vesting would result in decrease in BB D o

loss per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

16. % BERRKRE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost A
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZE—+E-R-HM&EE 5,079,982 26,421 2,048,961 100,170 7,255,534
Additions RE = 457 49,539 177,268 227,264
Transfer & 167,090 - 58,978 (226,068) -
Disposals ek (16,992) (4,011) (63,341) - (84,344)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZB—+E+-A=+-RH&EE 5,230,080 22,867 2,094,137 51,370 7,398,454
Additions RE = 494 67,012 187,273 254,779
Transfer % 113,804 = 82,081 (195,885) =
Disposals ik (16,136) (1,939) (60,817) = (78,892)
Elimination on disposal of HENB A RM S

subsidiaries (note 38) (M 3E38) (170,883) (379) (416,032 (31,230)  (618,524)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RIB-NE+-A=+-RH&H 5,156,865 21,043 1,766,381 11,528 6,955,817
Accumulated depreciation ZHNE
Balance at 1 January 2017 R-Z-—+E-F-HR&H% (1,312,802) (10,017) (745,99¢) - (2,068815)
Charge for the year ERRET (314,747) (1,752) (269,784) = (586,283)
Elimination on disposals it E i 8,591 3,383 48,952 = 60,926
Balance at 31 December 2017 R-BE—+E+-A=+-B0EH (1,818,958) (8,386) (966,828) - (259172
Charge for the year ERFEY (323,998) (1,366) (210,321) = (535,685)
Elimination on disposals it & 8 6,462 1,304 48,637 = 56,403
Elimination on disposal of k=Ll INGE

subsidiaries (note 38) (B 5£38) 33,820 286 144,536 = 178,642
Balance at 31 December 2018 RIBE-NE+-A=+-BM&EH  (1,902,674) (8,162)  (983,976) - (2,894,812)
Impairment AE
Balance at 1 January 2017 RIE—t5-F-HNEH (104,180) (114) (7,395) - (111,689)
Eliminated on disposal it & 8 4163 R 1948 = 6,143
Balance at 31 December 2017 RoB—+EF-A=+-BHLH (100,017) (82) (5,447) = (105,546)
Impairment losses recognised in ERBRBAREER

profit or loss (11,499) = (24,945) = (36,444)
Eliminated on disposal I E 1,274 19 377 = 1,670
Balance at 31 December 2018 R-BE-NE+-A=+-BMEH (110,242) (63) (30,015) = (140,320)
Carrying amounts EAEE
Balance at 31 December 2018 R-BE-NE+-A=+-BHEH 3,143,949 12,818 752,390 11,528 3,920,685
Balance at 31 December 2017 RoE-+5+-R=+-HMEH 3,511,105 14,399 1,121,862 51,370 4,698736

oy
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

At 31 December 2017, Modern Farming (Bengbu) Co.,
Ltd (“Bengbu”), the then subsidiary of the Company, had
pledged certain buildings, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB93,877,000 as security
for its collateralised borrowings (note 32) and as Bengbu
was disposed during the current year (note 38), none of
buildings, plant and equipment of the Group was pledged
as at 31 December 2018.

Depreciation is charged using straight-line method over the
expected useful life, after taking into account its estimated
residual value, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 4.75%-9.50%
Motor vehicles 19.00%
Plant and equipment 9.50%-19.00%
Impairment losses recognised

During the current year, the Directors determined that
the operation of Saibei would not be resumed in the
foreseeable future. The Group engaged an independent
valuer Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal Limited to
assist in assessing recoverable amount of property, plant
and equipment of Saibei. The recoverable amount was
determined under market method. The Group recognised
impairment for property, plant and equipment of Saibei
and recorded impairment loss of RMB36,444,000 in other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2018.

16. W% BMERRKREm@

RZZE—tF+=—A=+—H &2
ANMBARBERKEMEER)ERA
AR ERFREAELEEAARKE
93,877,000t E THEF WMELXHE
B 3K 18 {8 SR & R (T 7 32) & i i 8
BRAFEEHE( ) R=2F—N
F+-_A=+—H XAEEBHEZF .
8 5 K 5% 1 4 o

FEREHRAERFEFHANLFT RER
AR EERERERER TIFF

=5t -

g F 4.75%-9.50%
R 19.00%
85 & 7% 9.50%-19.00%

EERABEER

NEAEZ - BEERAENATRLBRELT
EMELE- AEEEEFBL(GHEMD
AFIBZEABERLAA B IEHEELY
¥ BMEEAXBEHTKESEE - 7l g@
CHENEMBEABET AEEHELY
¥ BELEFEERBELIRBEE_-F
—“NFE+_A=Z+—"HLEEFENEASE
BEhkEt2AKRIRNEMKE R
B 188218 A R #£36,444,0007T 5 B E5 18 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e KM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 EZE =2 —NF+ A=+ —HLEFE
17. LAND USE RIGHTS 17. L 30 fE B 8
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZTE—LtF—HA—-—HHER 130,691
Addition wNE 3,323
Release to profit or loss R EE= (4,106)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+_A=+—"HBHE 129,908
Elimination on disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) i & Kf & A &) #fi &5 (B 7 38) (4,674)
Release to profit or loss R EEE (4,012)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-—NE+_A=1+—B8&&% 121,222
2017
—F—t%
RMB'000
AR T
Analysed for reporting purpose as: ERHSMMAT :
— Current assets -REBEBEE 4,002 4,106
— Non-current assets -ERDEE 117,220 125,802
121,222 129,908

The amount represents the prepaid lease payments for land ZHRBETBR LI MERERMNEER
use rights situated in the PRC. The leasehold interests in land BH-HETHESNERBRN F20%

have lease terms ranging from 20 to 50 years. 504 »

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

18. GOODWILL 18. B &

2017
—E—tF
RMB’000
ARBET T

Cost B AR
At 1 January and 31 December N—B—BEt+=—ZB=+—H 1,535,886 1,535,886

Impairment B
At 1 January n—HA—H (111,347) (111,347)
Impairment loss recognised in the year & N E ¥ R 5 B & 18 (25,950) =
At 31 December R+-_A=+—8H (137,297) (111,347)

Carrying values FRmE A

At 31 December Rt+t-_A=+—8H 1,398,589 1,424,539

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to two individual CGUs. The carrying amounts of
goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) allocated

to these units are as follows:

HEITRE R H KRR AW EE R R
CELBU - -BENREEGIR R
HMEBE)BAZSFEMLDT

2017
—ET—+tF

RMB'000

AR T T

Modern Farming (note i) IR AR (MT 3% 310,426 310,426
ADH Companies (note ii) ADH 2 & (M &Fii) 1,088,163 1,114,113
1,398,589 1,424,539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ll‘li\

BB HRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & &

18. GOODWILL (continued)

Notes:

Chin
FE

The Group's goodwill of RMB310,426,000 arose from
acquisition of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern
Farming”) in 2009 (the “2009 Goodwill”). Accordingly, for the
purposes of impairment testing, the 2009 Goodwill has been
allocated to the dairy farming business of Modern Farming
and its subsidiaries at the point of acquisition which are
groups of CGUs engaged in dairy farming operations (the
"Modern Farming CGU") and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets of five years approved by the management and
discount rate of 11.8% (2017: 12.7%). Cash flows beyond
the budgeted period are extrapolated using a 2.5% (2017:
2.5%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation related to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted sales and operating expenses. Such
assumptions are based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the Modern Farming CGU to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU.

The Group's goodwill of RMB1,225,460,000 arose from
acquisition of the Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (the “ADH Companies”) in 2015 (the “2015 Goodwill”). For
the purposes of impairment testing, the 2015 Goodwill has
been allocated to the ADH Companies which are groups of
CGUs engaged in dairy farming operations (the “ADH CGU")
and represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the ADH CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets of five years
approved by the management and discount rate of 11.8%
(2017: 12.7%). Cash flows beyond the budgeted period are
extrapolated using a 2.5% (2017: 2.5%) growth rate. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculation related to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and operating expenses. Such assumptions are based on
the unit's past performance and management’s expectations
for the market development.

During the year, an impairment loss of RMB25,950,000 (2017:
nil) was recognised, being the excess of the carrying amount of
the ADH CGU over the recoverable amount of RMB25,950,000
determined based on the above value in use calculation.

a Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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18. BB )

i -

AEEBEBNHNHEBELSEARARARE
310,426,000t - AR =T Z 1L F W E
BABEERBR QAR HE
(EB)IMEAE(T-ZETALEFE] -

Bt £ETREANAK —EZhF
BEBARAKKERER KB R SL

Mﬁﬁ#%ﬁé%%ﬁ’]ﬁi?iﬁh%ﬁ%
B AR(TRRRERSELEM])
MM EREER YRAEEAA
HEEAMNEEBAENRENKTF -

ERBEReEESEMHATKE
EREAEEET TUAKEEEE#
ENRAFHMBEREAKE KABRS
MEBEAEL BB XRAE118%(ZZE
—tF 1 127%)  BEHBRUIINHER S
MEFEH25%(=ZF — £ F :25%) 1
HREEHF - HECHEEMNEME
EBRK ﬁ&%‘fﬁ%um)\/umﬁj(’@%iﬁ
EMEERATEE NG ZEBE
DERZEMHNUNERBREEEY
m%?‘@ﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁhﬁfﬁﬁﬁl TR E
BEAEEENEINEEEH I8
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BB E e A -

rEENBEELBEARARE
1,225,460,000 7T i e s ==
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Holdings Il ([ % SADHR & ) it & &
((—T FEEE] - #ETHERR
B T -AFHEHEAZZADHA
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AFVBEEAKE FRESRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N E e
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—Z - NF+=-A=+—-HLEE
19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 19. RBE A RIMNER
2017
—E—tF
RMB’000
AREEF T
Cost of investment in associates A& D T & KA 156,040 =
Share of post-acquisition profits and AR ERRNREMEE
other comprehensive income N 24,873 =
180,913 -
Details of the Group's interest in associates are as follows: AEBERBLEARERNFROT
Place of Proportion of Principal
Name of company establishment ownership interest Voting rights activities
NEEW B3t B EEELH REE TEEHR
31/12/2017 31/12/2017
—E—tF 25
+=A +=A
=t—A =f-H8
% %
Modern Farming (Feidong) PRC 50 100 49 100 Liquid milk
Co., Ltd. ("Feidong”) (note 38)  # producing
BRBEER)BERAATER]D EERED
(Bt 7 38)
Bengbu (note 38) PRC 50 100 49 100 Liquid milk
g5 18 (Y 5 38) h producing
EERED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 19. REE & D 5 B R &

In March 2018, Modern Farming sold 50% equity interest of
Feidong and Bengbu, the then subsidiary of the Company,
to Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company
Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”). Under the articles
of association, Inner Mongolia Mengniu has 51% of voting
power at shareholder meetings and is entitled to appoint
three out of a total of five directors of Feidong and Bengbu,
and thus has control over Feidong and Bengbu. The Group
lost control of Feidong and Bengbu but has significant
influence over Feidong and Bengbu, therefore classified
them as associates of the Group. More details of the
transaction are set out in note 38.

In October 2018 and December 2018, Modern Farming and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu proportionally injected capital of
RMB35,000,000 in Feidong, and RMB65,000,000 in Bengbu,
respectively. After that, the ownership percentage of
Modern Farming and Inner Mongolia Mengniu in Bengbu
and Feidong was not changed.

Summarised financial information of material
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

19. R & N T R = )

Feidong fE R
Current assets mEEE 56,239
Non-current assets ERBEE 178,127
Current liabilities REBAEE 84,943
Non-current liabilities EREBAE 9,073
Revenue Wz 100,524

Profit and total comprehensive

HA A8 A N 2 A B R

income for the period 16,735
Adjustment of the fair value difference between W& B BRI E 6 T 4 25 &Y

the net book value and fair value of the FHFERATEZIEN

remaining interests in Feidong on the date of AFEEZEEAE

disposal (711)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the RN E N &2 HEKR AR

period 16,024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continueay 19. REE & D T 89 &= )
Feidong (continued) JE =R ()
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB ERBMEEARG S B HE
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate BRORBEAREENREEY K-

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Net assets of Feidong BE 3R & E 140,350

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRER YR #EREZ LA
interest in Feidong 50%
The Group's share of net asset of Feidong REEBSERRFEE 70,175
Goodwill SRS 251
Fair value adjustment N EFAE 2,386
72,812

Bengbu 23]

Current assets MENE E 163,661
Non-current assets FmBEE 247,868
Current liabilities mE B & 189,574
Non-current liabilities EREEaE 16,160

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 19. REBEE RN ER @
Bengbu (continued) ﬁii(g)
Revenue W 25 355,926
Profit and total comprehensive income H % N e 2 E A 2R
for the period 35,523

Adjustment of the fair value difference between W E B IR H B THZEH

the net book value and fair value of the FEEMFEHEAFEZHEHN
remaining interests in Bengbu on the date of ANTFEEZBRAE
disposal (1,801)
Profit and total comprehensive income MR ke2EBABRE
for the period 33,722
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information TP BEERNBEARGAETBRE
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate WRONBEERARAEENREEYE:

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Net assets of Bengbu HIEEEE 205,795

Proportion of the Group's ownership REBREEMNEEEER L
interest in Bengbu 50%
The Group's share of net asset of Bengbu REBOhEHERFEE 102,898
Goodwill [ 33
Fair value adjustment N FH R 5,170
108,101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

21.

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

20 BAFEFAREMEZEKRA

NEHZIAE

Unquoted equity investment

ABEESRE

2,508

The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's
equity interest in a private entity established in the PRC.
The Directors have elected to designate these investments
in equity instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that the
investments will not be sold on trading purpose.

LA ETREREEATER T H
RILFLABERBOERRE -BREFM
ERREBTERRZENHE  BO&
BEEZERaTIAREEEREAT
Bt ARMEEEA -

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY 2. It ERERE
INVESTMENT

2017
—E—LF
RMB’000
AR T T
Unquoted equity investment at cost BRAGFENARREREREE 24,955
Less: accumulated impairment o BERE (12,021)
12,934

The above unquoted equity investment represents the
Group's equity investment in Qiushi Grass Industry Co., Ltd.
(the "Qiushi”) and represent 11.33% equity interests in Qiushi
as at 31 December 2017. The investment was measured at
cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair
value estimates was so significant that the Directors were
of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured
reliably. The Group performed an impairment assessment
as at 31 December 2017 and recorded an impairment loss
of RMB12,021,000, being the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows as at 31 December 2017.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

2. B AFEFFAEZNEME

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at FVTPL

ENEMEMEE

BAFEHFABENEREE

Interest rate swaps — US$ (note i) A = 87 - 32 T (B &E) 40,774
Foreign currency forward contracts (note ii) HNEE 3R B3 & 49 (Bt =Eii) 39,025
Foreign currency option contracts (note iii) HNEE B #E & 49 (B X i) 625
80,424

Other financial assets HithemEE
2017
—F—kF
RMB’000
ARETT
Interest rate swaps (note i) A =& 42 HR (BT i) 31,704
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ll‘li\

BB HRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & &

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Other financial assets (continued)
Notes:

Chin

In September 2017, the Company entered into a bank loan
arrangement with several banks, and under such arrangement
the Group was allowed to borrow United States Dollars
("US$") 300,000,000 loan (the “US$ Loan”) from the banks at
floating interest rate determined as “one-month US$ London
Inter Bank Offered Rate (“"LIBOR") + 1.9%" per annum up to 36
months. In order to manage the risk of interest rate fluctuation,
the Company entered into four interest rate swap contracts
for the principal amount of US$300,000,000 in August and

—E-NF+-A=t+-BRLFE

2. BAFEFAEENERE
EREMEREE@®

Htt & ®mEE @

B o -
R=ZZTE—tFNLA ARABHEETF
MO LBRTERZHE BEEH
ZTH O AEBE KB R f AEBE R
300,000,000% (£ T I [ & Tt B

|

A EBEZ6EAT—EARETHZ
RITAERS(RARTREFRSD +
BFEI19%WFBHHEGFL - BEEAM
ZRPEAR  ARAR_Z—LFN
H&ﬂﬂﬂﬁ@@ﬂ%?ﬁﬁﬁ/—\%’] $

September 2017. All of which shall be settled monthly. The éé ﬁ %’E #3300, OOO 000 T ° & M A
fair value changes of the swaps are gains of RMB9,070,000 cHE-ZT—NF Jr A= TL
(2017: RMB31,704,000) for the year ended 31 December 2018 — E| JJ: FE R E@ TEEZHKEA
which are recognised as a deduction of finance costs. R #9,070000 (= —+F: AR
31,704,0007T) 7y € R /3 — H B & B A
HR,
Major terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows: FEEHEEHERAT
31 December 2018 and 2017 - NER-_Z2-—+tHE+-A=1
— A
Nominal amount Maturity Swaps
£EEEH E = =8
US$100,000,000 29/09/2020 From LIBOR to 1.53%
100,000,000 % 7T —EEFAAZ-THA BfaHIRITREFE E1.53%
US$50,000,000 30/09/2020 From LIBOR to 1.54%
50,000,000 % 7T —ZE_ZFHA=TH BfmBIRITREF R E1.54%
US$50,000,000 29/09/2020 From LIBOR to 1.53%
50,000,000 3 7T —E-ZTFEAAZ=tTNA B fi 2R 1T R X 47 B =1.53%
US$100,000,000 29/09/2020 From LIBOR to 1.54%
100,000,000 7T —EEFAAZ-THA BfaHIRITREFE E1.54%

In order to manage the risk of US$ exchange rate fluctuation
for the US$ Loan, the Group entered into certain US$ forward
contracts for the principal amount of US$187,700,000 during
the current year. Besides, the Company entered into two EUR
forward contracts for the principal amount of EUR20,000,000
during the current year. The fair value change of the forward
contracts recognised in other gains and losses.

a Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22.
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

FINAN CIAL ASS ETS (continued)

Other financial assets (continued)
Notes: (continued)

ii. (continued)

Major items of the foreign currency forward contracts are

as follows:

31 December 2018

BAFEFTAREZNEME
ERHEtE®MEEw@®

Hite®MEE @
B & ()

ii. (#&)

MEEBANETEZHBMT

—®-N\Ft=A=+-8

Nominal amount Maturity Forward exchange rates
&L H ZHA EHE xR

Financial asset at FVTPL

BRTFEGAER LG EE

US$20,000,000 28/09/2020 RMB6.6350: US$1
20,000,000 3 7T —ZETHFNA=+NH AR M 66350 % 13ETT
US$30,000,000 28/09/2020 RMB6.6640: US$1
30,000,000 3 T —EZEFRA=-TNH AR 6.6640TT H1ETT
US$30,000,000 25/09/2020 RMB6.6300: US$1
30,000,000 J© —E-TFNA=THH AR 6.63007T 1% 7T
US$20,000,000 25/09/2020 RMB6.5950: US$1
20,000,000 3 7T —ZT-THFENA=+THH AR M 659507 %1% 7T
US$20,000,000 25/09/2020 RMB6.4800: US$1
20,000,000 3 T —EZEFRA=-THA AR B 6.48007T K13 T

US$17,700,000
17,700,000 7T
EUR13,000,000
13,000,000 EX 7T
EUR7,000,000
7,000,000 7T

Derivative financial instruments (note 23)

tTEZE T A E23)

US$30,000,000
30,000,000 % 7t
US$20,000,000
20,000,000 % 7t

28/09/2020
—E-ZEFAA=F+NH
25/02/2019
—E2-NEFEZAR=Z+HHA
25/02/2019
—E-AFE-_A-+HHE

30/09/2020
—ZE-ZTFNA=+A
30/09/2020
—E-ZTFNA=+H

RMB6.9000: US$1
AR 690007 %1% 7T
RMB7.6858: EUR1
AR ®7.68587T X1 B T
RMB7.8480: EUR1
AR #7.84807T 51 BT

RMB7.0000: US$1
AR #7.00007T %1% T
RMB6.9800: US$1
AR #69800T H1ETT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRE B % AR MY RE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BE—ZF - NF+ - A=+ —HLEFE
22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 BAVFEFTAERZNEBME

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER ERHMEMEEw@m

FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Other financial assets (continued) Hih & mt & E @

Notes: (continued) Max : (58)

iii.  Inaddition, the Group entered into three US$ exchange rate ii. AN REERAFEEE FRTA
option portfolio contracts and one US$ exchange rate option T=HhETEEXMBEESAOAR—H
contract with certain banks during the current year. The fair EILEXHESH EXHENRQF
value change of the foreign exchange options is recognised EEFHREMEmREEPER-
in other gains and losses.

Major items of the foreign currency option contracts are as SNEBESNEZHBENT :
follows:

Nominal amount Maturity Type Position Prices

£EEH EHA i) Hr/ kR EE

Financial asset at FVTPL
BRFEFAAERN 2 HEE

US$30,000,000* 24/09/2020 Call Long RMB6.8600: US$1
30,000,000 3 7t * —EZFEFNA=-+mTA R A AR 6.86007T %1% T
Put Short RMB6.8600: US$1
Rk *E AR 686007 H13ETT
Call Short RMB7.2600: US$1
R KB AR #7.26007T H13ETT
US$26,300,000* 23/09/2020 Call Long RMB6.8820: US$1
26,300,000 3 7T * —EFEFNA=+=H R A AR 68820 H1%ETT
Put Short RMB6.8800: US$1
Aok KB AR 68800 H1ET

Derivative financial instruments (note 23)
rTELH T A (M E23)

US$30,000,000% 24/09/2020 Call Long RMB6.8900: US$1
30,000,000 JT * —E-EFANA=-FTA R A AR #6.89007T %1% T
Put Short RMB6.8900: US$1
e8] KB AR #6.89007T % 13%E T
Call Short RMB7.3000: US$1
R =) A R #7.30007T 5,13 7T
US$26,000,000 24/09/2020 Call Long RMB5.8000: US$1
26,000,000 3 7T —E-EFAA=-FTWA R A AR #5.80007T %1% T
* These are currency call put option portfolios. * ZEREERAE RAHHAERS -
iv. The valuation techniques used in determination of fair values iv. BEMNEIEE . HNE R H L AN E B AE
of the interest rate swap, foreign currency forward and foreign NEFRTE RS GERMNYS®ERK
currency option are disclosed in note 42. 42

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BE =B —NE+= A=+ B LFE
23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23. T T A

2017
—E—tF
RMB’000
ARBET T
Interest rate swaps — HK$ (note) | = =2 88 — & Jr (KT 5%) 12,601 -
Foreign currency forward contracts HNEE = HA & 49 (BT 5E 22(ii))
(note 22(ii)) 3,631 -
Foreign currency option contracts HNEE B 1 & 49 (B 5F 22(iii))
(note 22(iii)) 1,497 -
17,729 -
Note: In September 2018, the Company entered into a facility MaEd - RZT-—NFAA ARAARIEE TR
agreement with several banks, and under such arrangement TAYHEHZE BEEBEZHE £
the Group was allowed to borrow HK$1,500,000,000 loan & B & £ 8 R 17 & A & F1,500,000,000
(the”HK$ Loan”) from the banks at floating interest rate BB TER]  E&Z36M@AHE
determined as “selected period Hong Kong interbank offered EHHEBEBRTAEFRE(TEBRIT
rate (“HIBOR") + 1.7%" per annum up to 36 months. In order BEEFED+TF1.7%] 078 F) E 5t
to manage the risk of interest rate fluctuation, the Company B -REBANERSER KNQAH
entered into three interest rate swap contracts for the HK$ BLTERI L= ERBEL-
Loan.
Major terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows: FEIFHEEERAT -
31 December 2018 —2-NE+ZA=+—-H
Nominal amount Maturity Swaps
EETH FHA =8
HK$500,000,000 12/12/2021 From HIBOR to 2.62%
500,000,000 % 7T —E-_—f+Z-A+=H BEBRITRARIFEE2.62%
HK$500,000,000 13/12/2021 From HIBOR to 2.59%
500,000,000 % 7T —T-_-%+_-H+=H B&BIRITREREE259%
HK$500,000,000 13/12/2021 From HIBOR to 2.60%
500,000,000 7% 7T T —%+ZA+=H B & BRITREFK S E260%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 2. Y EE

A — Nature of activities
The biological assets of the Group are dairy cows held to
produce raw milk.

The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group at end of
the reporting period is shown below. The Group's milkable
cows are dairy cows held for milk production. Heifers and
calves are those dairy cows that have not reached the age
that can produce milk.

INEY 23
AEEMENEEREBIFLERN
R

DT RAEERB S REAE DI F
BE-AEBONFREREDDI
EoNBERNEBERBEDFRD
7 4 -

2017

—T—+tF

heads

58

Milkable cows 5 4= 134,315 126,839
Heifers and calves INBF A RN 97,215 106,219
Total dairy cows LB 231,530 233,058

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes
in price of raw milk. The Group does not anticipate that
the price of the raw milk will decline significantly in the
foreseeable future and the Directors are of the view that
there is no available derivative or other contracts which the
Group can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the
price of the raw milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After an
approximately nine month pregnancy term, a calf is born
and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically milked
for approximately 340 days before approximately 60 days
dry period.

When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred
to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated
fair value on the date of transfer.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its
biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following
operating risks:

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

A — Nature of activities (continued)

i Regulatory and environmental risks
The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates plantation and breeding.
The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local
environmental and other laws. Management performs
regular reviews to identify environmental risks and
to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to
manage these risks.

ii.  Climate, disease and other natural risks
The Group's biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other
natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in
place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular inspections and disease controls and
surveys and insurance.

B — Quantity of the agricultural produce of the
Group's biological assets

24. £ Y EE @)

A-EKEMHE @

. EERBEERR
AEFHBEETEHREREEER
B 1B R B AT AT M B OR 2 ROE AR o
AEBEH EFEEETEMIRE
FPEMEZNEREBEBRRNRERF -
EEEENTETHRENZIIRE
REEkERREREEZHATUNEIERZ
=@M -

i. |R - EKFEREGARER
AEBNEMEEEREXRIR
Bl KRALREMAARERRESE
MEAR AEBECERERKHE
{ZERBNREF BREH®R
ERRBEFERSE KRR -

B-AEHEVNEENBRLEEN
BE

2017
—ET—tF

KG
TR

RENEE

Volume of milk sold

1,251,332,000 1,148,773,000

C - Value of dairy cows
The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows at end of the
reporting period is set out below:

C-34MEE
BEHROILF R FEREEKANH
BT

2017

—E—LtF

RMB’000

ARETF T

Milkable cows 4 5,636,013 5,336,570
Heifers and calves INEFAE RN 2,081,100 2,414,500
Total dairy cows LBt 7,717,113 7,751,070
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

C - Value of dairy cows (continued)

24 £ YWEEm@®

C-H4FMEHEG®R

Balance at 1 January 2017 R—_ZFT—tF—H—H

B 45 85 2,429,400 5,173,559 7,602,959
Feeding cost and £ & X 78 K H fth 48 8
other related costs BN 1,444,451 = 1,444,451
Transfer [ (1,976,835) 1,976,835 =
Decrease due to disposal +E R E (56,909) (371,094) (428,003)
Gain (loss) arising from 4R FEEER
changes in fair value less FLARREED
costs of dairy cows Was (B 18) 574,393 (1,442,730) (868,337)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R—_ZT—+F+ = A
=+ — BB 2,414,500 5,336,570 7,751,070
Feeding cost and 7 & X 7N K H th 48 8
other related costs B 2K 1,400,557 - 1,400,557
Transfer [ (2,024,581) 2,024,581 -
Decrease due to disposal & R E (90,739) (473,676) (564,415)
Gain (loss) arising from I RFEEHH
changes in fair value less FLA-BCARE AR
costs of dairy cows Wz (B 8) 381,363 (1,251,462) (870,099)
Balance at 31 December 2018 W Z_Z — NF+ = A
=+ —BeER 2,081,100 5,636,013 7,717,113

The Company has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal And Advisory Limited (“JLL") to assist it in assessing
the fair values of the Group's dairy cows. The independent
valuer and the management of the Group held meetings
periodically to discuss the valuation techniques and changes
in market information to ensure the valuations have been
performed properly. The valuation techniques used in the
determination of fair values as well as the key inputs used
in the valuation models are disclosed in note 42.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEmRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE =2 —NEFE+ =A==+ —HLEE
24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continuea) 24 £ Y EEm
C - Value of dairy cows (continued) C-A4MEE®@
As at 31 December 2018, the Group has pledged dairy cows RZE-NF+A=+—HB BR&EAX
of RMB875,471,000 (2017: RMB1,154,156,000) to banks to SEERETRATEBEN XEERRIT
secure certain bank borrowings of the Group (note 29). i 48 A R #875,471,0007T (2017 : A R

¥ 1,154,156,000 7T ) &) FL 4F (Bt 5£29) -

The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of AT a9 RRERE DAL QF
raw milk and from the change in fair value less costs to sell EZ2BREHEKNANELNS T RAK

of dairy cows is analysed as follows: B

2017
—E—tF
RMB'000
AR F T

Gains arising on initial recognition of RBERRNFERBESE

raw milk at fair value less cost to sell AR ERRS Y EE
at the point of harvest Uk 25 1,371,468 1,228,046

Loss arising from changes in fair value 2 ¥ {8 & 8 5 I 4 8 & 5K &~
less costs to sell of dairy cows EAmEiE (870,099) (868,337)
501,369 359,709

25. INVENTORIES 25. 7 &
2017
—F—tF
RMB’000
ARETF T
Feeds £A) K} 929,260 759,318
Finished goods 2K T = 31,700
Others H i 49,248 57,617
978,508 848,635
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEMBHRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 26. EIRE 5 IRR Kk H b FE I =X

ADVANCED PAYMENTS HE KA RIE

2017
T+ F
RMB'000
ARET T
Trade receivables EWE 5 R R 1,555,495 1,392,547
Bills receivable (note i) FE W = & (M5 i) = 500
Less: allowance for doubtful R BR B (B EE D
debts (note ii) - (495,167)
allowance for credit losses (note ii) EEEBEBE G (857,739) =
697,756 897,880
Advanced payments for feeds g K T2 MR8 R
and materials 75,069 97,178
Input value added tax recoverable A] Y [ 4 18 18 (E B 2,032 21,457
Receivables from Mengniu Group SHEEERLEEDE BEK
in respect of disposal of property, % Y R U SR IR (M9 7% 46)
plant and equipment (note 46) 1,681 =
Others H 1 4,635 5,554
781,173 1,022,069

Notes:

G

In October 2018, Inner Mongolia Mengniu issued an one year
commercial bill of RMB150,000,000 (the “Mengniu Bill”) to
Modern Farming. The Mengniu Bill was classified as financial
asset at FVTPL because the Mengniu Bill was considered as
neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both
to collect contractual cash flows and to sell business model.
Modern Farming subsequently endorsed RMB64,452,000 of
the Mengniu Bill to its suppliers to settle trade payables and
discounted the remaining RMB85,548,000 of the Mengniu
Bill. As the endorsements and the discount were without
recourse, Modern Farming derecognised the Mengniu Bill
and recognised gains of RMB1,427,000 during the current
year.

R-ZZE—NF+A REHERFRAE
REBEERBRT - FTHRIEZEA
R #150,000,000t(lE 4+ Z 1) &
S EESEAREREATEFSABRENS
BEE PHRRFZEEWE AL IE
BERKRAGORSREXNFERRE
NESREREEFERERX - BAK
¥(EEBrOMERERAREFRE
AR B64452000 B E LUEE 5
EARE BRRFZEHTARE
85,548,0007T - B A & & 8L IR I & 8
RiE - BRBAEEEBREAFERILRE
REFZHE IR = AR 1,427,000
o

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
ADVANCED PAYMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

In June 2017, the Group entered into a framework supply
and processing agreement with Mengniu Group, pursuant
to which the Group agreed to sell its liquid milk products to
Mengniu Group to enlarge its market share by leveraging
the established distribution channel of Mengniu Group. In
the meantime, the Group discontinued its direct cooperation
with other major distributors (the “Distributors”). Following
the above change in distribution channel, these Distributors
have been engaged by Mengniu Group as the secondary
distributors of Mengniu Group for distribution of liquid milk
products of the Group. In view of the termination of the
direct distributorship with these Distributors and the delay
of repayments, the Group anticipated the trade receivable
of RMB1,069,543,000 as at 31 December 2017 due from
these Distributors may not be fully recovered. After taking
into account of the present value of future collection and the
security of 318,697,354 ordinary shares of the Company (the
"Collaterals”) provided by certain individuals who used to be
the non-controlling equity holders of Modern Farming (Anhui)
Dairy Product Sales Co., Ltd. ("Modern Farming Anhui”) and
were responsible for selecting distributors, an impairment loss
of RMB488,489,000 was recognised in respect of the Group's
trade receivables due from these Distributors for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

During the current year, the Group performed the impairment
test of the trade receivables from the Distributors under
the ECL model and an additional impairment loss of
RMB358,891,000 was recognised after considering the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive from the Collaterals.
The movements are set out below.

26. B E 5 FRA K H B K

18 AR AT FOIE @)
M ()

R=ZZT—+tFRNA AEEHERFSE
BT ZERHERMNIBE &L
AEERERNSTFEELEERED
ER ZBEDRFEEXRANDHE
B EARNEMIG(hE - HLF
AEBKIEEEMEFESEE( D HE
AODHMEESFE ROoBEREHE £
Mm% ZESHEBEHERFEEE
ZEEASFEENRIE I HEE N
DEAEENRENER - EREZ
EHHENEECHEDKRIERES
ROAEBEHZESIHEHAR=-_Z —
tFE+_A=+t-—BEHERNEKRES
BR A R #1,069,543,000 7T 8k 1~ B & &
IEl e &t RARKE FEHEREBE R
ETEABERBMEERBIREESR
RAal(THRARBEEE] A IEER
BEHEATESTHES HEHEHNESR
At # 5318,697,354 1% X A 7) & B AR
WEFE(ERR]D) EREZSESHEBE
BE_ZEZ—+E+_-_A=+—HI*F
BHERAEENERE ZRARERR
B &5 B A K % 488,489,000 7T °

REAFEE AEEREHEAEEER
BB HEREREZRFKETHE
FE R A E B R E IR A R
BHREAERIBIIRMEBERRSA
R %358,891,0007T © 2 # B & 5N T o

At 1 January 2018 R=ZTE—-—NF—H—H 1,069,543 (488,489) 581,054
Settlement during the currentyear F A& H (4,353) - (4,353)
Amounts written off as uncollectible il $§ & & % X B /) & %8 (311) 311 -
Impairment losses recognised ERRRERERE = (358,891) (358,891)
At 31 December 2018 R=ZTB-N\F

+=-—HA=+—H 1,064,879 (847,069) 217,810
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 26. EIRE 5 IRR Kk H b FE I =X

ADVANCED PAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables at the end of the reporting period
principally represent receivables from sales of raw milk and
liquid milk products. The Group allows credit periods of 30
to 120 days to its customers.

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables and
bills receivable, net of allowance for credit losses (doubtful
debts), presented based on the invoice dates at the end of
the reporting period, which approximated the respective
revenue recognition dates at the end of the reporting period:

H MR RE@
BREHRNERESREREZRHEE
R R e RE I EE R A FE U FRTE o R £
B4 TFTHEEFIEI0ANEEH-

RBEEHRREZR(BREAKREH
WaRARAER) 2 NEKE H K
AEEEEZEMGKEEBR(RE) &
WM BRE DT

2017
—E—tF
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Trade receivables EWE 5 RN
— within 120 days - 120K A 479,445 314,426
— beyond 120 days but within 1 year -120KRA EB1EUR = 77,583
- beyond 1 year but within 2 years -1FENEBE2FUR 75,132 505,371
— beyond 2 years but within 3 years -2F LA EE3F AR 143,179 =
Bills receivable JE 1 &
— within 120 days - 120K A A - 500
697,756 897,880

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will internally
assess the credit quality of the potential customer and define
appropriate credit limits. Credit quality and credit limits
attributed to customers are reviewed once a year. As at
31 December 2017, 41% of the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring
under the internal credit scoring system used by the Group.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A

FEMTAFEFN ALEBEHTH
HZEERFNEELEEYHRTHEHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

ADVANCED PAYMENTS (continued)

Aged analysis of trade receivables which are past due but

26 EWE SRR EMEKRR
8 LR FE A RO
DABHETRBAENERESERM

not impaired: AR oA
2017
—E—+tF
RMB’000
ARET T
1-90 days past due #HI1Z 90K 201,975
91-180 days past due BHEI91 E 180K 165,443
181-270 days past due #EI181 = 270K 99,327
271-360 days past due B H 271 2 360K 61,931
Over 360 days past due i HA360 K LA £ 4,828
Total 48 =t 533,504
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts: REBEEZY:
2017
—E—-tF
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January wn—H—H 1,589
Impairment losses recognised during the year FREBRRREEIER 495,271
Amounts written off as uncollectible W A EE W B A S %8 (1,693)
At 31 December R+—-—B=+—8H 495,167
As at 31 December 2017, included in the allowance for RZZE—+ttF+_A=+—"8 REE

doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables HEFERER R A K 495,167,000 7T &

with an aggregate balance of RMB495,167,000.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set

out in note 40.

BRI ERERYKE SRR -

BE_T-N\F+-_A=+—-HLL#HF
EEZRAMBERRAREBFGEFE
5 M EE40
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

27. PLEDGED BANK BALANCES AND NON-
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH

AND BANK BALANCES
Pledged bank balances and non-pledged bank deposits

27. CEHRITES RERAR

TERRRERBRITEER

EERRTERMARERBITER

2017

—x e aE

RMB'000

AR T T

Pledged bank balances CEMRBITER 61,355 116,467
Non-pledged bank deposits with REIEA BB =18 A &

original maturity of more than RNERRITFERK
three months - 15,000
61,355 131,467

The pledged bank balances represent deposits pledged for
letter of credit and bills payable. The pledged bank balances
carry interest at prevailing market saving rates ranging from
0.35% to 1.30% (2017: 0.35% to 1.30%) per annum at 31
December 2018.

Non-pledged bank deposits with original maturity of more
than three months were held with banks and carry interest
at prevailing market saving rate of 1.56% per annum at 31
December 2017.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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EERARTEARERANERERZE
ENEENER-R_ZE-NF+ =
A=t—H BEARARTERKRREEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 @ ZE=—ZE—\NF+ A=+ —HLEE

27. PLEDGED BANK BALANCES AND NON-

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH
AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances comprise cash and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
which are held with banks and carry interest at prevailing
market saving rate of 0.30% to 1.61% (2017: 0.35%) per
annum at 31 December 2018.

Pledged bank balances, non-pledged bank deposits and
cash and bank balances at 31 December 2017 and 2018 are
denominated in US$, Euro (“EUR"), HK$ and RMB. RMB
is not freely convertible in the international market. The
exchange rate of RMB is determined by the government of
the PRC and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is
subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the government
of the PRC.

Certain pledged bank balances, non-pledged bank deposits
and cash and bank balances that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant

27. E EHEBIT

B RERE
TERRRERRITEHu@

ReERBITER
R—ZE—NFE+_A=+—HB BRek
BOEBREERESRGFEABRTRENT
MBEFERNEEFF030%E161%(ZZ
—tF:03B%)FEMNREPA A=
AU AMEBRTER-

RZE—tEtFR_ZE—NF+=A=
+—HMEERRITESR  REHRT
GRERESRBITEHRTIAET BT
([ BLTRAREGFE - ARK
FEBEMS EMEEBR LR ARBS
EETHFPREBNEE MEZEES
P HELEZIFTBRBNEEAERL
EH TR -

NEBMERNINEEBE AN TS
BEMETEERRTER KREMRRT
FRERE RRITEHREIIMT

entities are set out below:

2017

—E—+tF

RMB'000

AR T T

US$ - pledged bank balances ETL-BEERRITHES = 22,751
US$ - cash and bank balances En-BHEe RBITHEK 99,466 146,581
EUR — cash and bank balances Bt -Re MIRITER 458 1,410
HK$ — cash and bank balances Brr-Hae kRTHES 2,912 6,928
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N EL L
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 EZE =2 —NF+ A=+ —HLEFE
28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ERNESZHRARREMES
15
The credit period granted by suppliers for trade purchases HEEBRTHERBERNEESH —RKRA
is generally 120 days. The following is an aged analysis of 120K - U TRRBEHARNENE S
trade and bills payable at the end of the reporting period: BR AR T R A BRI DA
2017
—F—tF
RMB'000
AR T
Trade payables &8 5 B &
— within 60 days - 60K A 1,177,301 926,757
— beyond 60 days but within 120 days - BiB0KENRI120K AKX 230,043 296,373
— beyond 120 days but within 360 days ~ — i % 120 X {8 74 360 X LA A 27,912 44,959
— beyond 360 days but within 720 days - i i 360K B A 720 X LA A 19,117 10,483
Bills payable (note) JE 1~ 2= & (Bt 35) 550 61,458
1,454,923 1,340,030
Payable for acquisition of property, BEME BWENMXE
plant and equipment & f~t 7118 224,437 393,745
Accrued staff costs JEEt B T A 84,582 84,548
Advance payments from disposal of RHEAFREMH
dairy cows and others TE U 3k 18 56,869 17,791
Amounts due to Mengniu (note 46) FE T 5 A 89 5kIE (B 52 46) 143,048 -
Other payable to Mengniu (note 46) E b JE R 4 3OE (M 52 46) 18,000 -
Others H 1 90,504 69,462
2,072,363 1,905,576
Note: Bills payable are bank accepted and mature within twelve M :-EBNEBRARRITEAL RSB EH
months from the respective issuance dates. THEEBFTZEARIIE-

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

29. BANK BORROWINGS

29. |RITH/EK

2017
—E—tF
RMB'000
ARET T
Bank borrowings: RATE K
Unsecured 4 3K 4 3,972,022 3,468,694
Secured (note) A B (&) 465,480 12,516
4,437,502 3,481,210
Carrying amount repayable: ERATNEAREEMNEREE:
Within one year —FE PN 1,691,109 1,568,181
Between one to two years —EWF 2,316,393 516,000
Between two to five years e 430,000 1,397,029
4,437,502 3,481,210
Less: Amounts due within one year B ARBBEN —FA
shown under current liabilities B H & 58 1,691,109 1,568,181
2,746,393 1,913,029
Note: Certain bank loans as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were Mz RZB-NERZZ-—tF+ZR=
secured by biological assets owned by the Group as set out T-HMETRTEFBASERS
in note 24. B4 & E (R s 24) fEHE 48 -
The bank borrowings comprise: RITERERE
2017
—EB—tF
RMB'000
AR F T
Fixed-rate borrowings FBER 1,218,401 1,354,100
Variable-rate borrowings 7 BB 3,219,101 2,127,110
4,437,502 3,481,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 29. iR 1T & @)

As disclosed in note 22, the Group was allowed to
borrow a bank loan of US$300,000,000 in September 2017
bearing interest rate at LIBOR + 1.9% per annum and
the upfront fee amounted to US$5,400,000 (equivalent
to RMB35,839,000). The Group withdrew US$170,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,127,603,000) during the year ended 31
December 2017 and withdrew US$130,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB824,668,000) during the current year, and the effective
interest rate is 4.18% per annum.

Save as set out above, the effective interest rates of the
Group's bank borrowings equal to contracted interest rates.
The effective interest rates per annum are as follows:

BN E22HE  AEEEER_-Z —
+ F N A B R 17 & A & 300,000,000
EL BEEBBETEAEFRE+1.9%
B A R} A& $05,400,0003% 7T (& R A
R # 35,839,000 T ) & AT 57 Z &t B o
AEBREBEZE_Z—+tF+=-A=+
— B Ik £ JZ 2 B 170,000,000 7T (48 &
B A R #1,127,603,0007T ) © I B &N F
/£ $2 X 130,000,000 7T (B & BN A R ¥
824,668,0007T) * B F F K 54.18% °

B Lt FS > REBRITEROERA
RERNRABAOFNER-ULTREERSFHN

K

2017
—EB—tF

Fixed-rate borrowings

34
clh ot
oF TF
el

o

Variable-rate borrowings

Interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are determined
based on the borrowing rates announced by the People's
Bank of China and the LIBOR.

As at 31 December 2018, bank borrowings denominated in
RMB, US$ and EUR are approximately RMB2,161,137,000
(2017: RMB2,236,642,000), RMB2,118,837,000 (2017:
RMB1,142,419,000) and RMB157,528,000 (2017:
RMB102,149,000), respectively.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERRBEZERERAF

0.45%-5.00%
2.65%-4.80%

0.90%-4.79%
2.65%-6.40%

FERERNFMETNREFBEARRT
DR ERMNERBRBETRERES
BE-

RZE-—NF+ZA=+—8'HUA
RE& - ZETRBTAENRITERS
B & A AR #2161,137,0000( = & —
+F AR #2,236,642,0007T) « AR
2,118,837,000t(ZFE — £ F: AR ¥
1,142,419,0007T) & A & # 157,528,000 7T
ZE—+tF: AR¥102,149,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
II‘/-\’%/E\jﬁﬁi M:.I'-E‘I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE=—ZFE—\E+=-A=+—HLEFE
30. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES 30 H R E B

2017
S
RMB'000
ARBET T
Within one year —FE R 621,880 1,267,437
Between one to two years —FEEME = 599,458
621,880 1,866,895
Less: Amount due within one year B — F R E H 8
(shown under current liabilities) B EHBEET) 621,880 1,267,437
Amount due after one year —F & 5 BRIE = 599,458
Notes: B o -
i On 23 March 2016, Modern Farming issued medium-term notes RZF-—ARF=A=-t+t=8 8K
with an aggregate principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000 WME(EER)Z®T ':F' HER KXo #
which will mature in two years. The medium-term notes bear % A& A K ®1,000,000,0007T © # A W

a fixed interest rate of 4.60% per annum. Related transaction
costs amounted to RMB3,000,000. The effective interest rate
is 4.91% per annum. These notes were repaid on 21 March
2018.

On 23 March 2016, Modern Farming issued medium-term
notes with an aggregate principal amount of RMB600,000,000
which will mature in three years. The medium-term notes bear
a fixed interest rate of 4.75% per annum. Related transaction
costs amounted to RMB1,800,000. The effective interest rate
is 4.86% per annum.

On 11 February 2015, Modern farming issued medium-term
notes with an aggregate principal amount of RMB200,000,000
which will mature in three years. The medium-term notes bear
a fixed interest rate of 6.00% per annum. These notes were
repaid on 9 February 2018.

~

FRIM-AHMEENBEAEMNER
BFLI0% - HEAXSGZRARARE
3,000,0007C « B BR A = 5 & F491% °
ZERBER-_ZE-NF=ZA=-+—
B XAt

RZE—XR"EF=ZA=-+=ZH BRHK
E¥EEEDBRTHPHER A28 AA
R #600,000,0007C * #7 =F 1% 5 5 -

FHEENBETENRXRAEEF475% - 11
X5 KABAR18000007T - &
BFEETFL86%-

R-ZE—RFEF_A+—H BRKE
(EE)BETHBEEE ASBLBEAEA
R #200,000,0007C * # 7 = F & EIH -
FHZEENE TR R BT F6.00% %
EZEBEER_TE—NFE_AALBXff-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

31. CORPORATE BONDS

. DX AEEF

2017

T— Lt F

RMB'000

ARBET T

Corporate bonds UNEIREE 1,087,568 1,084,867

Less: Amount due within one year W — F AR B FRIA
(shown under current liabilities) B RHBEBEET) 1,087,568 39,106
Amount due after one year —F 1% B B ZR 1B - 1,045,761
Notes: Bt &

In June 2016, Modern Farming obtained approval from RZE-—RERA BRAKE(EER)
China Securities Regulatory Commission to issue corporate KOEISEEERZE SR AN
bonds in the PRC of an aggregate principal amount up to HEZBR2EBANEREBITAS A
RMB2,000,000,000 within 24 months from the approval. On BERZ A E WZ,OO0,000,000% SOR/NNC]
12 August 2016, Modern Farming issued the first tranche of BHFE RZFE-—X"EFNA+=ZB &

the corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount of
RMB250,000,000 which will mature in three years (the “2016
Corporate Bond"”). The corporate bonds bear a fixed interest
rate of 5.30% per annum. Related transaction costs amounted
to RMB1,125,000. The effective interest rate is 5.47% per
annum.

ii. On 28 March 2017, Modern Farming issued the second tranche
of corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount of
RMBB800,000,000 which will mature in three years (the 2017
Corporate Bond"). The corporate bonds bear a fixed interest
rate of 5.49% per annum. Related transaction costs amounted
to RMB3,600,000. The effective interest rate is 5.66% per
annum.

Pursuant to the corporate bond prospectus, the bondholders
are granted a redemption option after 27 March 2019.
Accordingly, the 2017 Corporate Bond is classified as current
liability in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2018.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A

REEEBRBZTEMRRARNES K
& # 5 & A R ¥250,000,0007T @ # %
_E{%IJHHU_? NERBESFD -
NREIEFHEENE BT F530% 18
XK AAEARK11250007T - B
BRARETFS47%-

ii. RZFE—+tF=ZA=-+/\B BRK
¥(EE)BRTE-_HATES X%
48 %8 A A R %800,000,0007C 0 # B =
¢1é BB —tF2rEH)D-
NElEHFHNEEFNEAS F549% - 18
Eﬁi%ﬁimﬁAE%ﬁm,éoo,oooﬁog
BXF & B E F5.66% °

BEARGBHFEEHNAE EFHFE
ARZE-—NE=ZA-+tHEER
fE B % o .lﬂ: )\5/\7 T-NFE+=A
=+—8" —tFERAEEFEHBR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

32. OTHER BORROWINGS

32. H ftb f&

2017
—E—+F
RMB’000
ARET T
Principal amounts payable: JEN A€ €58
Within one year —FR
— Collateralised borrowing (note) - B &3R5 (K ) - 39,604
- Borrowings from Mengniu Group -RHEEEER
(note 46(d)) (Fit 5% 46(d)) 1,001,111 1,066,511
1,001,111 1,106,115
Less: Amounts due within one year B FANB S E KA
(shown under current liabilities) B RHBEBEET) 1,001,111 1,106,115

Amounts due after one year

—FRIPEERA

Note: In June 2016, Bengbu, which was formerly a subsidiary of

CERR -

—RNERNA-AEHAKER

the Group and became an associate since the end of March
2018, entered into a financing arrangement with Far Eastern
Leasing Co., Ltd., pursuant to which the Group transferred the
legal title of certain equipment of the Group to Far Eastern
Leasing Co., Ltd. at net consideration of RMB9%6,250,000
and meanwhile leased back. Upon the maturity of the lease,
Bengbu is entitled to purchase back the equipment at cash
consideration of RMB100. Despite the arrangement involves a
legal form of a lease, Bengbu accounted for the arrangement
as a collateralised borrowing at amortised cost using effective
interest method, in accordance with the substance of the
arrangement.

AIERB(ITE-_ZT—NF=ZAKEBK
A B % /X A)) B2 Far Eastern Leasing Co.,
Ltd. AT ME L - Bk - XEBDUF
B A K ¥ 96,250,000 7t [7] Far Eastern
Leasing Co., Ltd BE A KB E TR E
MEATEREIRERED - RNEEDH
BN -EREEEURESKREARKI0
THEEXHE BELHESRBEENE
B EHERBLHENEEARSR
FRERME ZREHEKNAREZHEA
EAEBEEMMER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEMBHRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—F—N\F+ A=+ —B LEE

33. DEFERRED INCOME 33.IEZE WA
Balance at 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+tEF—F—HN&H 170,602
Addition NE 31,729
Released to income PN (17,844)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R-ZZT—tF+_A=+—HHER 184,487
Addition NE 11,899
Decrease due to disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) B EHE QR B R A (M 5E38) (24,630)
Released to income = WA (19,067)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZBE-NEFE+-_A=+—8B0N&EH% 152,689

Deferred income represents government grants obtained
in relation to the construction and acquisition of property,
plant and equipment. Government grants are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as deferred
income and credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

34. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 34.

ELEWAERRRBENE BE AR
BESHNBRFM BN ESRES Y
BRARAIERLERA A REHEE
ENAERFHANRERET AR -

BRNEE

Sales of raw milk 55 & R K

232

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM I.REAUEERD cERREE
AND RESERVES

Share capital g A<
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B0 T H B IR
Authorised 7N
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 —E—+F—-H—H"
and 2018 —Et+ERZIZE-NF
+=—A=+—H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid EEITRBR
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+tF—H—H 5,304,768 530,477
Ordinary shares issued for acquisition of /& Ug B8 JE 4% AX R 25 T 2 1T 89
non-controlling interests (note 37(a)) L AR (M 52 37(a)) 338,602 33,860
Ordinary shares issued for settlement ~ A& E LB BMETH
of Modified Considerations @R (EE R T )
(defined below) (note) 488,037 48,804
At 31 December 2017 and 2018 RZE—+ERZFT-NEF
+=—A=+—H 6,131,407 613,141
2017
=
RMB'000
AR® T
Presented as 255 526,058 526,058
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
AND RESERVES (continued)

Share capital (continued)

Note: On 23 September 2013, the Company entered into two
agreements (the “JV Agreements”) with Success Dairy I
Limited (“Success Dairy”). Pursuant to the JV Agreements,
the Company and Success Dairy established ADH Companies.
According to the JV Agreements, the Group owned 18%
equity interests and Success Dairy owned the remaining 82%
equity interests of ADH Companies.

Pursuant to the JV Agreements: (1) the Company granted to
Success Dairy an option to require the Company to purchase
from Success Dairy up to all loans or borrowings owed by
ADH Companies to Success Dairy from time to time and the
shares held by Success Dairy in the ADH Companies from
time to time (the above are collectively referred to as the
“Success Dairy Assets”) (the “Put Option”); and (2) Success
Dairy granted the Company an option to require Success
Dairy to sell to the Company up to all the Success Dairy
Assets (the “Call Option”). The Put and Call Options will be
exercisable three years after the first day on which the farms
owned by the ADH Companies produce milk for sale and will
expire by the end of the seventh year after the date of the JV
Agreements. The Put Option and Call Option are exercisable
for JV Agreements, respectively.

On 6 July 2015, the Company and Success Dairy entered into
an agreement (the “Share Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to
which the Company agreed to purchase and Success Dairy
agreed to sell the 82% equity interests in the ADH Companies
held by Success Dairy (the "Acquisition”). The total
consideration payable by the Company for the Acquisition
shall be the issuance of 477,429,132 ordinary shares of
the Company (the "Consideration Shares”), representing
approximately 9.0% of the enlarged issued share capital of
the Company.

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement, Success Dairy has
undertaken to the Company that it shall not, and will procure
that none of its affiliates will, at any time during a three-year
period (the “Lock-up Period”) from the date on which the
sale and purchase of the Success Dairy Assets pursuant to the
Share Purchase Agreement has been completed, transfer or
dispose of any Consideration Shares.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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#% S ADH R 7] £ B #82% B 1 ([ W I8
ZERD -ARTRWBERARBMNOR
BHEFEERBEITARAHAL77,429,132
BREBRIRERND BERAA
AEEAEITRALNIO% -

1B ¥% B8 AR 1% 5% + Success Dairy B ] &
REIERBH BETEULRKREEELES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM IS.BEAURBROD B R FHE@®
AND RESERVES (continued)

Share capital (continued) & NE )
Note: (continued) B o« (88
Upon the expiry of the Lock-up Period, in the event that: REEHBEMRE MEEUTER:
. the value of the Consideration Shares calculated based BERNMEEZESERB B

on the volume weighted average closing price of the
shares for a period of forty-five trading days immediately
preceding the lock-up expiry date is less than US$308
million, the Company shall pay Success Dairy by further
issuance of ordinary shares of the Company and/or in
immediately available funds the difference between the
value of the Consideration Shares and US$308 million
(the “Value Adjustment Undertaking 1"); or

J the value of the Consideration Shares calculated based
on the volume weighted average closing price of the
shares for a period of forty-five trading days immediately
preceding the lock-up expiry date is more than US$363
million, Success Dairy shall pay the Company in cash or
shall return part of the Consideration Shares equivalent
in value to 20.0% of the difference between the value
of the Consideration Shares and US$363 million to
the Company (the “Value Adjustment Undertaking Il”)
(the Value Adjustment Undertaking | and the Value
Adjustment Undertaking Il are collectively referred to
as the "Value Adjustment Undertakings”).

On 12 December 2016, the Group and Success Dairy entered

m+-EERXZBEHABOKRE
mEFHRTESENRKER
1 & 1 2 7 308,000,000 7T * A&
RAANE —FETRARAE
WA RSB A BB € (A
Success DairyZ M K B IR 7 B &
£2308,000,0003 T A &) Z= F ([ &
EREAEID K

BERGOZZEZEEMA AT
+HER S HBPE/KREMNE
FHBTEFENRERMDE
{B #t8 8 363,000,000 JT ' Success
DairyZE LA 3] & [ A & 8 X i 3%
REFHSRERD HEEBRSE
R E IR 0 & {8 #2363,000,000 %
JC A ZE B 20.0% ([ BB 7 &
EENID(BEEFAEAREIRER
FAEAREIZBAIEEA B &
&l -

ZE—RFE+ZARTZH X5 H

into a supplemental deed to the Share Purchase Agreement, HiSuccess Dairys] & —H BB IR 1% & &
pursuant to which, either party is granted an option to FRRE B EFEREERE AE
request the counterparty to early settle the Value Adjustment R FTIREBFEEBERABAE -

Undertakings.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 5. BRAUR KR ERRE®

AND RESERVES (continued)

Share capital (continued) & NE )
Note: (continued) M ax : (5B)
On 28 December 2016, Success Dairy issued a conditional RZZE-—R"FE+=ZA=Z+NH"

exercise notice (the “Exercise Notice"”) to the Group, pursuant
to which Success Dairy conditionally exercised its option
to early settle the Value Adjustment Undertakings at total
considerations of US$254,800,000 including values of the
Consideration Shares previously issued to Success Dairy.
Pursuant to the settlement arrangement, the Group shall issue
additional 488,036,618 ordinary shares (the “Supplemental
Consideration Shares”, the market value of which amounted
to RMB833,808,000 at 31 December 2016) and pay cash
of US$13,424,231 (equivalent to RMB93,124,000 as at 31
December 2016) (the “Cash Considerations”, together with
the Supplemental Consideration Shares are referred to as
“"Modified Considerations”). The exercise notice is conditional
on the signing of a sale and purchase agreement between
Success Dairy and Mengniu in respect of the Company’s
ordinary shares owned by Success Dairy on or before 6
January 2017 and the shareholders’ approval of the sale and
purchase agreement at the shareholders’ meeting of Mengniu
on or before 13 March 2017.

The share purchase agreement was approved by an
extraordinary general meeting of Mengniu on 3 February
2017.

On 6 February 2017, the Company issued ordinary shares of
488,036,618 shares and paid cash of US$13,424,231 to settle the
Modified Considerations, resulting in a loss of RMB15,361,000
on derecognition. The excess of RMB807,037,000, being the
difference of the fair value of the ordinary shares issued of
RMBB850,194,000 over the par value of the ordinary shares of
HK$48,804,000 (equivalent to RMB43,157,000), was recorded
in share premium.

Success Dairy ] 7~ & B % 1 B K4 17
FE@aMITERIM]) » #8 1t Success
Dairy BT EEARIREEHEEE
A B A E - 48 K {8 /254,800,000 T
(B 4& 1B F 8 7 T Success Dairy#) X (B
BOBMEBR) RELFEZHE A&H
7B B 17 %8 91488,036,618 % & @ AR ([ 44
TREBHO] RZFTE—~"F+=A
=+ —H®WEA AR 833,808,000
)RR £13,424231FE L (R =&
—RNE+TZA=T—"BHERARK
93,124,0007t) ([REeRE| ZRMRE
REROABIEBITRED - TFEB
A 7H #F Success Dairy 8 5 4= 1 — T —
+ &% — A /X B =k 2 31 3t Success Dairy
BENARAEBREZITEEHHEKR
BRERZZT—tF=ZA+t=BLZAH
ERFHBRRAS LIEEERER
HAHEER -

BEBER _T-—EtF_HA=REXR
FHBRRERN KRG HAE -

RZE—+HE-F B XQA
17488,036,618/% & @ Ix & X 1 ]
13424231 E T A BN BT RE -« 2
B OEN OH B R BF B B A R 15,361,000
gL o B %8 A R #807,037,0007T A& & 3
1TE BN FE AR 850,194,000 7T
g ¥ 3@ A% T {E 48,804,000 T (48 &
AR ®43,157,0000) 2 B Z5 - ¥ &

d fp B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRMETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE
35. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM I5. BRAURBRGD EE R #E@

AND RESERVES (continued)

Other reserve H b 1 15
Balance at 1 January 2017 (note) RZZE—tF— A — B0 HFE) 1,585,752
Acquisition of non-controlling interests (note 37(a)) U & 3|E 172 [i% 4 = (BJ 7£37(a)) (555,297)
Deemed acquisition of non-controlling interests 48 F 4t B8 JF 372 A% 4% 25 (Bt 3£ 37(b))

(note 37(b)) (50,502)
At 31 December 2017 and 2018 RZE-—LtHERZZF—N\F
+—-—A=+—H 979,953
Note: The balance of other reserve as at 1 January 2017 mainly e R_F—+tF N A _Fl H Ao % 8 45 81
represented the contribution from the owners of the Company x g BARFRERAARARENEE
for the operation of the Group. HiE -

Shares held under the Share Award Scheme R0 R B BRSO KRG
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZE—+F-A—-BW&EHK 61,424
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share sward HBRDEETEEE T BR

scheme 713
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZFE—+tF+ZA=+—BH&EH 62,137
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share sward HBRHDRETEEE T BR

scheme (note 36(c)) (Pt 5% 36(c)) 23,583
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZA=+—BHN&EH 85,720
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Share Option Schemes

The Company has three outstanding share options and
two of them was vested as at 31 December 2016. Details
of the third one is set out in the below paragraphs.

On 8 November 2016, the Company announced that a
total of 146,650,000 share options (the “Share Options
[11") to subscribe for shares of HK$0.10 each in the
capital of the Company were granted to 7 executives
(including 2 directors) and 222 eligible employees
(collectively, the “Scheme IIl Grantees”), subject to
acceptance of the grantees, under the Company’s
Share Option Scheme Il adopted by the Company on
8 November 2016.

The Share Options Il shall entitle the Scheme Il
Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 146,650,000
new shares upon the exercise of the Share Options llI
in full at an exercise price of HK$1.71 per share.

Pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme llI,
the Share Options Ill granted to each of the Scheme Il|
Grantees are deemed to be divided into three tranches,
each of which consists of one third of the granted
options and are associated with a performance target
within a 12-month financial period. The non-market
based performance target, which is set up based on
the job responsibilities of the respective grantees, such
as production management, financial management,
marketing development or procurement management,
etc, has been determined by the Board and specified in
the offer letter to each of the Scheme Ill Grantees. The
financial period for the first tranche is the 12 months
ended 31 December 2016; the financial period for the
second tranche is the 12 months ended 31 December
2017; and the financial period for the third tranche is
the 12 months ended 31 December 2018. Each tranche
of the Share Options Il after meeting the respective
performance target and on fulfilment of the service
condition are vested on a one-off basis at the end of the
third financial period. Any of the Share Options Ill not
vested as a result of non-fulfiliment of the performance
target at the end of the respective specific financial
periods shall automatically lapse.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BZE =2 - N\NF+ A=+ —HLFE
36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 36. LB X WA RRZ @
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) Share Option Schemes (continued) (a) BRESE @
Out of the aggregate of 146,650,000 Share Options £ & #£146,650,00017 BE A% #11l 2
1, 38,600,000 Share Options Il were granted to 7 ® -+ 38,600,00017 & X #EIIE 5 5l
executives of the Company (“Share Option |”) and BTARBT7TRZITHAE ([# & #
the remaining Share Options Il were granted to 222 INDERHTHERZEINR R T2228 45
eligible employees (“Share Option J”), respectively. ERES(TEREID -
Other information of the Share Options Il is set out BRENNEMEREINNT
below:
Exercise price of the HK$1.71 AR RE NI Y 17158 7T
Share Options IlI: T8 -
Closing price of the shares HK$1.71 BRORELE BB 1718 T
on the date of grant: Y 1 T (8
Validity period of the Share  Five (5) years on the B AR RE N1 Y T F BHER
Options llI: date when the B P EE BB
options become 5t
vested
The following table discloses movements of the Share TRBEBERBEE-F - LHF+= —
Options Ill during the year ended 31 December 2017: A=+—BLLFEERREINNEZ
& :
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Forfeited Accepted the as at
1 January during Offer during 31 December
Category 2017 the year the year 2017
R-ZZF-tF R-B-tF
-A-H tZHB=+-H
5l e 47 2 ERRY FREIZED i & 17 &
Share Option | BRE 38,600,000 - (38,600,000) -
Share Option J BRiE 108,050,000 (150,000) (107,900,000) -
146,650,000 (150,000) (146,500,000) -
The fair values of Share Option | and Share Option J RELBHER _BEXAHEEE
determined at the date of grant using the Binomial BRHETHNBEBREBEINBEREIR
Option Pricing Model were HK$30,810,000 (equivalent EE D B A30,810,0007 T (HH & »
to RMB26,941,000) and HK$80,124,000 (equivalent to A R ¥ 26,941,000 7T ) K 80,124,000
RMB70,061,000) respectively. BT (HE R AR®70,061,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Share Option Schemes (continued)
The following assumptions were used to calculate the
fair values of the Share Options IlI:

/

36. LB EZHHNARRZ @

(a)

Share Options |

B B R 5T 8l (m)
LWTEBETRHETERERKREZEINDN
DA

Share Options J

BRI BRE)
Grant date share price o BB RE HK$1.71 & JT HK$1.71 & 7T
Exercise price TEEE HK$1.71 & 7T HK$1.71 & 7T
Expected volatility T8 8K 18 46.55% 46.55%
Option life B I B IR Five years F1 Five years f1 &
Dividend yield iz B = 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 4 [ g F &= 0.92% 0.92%
Sub-optional factor RIERZ= 2.8 2.2

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over
the years since being listed.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the
fair value of the share options are based on the best
estimate of the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of
the Share Options llI.

In February 2017, Mengniu made a mandatory cash
offer (the "Offer”) to acquire and cancel all of the
outstanding share options issued by the Company. In
March 2017, all of the grantees of share option schemes
and one grantee of Modern Farming Option Scheme
(see below) accepted the offer and therefore all of
the outstanding options issued under Share Option
Schemes and 9,142,924 share options of Modern
Farming Option Scheme were acquired and cancelled
by Mengniu. The cancellation of share options that have
not been vested is accounted for as acceleration of
vesting, resulting in an one-off share option expense of
RMB92,623,000 recognised upon the cancellation and
the amount of RMB204,543,000 previously recognised
in share options reserve in respect of these cancelled
share option schemes was transferred to retained
earnings.
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PERABEERBER A

BEHEBIOEMRBARAEBE LMK
REERENELKBETE -

ARAEBREAFENZEER

BREREENRELGAREE -

“E&fﬁxméﬁ @J—Jﬁ%;\ B
BRI »FE LR

EA:;‘ t&F A E4RnaE#E
TRHlIEReZENTEZ4]) K
ﬁﬁjﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmxﬂai%ﬁﬂw&
TEERE - R_ZE—+F=1"
FFEEREFENARAR — %
BARBMEERESTS(RE TXOH
ERABMZELY Bt BIE
ERETEBEITHNAERRITE
Bﬁ%ﬁé&fﬁﬁ%{%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁé%im
912924 EREEEARKF A
BELWTHE THEHRS %E’Jﬁﬁ
RENEAEMREBE EEH —
WO BE R A B 2 A R 92,623,000
TRAHEBEER mHZELD T
HERETS TR BERERE
®RE e AR 204,543,000 7T
BEBEREAF -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

36. UM XN NRRZmw

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRAN SACTIO N S (continued)

(b)

Modern Farming Option Scheme

The Modern Farming Option Scheme was adopted
pursuant to agreement dated 9 June 2009 for the
primary purpose of providing incentives to directors
and eligible employees of Modern Farming and its
subsidiaries, and will expire on 8 June 2019. Under
the Modern Farming Option Scheme, Modern
Farming granted options to two directors and one top
management of Modern Farming (the “MF Grantees")
to subscribe for a total of RMB10,821,069 paid-in capital
(the "MF Options”) and each MF option has an exercise
price of RMB5.9883 per RMB1 paid-in capital on 17
June 2009, which were vested immediately.

At 30 June 2010, the amount of paid-in capital in
respect of which MF Grantees can subscribe for and
remained outstanding under the Modern Farming
Scheme was RMB10,821,069, representing 2.09% of
the paid-in capital of Modern Farming at that date.

On 31 October 2010, the Company granted to the
MF Grantees a total of 87,412,507 share options of
the Company for nil consideration and each with an
exercise price of HK$0.86 (RMBO0.74) per share (the
"Management Options”) to replace the MF Options
which lapsed and ceased to have effect at the same
time. The Company’s management considers that the
Management Options granted is a replacement of the
MF Options granted and the incremental fair value
caused by the replacement of the MF Options with the
Management Options is insignificant. The following
table discloses movements of the Management
Options during the current year. There are no other
movements such as granted, exercised, forfeited, and
expired both in current and prior year.

(b)

IR A 4K 3 B8 AR R T B

HERHMEBREETDRE RS
BZZEZTNFNANBEHH
EERM FEZEEEARBERBER
HfBAAMEZTRSERKES
REEE TER_ZF—NLF X
A \B Ew e B3\ KR EER
BEE RAKERDRARKKER
HEER—FEEaEREEBEAB(R
RBMEARADELDREA &
AR #10,821,069 7T B #1 & A ) BE
RETERKREERE]D) MEH
BRBEBRER-_ZEZTNLF S
A+tHNTEFEEASEARKIT
BEHMEARAANRES98837T ' B Bl EF

}g’_g; °

5

R-ZZE-—ZFXRA=1tH BRK
BMEARARBRALREFTI T
ARBEBRRARBNERELNRE
= A K %10,821,0697T - fh 3 K
ERZBEHEHEARAN2.09% -

=

AZE—ZEFFA=F+—H K
RAINZEREBMBERBEERRA
B A 87,412,507 19 K A 7 R
E-BHBERETEEAER0SS
BITARK0747T) [BIEEHEK
D UABRBEBFELEIALTH
ERHMBRBAEBERE XQF
EEERAE RENEREBEBR
BEDDEREBRENBERKERER
EOMBEEEEEREZEARAR
WMEBRESIBMEBELAFLEYL
TERX - TEREZEEEEERE
REAEENEGH - XEFERBA
FTESEEMEH(MERLE B
T -BRBEE R -
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Outstanding |
and
Outstanding exercisable
as at Accepted the as at
1 January Offer during 31 December
Category 2018 the year

R=ZB-N\f

= R

I8 7 47 BIZED
Management Options ERERRE 50,930,832 - 50,930,832
Outstanding
and
Outstanding exercisable
as at Accepted the as at
1 January Offer during 31 December
Category L 2017 the year 2017
RZZ—+&F
R-_F—+#% +=ZA=+-H
—A—H R AT
AT BXEN kAR
Management Options ER BN 60,073,756 (9,142,924) 50,930,832
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36. UM XN NRRZmw

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Share Award Scheme

(N

Share Award Scheme |

On 9 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”) to motivate and
award the contribution of certain members of
management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 5
years commencing on the Adoption Date. The
shares to be awarded under the Share Award
Scheme will be acquired by the Company through
Dairy Fortune Limited (“Dairy Fortune”) which
is 100% owned by Dairy Fortune (PTC) Limited
(the "Trustee”) from the open market by cash
contributed by the Group under the directions
of the Company and will be held in trust for the
relevant selected participants until such shares
are vested. The maximum number of Shares
which may be purchased by the Dairy Fortune is
55,000,000 Shares. The total contributed amount
shall be not more than HK$70,000,000. During
the year ended 31 December 2016, based on
the Company’s instructions, the Dairy Fortune
purchased a total of 35,519,000 ordinary shares
of the Company on open market at a total
consideration of approximately HK$68,966,000
(equivalent to RMB61,424,000). During the year
ended 31 December 2017, the Dairy Fortune
purchased another 450,000 ordinary shares
from the open market at a total consideration
of approximately HK$803,000 (equivalent to
RMB713,000) and the number of ordinary
shares purchased by Dairy Fortune increased to
35,969,000 shares (the “Award Shares”).

(c) KR&HEREE

Q)

% 10 3% B &t &l
RZZE-—XRFENALANBUEK
MABE] KRRAARHH—IE
i 1 22 B 5+ &1 ([ 3% 19 22 B &1
gD ABEBRERHKEER
ETEBERNERGER
EENBER -BKREE A a
B E /[ R E KL
B fp B st 8l 8 B 1 & -
B M A AR A S RIE R
) 22 B 5t 2 #% 22 B &9 AR 19 1%
i A A 7] i i@ Dairy Fortune
(PTC) Limited ([RFEADZ &
# A W Dairy Fortune Limited
([Dairy Fortune|) #%& 8 & A
AIETALREETENR
R AFMS EWE - I#
NEXRFRAREBHREEZ
HERF BEEZABEKROS
BT EE 2 HEE - Dairy
Fortune f] B A W) IR 0 8L B L
PR 55,000,000 % & 13 - 48 )F &
& ¥4 I i 70,000,000 % JT °
BE-_ZT-—R"F+=2A=+
—BIEFEE - BRBEAQAIE
7~ * Dairy Fortune B #t A BT
% £ W BB & 535,519,000 8%
Aol EdAR BREAOR
68,966,000 TL(1H & X A K
#61,424,0007T) - BE T —
tFE+TA=+—HLFE-
Dairy Fortuneft A F ™ % L
Y B8 5 450,000 A% & @ A% -
#2849 & 803,000 7T (18 &
AR #713,0007T) ¢ 1 Dairy
Fortune® E 0 & B Ik # B
120 Z 35,969,000 Ak ([ 5% B) AR
1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEMBHRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 36. UR B XA RRZ @
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Share Award Scheme (continued) (c)

B% 17 2% B &t &) (@)

(1

Share Award Scheme | (continued)

Based on the trust arrangements among the
Company, the sole shareholder of the Trustee and
the Trustee, the Company is able to control the
Trustee and its subsidiary, Dairy Fortune, pursuant
to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Therefore, the Group accounts for the Trustee
and Dairy Fortune as consolidated structured
entities. The ordinary shares of the Company held
by Dairy Fortune are accounted for as a debit
to the Group's reserve and are presented under
the account of “Shares held under the Share
Award Schemes” in the consolidated financial
statements.

On 21 April 2017 (the “Grant Date”), a total
number of 35,969,000 Award Shares were granted
to the selected participants. Out of the total
shares granted, 6,637,000 Award Shares were
granted to certain members of management (the
“Award Shares A"”), which would vest in the third
anniversary of the Grant Date provided that certain
performance and service conditions are met.
The remaining Award Shares of 29,332,000 were
granted to the certain members of management
and the eligible employees (the “Award Shares
B"), which would vest in the second anniversary of
the Grant Date provided they are still employed
by the Group.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 0w aR MR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BZE =2 - N\NF+ A=+ —HLFE
36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 36. LB X WA RRZ @
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Share Award Scheme (continued) (o) KRB E @
() Share Award Scheme | (continued) (1) B £ 2% B &+ 31 (8
The following table discloses movements of the TERBEERBRO N BE D
Award Shares during the reporting period: B :
Category HAl
Award Shares A RERHA 5,687,000 - (362,000) 5,325,000
Award Shares B HERHB 25,601,000 - (3,178,000 22,423,000
31,288,000 - (3,540,000) 27,748,000
Forfeited
Outstanding due to Outstanding
as at Granted resignation as at
1 January during during 31 December
Category Ll 2017 the year the year 2017
—t# i t¢
-A-H R +ZA=1-
W AR{TR ERR M R BRI B AT ﬁ
Award Shares A RBRHA - 6,637,000 (950,000) 5,687,000
Award Shares B RBRMHB - 29,332,000 (3,731,000) 25,601,000
- 35,969,000 (4,681,000) 31,288,000
The fair values of Award Shares A and Award #7? B AR BB HBR
Shares B determined at the date of grant %% El 4 EFH 53T - & EE
using Black-Scholes Model were HK$7,731,000 R %\E_ﬁl\] n f 1\5 7 Bl ’iﬁ
(equivalent to RMB6,843,000) and HK$36,265,000 7,731,00078 7T (48 & 50 A R 8
(equivalent to RMB32,102,000) respectively. 6,843,000 7 ) % 36,265,000 7% JT

(FEE B AR%32,102,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%’?_A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

RF 7% ¥ & B &

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

ey

Share Award Scheme (continued)

(I)  Share Award Scheme | (continued)
The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair values of the Award Shares:

36. LR XN RRZ @

(c)

B% 17 2% B &t &) (@)

m

B 49 9 b 3t 81 (a0
LA T B AR A B R
2 F 1A

Award Shares A  Award Shares B

RERSA RBRHB
Grant date share price =B B EARE HK$1.66 7 7T HK$1.66 /& JT
Strike Price TEE HK$1.66 7 7T HK$1.66 7 7T
Risk-free interest rate 1 2 fg ) & 1.44% 1.30%
Maturity years Z|Hf F 3 2
Expected volatility T8 H R 1R 48.53% 49.05%
Dividend yield i Bk = 0.00% 0.00%
Option value BREEE HK$0.50 & 7T HK$0.42 7% 7T

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price.

The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on
the best estimate of the Directors. Changes in
variables and assumptions may result in changes
in the fair value of the Award Shares.

The Group recognised a share award expense of
RMB8,646,000 (2017: RMB14,517,000) accordingly
during the current year.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A

EHREIERARARE
B SR IR OE

ARG HBRERTE S
ERBRRBEFENRER
HAEE BERBENE
DARESHEDBRHAF
ERRED -

RAFE REBRERK G
ZEFE Y A AR 8,646,000
(=B -t &F: ARH
14,517,000 7T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

36. UM XN NRRZmw

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Share Award Scheme (continued)

(I

Share Award Scheme |l

On 26 March 2018 (the “"Adoption Date I1"),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the "Share Award Scheme 11”) to motivate and
award the contribution of certain members of
management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme Il is valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on the Adoption Date II.
The shares to be awarded under the Share Award
Scheme Il will be acquired by the Company
through Dairy Fortune from the open market
by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in
trust for the relevant selected participants until
such shares are vested. The maximum number of
shares which may be purchased by the Trustee is
set at no more than 1% of the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding
annual general meeting. During the year ended
31 December 2018, based on the Company's
instructions, the Dairy Fortune purchased a total
of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
on open market at a total consideration of
approximately HK$28,835,000 (equivalent to
RMB23,583,000).

As described above, the ordinary shares of the
Company held by Dairy Fortune are accounted
for as a debit to the Group's reserve and
are presented under the account of “Shares
held under the Share Award Schemes” in the
consolidated financial statements.

(c) B% 1758 B &t 8 (@)

(1)

B 4 2 B st Bl
RZE—NE=ZA=_+H
([ER & B EN) - K2\ F 4
—HER D R AT EI([RR 7 5
Batainl) B &k EE A
SEETEEERERAE
BKEEWMBEB -BREZEA
EETMNEMWIRER LN
B B At 211 R+ A
BN B IR AR - R IE R
1 22 B 5T N5 52 B A A% D
1 B3 78 A 7] % i Dairy Fortune
BERARNAIETUAARE B
EMBEESMAMMES EWE
WL ERANABEEEE
SHERE BEEHEEBR
MEB - T ATBEANR
MBELBERXEATEBB
AARRE—ERRBESF
A LFEBETETRARKREED
1% - BE_Z—N\F+=A
Z=+—BHLEFE BERBARQ
A5 7R  Dairy Fortune B #it A
F ™15 £ U B A 520,000,000
AL LB BRED
/28,835,000 ;T (HH & BN A
R % 23,583,000 7T) °

fn | XX BTt - Dairy Fortune BT
BAAGEBRARIIAR
EEREBRSD LI RAEL
U BHRRIBRERD EE
EFANRMIET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

37. ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

(a)

Acquisition of Modern Farming Anhui

On 25 January 2017, the Company issued 338,602,205
ordinary shares of the Company to the holding
companies of the non-controlling equity holders of
Modern Farming Anhui (a subsidiary of the Group),
which are non-related to the Group, in exchange for
the 100% shareholding interest of Strong Alliance
Investment Holdings Company Limited, which indirectly
owned 45% interest of equity interest in Modern
Farming Anhui and bank balances of RMB1,800,000.
After the acquisition, Modern Farming Anhui is owned
as to 45% by the Company and as to 55% by Modern
Farming. The excess of RMB541,961,000, being the
difference of the fair value of the ordinary shares
issued of RMB571,903,000 and the par value of the
ordinary shares of HK$33,860,000 (equivalent to
RMB29,942,000), was recorded in share premium. The
excess of RMB555,297,000 between the fair value of
the consideration transferred over the carrying amount
of the non-controlling interests and bank balances
acquired is debited to the Group’s other reserve.

Deemed acquisition of non-controlling interests
In October 2017, Modern Farming acquired each of
the 50% equity interests in Modern Farming (Shanghe)
Co., Ltd. (the "Shanghe”) from the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiaries, Asia Dairy Trading & Holdings
Limited and Asia Dairy Trading & Holdings Il Limited
(the “ADTH Companies”) by issuing paid-in capital
of RMB231,825,000 of Modern Farming to the ADTH
Companies. After completion of the acquisition, the
Company indirectly held 98.18% (31 December 2016:
97.87%) of the paid-in capital of Modern Farming,
and the non-controlling equity holders held 1.82%
(31 December 2016: 2.13%) of the paid-in capital of
Modern Farming. The amount of RMB50,502,000 which
represents the difference of the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests of Modern Farming immediately
before and after the transaction is directly debited to
other reserve.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. L EM B2 A
On 22 January 2018, Modern Farming and Inner Mongolia RZZE-—NEF-—A=Z+=8 BRKEE
Mengniu entered into two share transfer agreements, HAREREET LMD RN EEHE
pursuant to which Modern Farming agreed to sell, and Bt BRHERELHERARARY
Rl & 2 5l 4 B8 L 3R % % 3% &9 50% Ak 4
BeREEHEAARMKS040,0007T °

Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to acquire 50% equity
interest of Feidong and Bengbu respectively at an aggregate

cash consideration of RMB56,040,000. The disposals were
completed on 29 March 2018 and 26 March 2018, respectively
on which date the Group lost control of Feidong and Bengbu.

i #) ST K °

ZELEETES
+THhBEZZE—NF=ZA=-F+XB(X
SERZEHAEYUER X EENIE

AR=ZF-—NF=ZAZ=

RMB’000
Consideration received: 2 WK E: AR T T
Cash received 2 U IR & 56,040
Analysis of assets and liabilities over RMB'000
which control was lost: KREEFENEERABED T AR T T
Property, plant and equipment ME WEREZHE 439,882
Land use rights =+ i A 4 4,674
Inventories FE 17,915
Trade and other receivables JEWE ZRA R EMEWRIEAE 137,341
Cash and bank balances e KRITHER 147,600
Bank borrowings AT E K (394,213)
Other borrowings H fth {8 3K (93,526)
Trade and other payables & B 5 Bk 3 & Bt e 5RIA (141,156)
Deferred income i T U A (24,630)
Net assets disposed of HEMEEFE 93,887
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEHRBATMWKE:
Consideration received B K E 56,040
Interest in associates B & N A B RE %R 56,040
Net assets disposed of EHEMNEETFE (93,887)
Gain on disposal HE KR 18,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. HEM B 2 Au

RMB’000

Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESHEELENRSRE FHE: ARBETT
Cash consideration ReRE 56,040
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of BoBHENRTERRERRS (147,600)
(21,560)

39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings, medium-term notes, corporate
bonds and other borrowings as disclosed in notes 29, 30,
31 and 32 respectively, net of bank balances and cash and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and reserves.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of the review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the issues of new shares and the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

40. €@ T B

Categories of financial instruments TRIAEHR
2017
—T—tF
RMB’000
AR®EF T
Financial assets: EREE:
Loans and receivables B3 & E W kA
(including pledged bank balances, (BREEERRITELR
non-pledged bank deposits REMRTHEK
and cash and bank balances) K38 & RIRTT & &%) - 1,701,003
Financial assets at amortised cost REEK AT ER
SRt EE 1,468,146 -
AFS equity investments AHHERERE = 12,934
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEFAEMLEZE
WARWERTH 2,508 =
Derivative financial instruments MESMITA
- Interest rate swaps — US$ - EEH-XTT 40,774 31,704
— Foreign currency - HNEEIR B A A
forward contracts 39,025 =
— Foreign currency option — SN HA R 625 =
Financial liabilities: cRARE:
Amortised cost 5 B AN 9,060,972 9,342,324
Derivative financial instruments MESMIA
— Interest rate swaps — HK$ - EEEH-ETT 12,601 =
— Foreign currency - HNEEIREA A
forward contracts 3,631 =
— Foreign currency option — SN HA R 1,497 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €/ T B um)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, other financial assets, financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables, pledged
bank balances, non-pledged bank deposits, cash and
bank balances, trade and other payables, bank and other
borrowings, medium-term notes, corporate bonds and
derivative financial instruments. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)  Currency risk
The Group collects the sales of milk produced in RMB
and incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital
expenditures in RMB.

As at 31 December 2018, the major assets denominated
in foreign currency are cash and bank balances
disclosed in note 27. The major liabilities denominated
in foreign currency are bank borrowings disclosed in
note 29.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into currency
forward contracts or currency option contracts, when
necessary.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

2% (2017: 2%) is the sensitivity rate represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE=—ZFE—\E+=-A=+—HLEFE
40. €/ T Hum)

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)

The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency
risk from the movement of the exchange rates between
RMB against US$ and EUR. The sensitivity analysis
below includes US$ and EUR denominated monetary
items that are not associated to a foreign currency
forward contract or a foreign currency option contract.
At the end of each reporting period, if the exchange
rate had been weaken in RMB against US$ or EUR by
2% and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss for each reporting period would
decrease/increase as follow:

TRHAREENBEREREX@

™5

(1)

[ B ()

S 7 B (1)

GBS B R 5 AT ()
AEBFZEBERBEARKE KX
JC N B T PE 2O &) & S R R o
AT BRRE S T2 8 1EHEINER
BEYNEBOAEZ T EE T E
MEEKIER RNEREHER MA
RS ETLHRITEZE2% " FT
FHEMTER=ZS#FAE AKX
EEABEREHENKRIKEEEIE
158 a0 SR 1N

Decrease
(increase)
in post-tax
loss
B %1% 5 18
w A (38 hn)
2017
—E—tF
RMB'000
AR T T
US$ denominated assets and ELFEEEREE
liabilities against RMB HARK
— cash and bank balances -Be MBEIT4R% 1,989 3,387
— bank borrowings - IRITEX (1,649) (22,848)
EUR denominated assets and BMTstEEENBE
liabilities against RMB HAR®
— cash and bank balances -Re MRITER 9 28
- bank borrowings - RITE K (12) (2,043)
Total R 337 (21,476)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & &

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)
For a 2% strengthening of the RMB against US$ or EUR,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
post-tax loss.

(ii)  Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to fluctuations in the prevailing market interest rates on
bank balances, pledged bank balances, non-pledged
bank deposits and bank borrowings which carry interest
at variable interest rates.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, medium-term
notes and corporate bonds.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net interest rate
exposures and may enter into interest rate swap
contracts, when necessary, to manage its interest rate
exposure. During the current year, three interest rate
swap contracts had been entered by the Group to
mitigate its cash flow interest rate risk (2017: four).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest rates
for variable interest rate bank borrowings that are
not associated to an interest rate swap contract. Bank
balances, pledged bank balances and non-pledged
bank deposits are excluded from the sensitivity analyses
since they are not considered sensitive to fluctuation
in interest rate. The analysis is prepared assuming the
variable interest rate bank borrowings were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 (2017: 50) basis points increase
or decrease represents management'’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 # & =
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (continued)
At the end of reporting period, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 (2017: 50) basis
points and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's loss for the current year would have increased/
decreased by RMB5,906,000 (2017: RMB5,877,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that
the credit risks associated with trade receivables from the
Distributors is mitigated because they are secured over
ordinary shares of the Company held by five third-party
companies incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring
system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
upon application of IFRS 9 (2017: incurred loss model) on
trade balances individually or based on provision matrix. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

mEMBHRRME
B-NF+-A=t+-ALEE

40. €/ T Hum)

tREREENEER REXE)

W %5 & bR (80
(i) f]'?/—l/ﬁ%(éﬁ)
A R BRRE 2T ()

Eéi&%ﬂ;ﬁﬂi fif) 1) &= 32 hn, 4> 50
EAEB(ZF —tF : 501E = 2) -
mMAABHMAEREERFTTE
AAREERAFENEIBEEN
WA AR 5,906,000 (= F — +
& AR #¥5,877,0007T) °

EERRERREFG

R-ZE—N\E+-_A=+—H KA&EHE
AREEAYFIARAEBETEEMAEASE
BEmEEBEBANZREERRR S
BAVBRRRMINZEEERS
MEENEAE A£EBETEFETN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(continued)

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are authorised banks in the PRC.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately
60% of total trade receivables as at 31 December 2018
(2017: 25%) was receivable due from the Mengniu Group,
the Group's largest customer and a related party of the
Company.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

40. €/ T B um)

tREREENEER REXE)

5 & B B &R E &1 & (8
BEFERELHEWKE S K (#)

HREFHRFBEMRAIRT SR
RBENEERREBERER -

rEEFEFEERRETNER REAE
BRR-_ZE-—NF+ZA=+—HBHHE
WEBGERRBERDHOR(—T— L5
25%) REWRAEERATEFRARQ A
MESTRTEBHRE-

AEBANHBEEFTREEATER

Internal credit Trade
rating Description receivables Other financial assets
RIS EFTR B EWE SRR HtteMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due not credit-impaired
amounts
15 & RHGBFITNENRABRRE  BYE PHEHEEBE- REAEHEEER
1E fo] 780 83 5K 1A EEETR
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
17 &t FERANBREENE M RN R IRE TR THEHGEERE- 2HRHBEEERE-
ERER B ¥ 15 HE R K EEE M FEETR EEETR
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
EPS FEBBRTIEMEECERETR PHEHGEERE- 2HRHEEER-
FETR EFETR

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 0w aR MR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BLZ—Z2—\E+ A=+ —HLFE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €@ T AEmw
Financial risk management objectives and policies TRERBEENEERER®@®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) = & & B R Of B &F & (8
Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers BEF &K EE N EKE S IR (#)
(continued)
Internal credit Trade
rating Description receivables Other financial assets
HER S B R AR # B FE W B 5 IR HttemMEE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is Amount is
debtor is in severe financial difficulty written off written off

and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
i FRBERTEBEABARENTK il iRk
RBEAEAKEE TR RBEAT KD
BRRE

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TERFVWAEEREEHEESEF
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: THNeRmEEFERR
Internal credit 12m or Gross carrying amount
Note rating lifetime ECL As at 31 December 2018
12BA=x 28 R-B-N&+-A=+-8H
M RBEEFR HAHEEFE MR E A E
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREBTR

Financial assets at amortised costs

RBHERAFENEREE
Pledged bank balances 27 N/A 12m ECL 61,355
BERRTE R A NREAEHEE

B8
Bank balances 27 N/A 12m ECL 703,005
RIT 4 & A NREAEHEE

&1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

(continued)

40. €/ T B um)
tREREENEEZERBE®@m

1= & & B &R {8 &F f& (80

EFA

A E £ B FE W B 5 AR ()

Internal credit 12m or Gross carrying amount
Note rating lifetime ECL As at 31 December 2018
NREAHZH R-B-N\&+-A=t-H
M ABEEIR BAHEEESR MWEE#AE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR
Other receivables — amount 26 Low risk 12m ECL 1,681
due from Mengniu
Hpth e B - Hth R+ 508 16l B RERBHEE
B8
Other receivables - others Low risk 12m ECL 4,315
H M RIE - E b 1% 2 b NREABHEE
B8
Other receivables - others Loss Lifetime ECL 3,569 9,565
(credit-impaired)
H fth e U FRIE - Ho A Bx FHEHREEER
(FETR)
Trade receivables — raw milk (note) 26 Low risk Lifetime ECL 479,445
(not credit-
impaired)
EWE 5 R - R (K5 16 B FHEHREEER
(EEETR)
Trade receivables - liquid milk product 26 Loss Lifetime ECL 1,064,879
(Distributors) (note) (credit-impaired)
BURESERF-REDED B FHEHREEER
(9 8Hm) () (FETR)
Trade receivables - liquid milk product 26 Loss Lifetime ECL 1171 1,555,495
(others) (note) (credit-impaired)
ERESER-BRENED B FHEHREEER
(E ) (BT 35) (FETR)
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified ME - slEEBESERME  ASEEER

ey

approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. As at 1 January 2018, except for debtors of dairy farming
and debtors of liquid milk products with significant balances,
the Group determines the expected credit losses on other
debtors of liquid milk products by using a provision matrix,
grouped by aging analysis since there was large number of
liquid milk products customers. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group determines the expected credit losses for all items
individually since there are few numbers of customers for
trade receivables.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHKRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 BLZ—Z2—\E+ A=+ —HLFE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. @ T A
Financial risk management objectives and policies TREAREENEEREER@®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) 1= & B b& & R B &F b (@)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers EELNELEEKE S R (&)
(continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRIAINTEESLEHFEZEEREKRE
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the SEZNEHEHCEERENET -
simplified approach.
As at 31 December 2017 R-B-t&E+-A=+-BRE
under IAS 39 BRE EAFEI9R - 495,167 495,167
Adjustment upon application of fER BB REEREIRE
IFRS 9 f) 38 2 1,660 - 1,660
As at 1 January 2018 R-ZE-NE-A-H-&EREB
- As restated 1,660 495,167 496,827
Changes due to financial R—A-—HAREERERIA
instruments recognised SIBMES:
as at 1 January:
— Transfer to credit-impaired -BEZEETR (1,660) 1,660 -
~ Impairment losses recognised -ERRBREER(DHD)
(Distributors) - 358,891 358,891
- Impairment losses recognised -ERAREEEEMN)
(Others) - 5,365 5,365
— Impairment losses reversed -BEEBREER = (163) (163)
- Write-offs (Distributors) - (D EE) - (311) (311)
— Write-offs (others) — s (E ) = (2,870) (2,870)
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NE+=-HF=+-—-H - 857,739 857,739
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are
mainly due to:

40. €/ T B um)
tREREEMNEERBER@E

5 & B B &R E &1 & (8
RUEEZEFERREEHTER:

Trade debtors with a gross carrying
amount of RMB7,526,000 defaulted
and transferred to credit-impaired
as at 31 December 2018

Settlement in full of trade debtors with
a gross carrying amount of
RMB298,000

Additional recognition of ECL for trade
receivables of the Distributors

R—F-N\FEt+=-A=+—H
BORBEEETRNES
BEHAN FHEAES

AR #7,526,000 7T (1,660) 7,025
BZ2EHEAEHERREE
#2818 A K #298,0007T
- (163)
Fho0 85 P B W 5 SRR RE AR
BHIEHEEBR - 358,891

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs

MAWEKBENEEAKR(ERS AE
BRIMBEERTF UREE/E)
AEBBHMBERUE SRR -

earlier.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE U R R M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—ZE—NF+ A=+ —HLFE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 40. €@t T B
Financial risk management objectives and policies THEARBREENEERBRum
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) 1= B B b & R B 71 14 ()
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TR YR B R E MR UK IE BB B
that has been recognised for other receivables. HHE R -
As at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 R-B—-—t+tHF+=-A=+—H
RBERE T EREIOR 110
Adjustment upon application of IFRS 9 JE B BR B 75 sk &5 E RSB 95k 18
B 3 B -
As at 1 January 2018 - As restated R=ZB-NF-—HF—H-KRAE 110
Changes due to financial instruments R—A—BBEREHRATMIA
recognized as at 1 January: S| EE
— Write-offs — 1 8 (110)
- New financial assets originated -RERNTEMEE 3,569
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NE+=ZA=+—H 3,569
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are HWEKRREBERENEDHFTER
mainly due to: i
One new debtor of other receivables i

ZE-NFFT+ZR=+—HEH
— JA T H e U B A SR 3,569
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Bt %% R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB3,883,813,000 as
at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: RMB3,181,917,000).
The Directors closely monitor the cash flows of the Group and,
upon maturity, would arrange the renewal and refinancing of
the borrowing facilities, when necessary, to ensure the Group
has sufficient funds to enable the Group to meet its financial
obligations. In addition, the available credit facilities of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB4,954,736,000
which remains unutilised as at 31 December 2018. These
facilities include a facility of HK$1,500,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,314,300,000) under a facility agreement with
several banks expiring in September 2021 and a facility of
RMB500,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu expiring in
May 2020 (note 46(d)). In view of the above, the Directors
consider the Group's liquidity risk is significantly reduced.

The Group finances their operations by using a combination
of borrowings and equity. Adequate lines of credit, including
a facility of RMB500,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu
are maintained to ensure necessary funds are available when
required. The Directors monitor the liquidity position of
the Group on a periodical basis to ensure the availability of
sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations. With reference
to the existing unutilised facilities, the Directors consider
the liquidity and source of funds for the daily operation and
capital expenditure are sufficient.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERRBEZERERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net
cash (inflows) and outflows on derivative financial liabilities
that settle on a net basis, and the undiscounted gross
(inflows) and outflows on those derivatives that require
gross settlement. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference
to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield
curves existing at the end of the reporting period. The
liquidity analysis for the Group's derivative financial liabilities
are prepared based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash
flows of derivatives.

40. €/ T Hum)

TRERBEENEERER®@®

REBE SR @)
TRFIAEEKTHRITESRARE
MENEHBER ZARREAKSEA B
WEXTNHNKXEEHNEREBER
BB REMMBE -

RESEEEMNERASASRE -
B R BT B R K - BIKRLR S
S FIIES T

BN TRANAEERETES R A
ERBESON ZROBEEEZR
FREAELETESREBOHRER
BEHNRSREORA) RN HIF A RZ
SHREHRBLEENTERORBREACR
MNMERdi-fdEEESBL RET -
MEBEERN2ENRBREHARKEA
ZEHBRITNBEANEmMERE - A&
BUUETREERDES DN HRIE
EHEAMBERAGHE AREEER/A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GARBREME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—F—N\F+ A=+ —B LEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. € @ T A @)
Financial risk management objectives and policies STHEREENEERBE@
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBE SRR E

As at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+Zf=1-H

Non-derivative financial FHETHER

liabilities
Non-interest bearing Tt 8 - 1,560,182 352,729 = = 1912911 1,912,911
Fixed interest rate bank TERARR

borrowings 0.45-5.00 745,862 234,339 206,890 60,641 1,247,732 1,218,401
Variable interest rate bank FERARR

borrowings 2.65-4.80 539,073 298,858 2,187,125 383,159 3,408,215 3,219,101
Medium-term notes nEZE 4,75 628,500 - - - 628,500 621,880
Other borrowings Hi 3 400 575377 443,390 - - 1,018,767 1,001,111
Corporate bonds NEEH 5.47-5.66 843,920 263,250 - - 1,107,170 1,087,568

4,892,914 1,592,566 2,394,015 443,800 9,323,295 9,060,972

Derivatives-net settlement ~ 4T 5 -4 FHEHE
Interest rate swap contracts | REHAN(F L)
(outflow) 1,540 3,181 4,588 3,630 12,939 12,601

Derivatives-gross settlement ff£T 8- HAEHE
Foreign currency forward NEEHAY

contracts
- inflow -RA = - (345,805) - (345,805 (330,826)
- outflow R - - 349,600 - 349,600 334,457
Foreign currency option NeERERY

contracts
- inflow -RA = - (819,910) - (819,9100  (819,910)
- outflow - - - 821,407 - 821,407 821,407

- - 5292 - 5292 5128

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

40. €/ T Hum)

tREREENEERBE@m

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBE SRR @
Total
Interest Within 181 days 1-2 Over  undiscounted Carrying
rates 180 days o 365 days years 2 years cash flows amount
18182 AERRL
FE  180ER %5 1226 RBF TELE KEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETn AR%Tn ARETn
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—tE+-A=1-H
Non-derivative financial FiT4ERER
liabilities
Non-interest bearing T3 B = 1,533,732 269,505 = = 1,803,237 1,803,237
Fixed interest rate bank TERTER
borrowings 0.90-4.79 539,126 610,318 46,495 212544 1,408,483 1,354,100
Variable interest rate FERTER
bank borrowings 2.65-6.40 170,970 407,193 577975 1,341,435 2497513 2,121,110
Medium-term notes mHZE 460-600 1,218,935 = 628,500 = 1847435 1,866,895
Other borrowings Hi 4.00-4.77 600,868 522,638 = = 1123506 1,106,115
Corporate bonds NfER 5.30-549 4814 13,250 263,250 843,920 1,125,234 1,084,867
4068445 1822904 15162200 2397899 9805468 9,342,324

Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate
borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ from these estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

BEGE: M/F B A Ry B D& B REEN
MEBFEZE - ALERFSERE

ENERE

AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash

flows as cash flows from financing activities.

41.

METDFELEABENYHK

TRHLEAEERELRDFMELAE
MBS ERAShIFRASED -BE
AEMELAMNAGEAREREERLX

ARREREFTNRAKH

o)

BHRER

EXTOBRBETDMELNR S

MEMNZERE-

At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E-H-H - 3481210 1,866,895 1,084,867 1,106,115 - 7,539,087
Financing cash flows BEREME - 1,033,269 (1,286,500) (57,170) (55,784) 81,845  (284,340)
Fair value adjustments NEEAR 12,601 - - - - - 12,601
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - (394.213) = = (93,526) - (487,739)
Receipt of Mengniu Bill Y8 Mengniu Bill 37 8 - - - - - 59,399 59,399
Foreign exchange E - 129,611 - - - - 129,611
Interest expenses HERY - 187,625 41,485 59,871 44,306 1,804 335,091
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+-F=1-H 12,601 4,437,502 621,880 1,087,568 1,001,111 143,048 7,303,710
Bank Medium-term ~ Corporate Other
Interest ~ borrowings ~ Short-term notes bonds  borrowings
rate swaps (note 29)  debentures (note 30) (note 31) (note 32) Total
BRAEH hHZE  RAEF H4ER
fEEE  (WE2)  BEEF  (WE0) (a3 (WER) B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn AR%Tx
At 1 January 2017 RZE-t+E-f-H 126 3906859 801,945 1,866,906 254,045 78618 6908499
Financing cash flows BERERE 7 (574,522) (830.441) (93,686) 783314 1,001,909 286,497
Fair value adjustments NTERE (49 = = = = = (49)
Foreign exchange INE S (13,580) _ S S S (13,580)
Interest expenses MERT = 162,453 28,496 93,675 47508 25,588 357,720
At 31 December 2017 R-E-+F5+-A=1-H - 3481210 - 1866895 1084867 1,106,115 7,539,087
Note: The cash flows from the interest rate swaps, bank borrowings, WM EEH FITER - BEHESHFF
short-term debentures, medium-term notes, other borrowings, HEE HMER RRESFLEN
corporate bonds and amounts due to Mengniu make up the SHNREBNGEREREEKER S
net amount of proceeds from borrowings, repayments of MEBRPHERMERNIE BERER
borrowings and interest paid in the consolidated statement MEMHMEHEER-

of cash flows.

PERABEEERERAF

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value of the Group’s biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at
fair value or fair value less cost to sell on a recurring
basis

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell, financial assets at FVTPL, equity investment at
FVTOCI and derivative financial instruments are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The Directors
have set up a valuation team, which is headed up by the
chief financial officer of the Company, to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The valuation team works closely with the
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The chief
financial officer reports the valuation team'’s findings to the
Directors semi-annually to explain the cause of fluctuations
in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these assets and liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as
well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurements are categorised (levels 2 and 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

42. A ¥ EHE

BEEMHEENAFEHLAFER
HERAXFENTIEHENEE -
THMEERERAEAENATE

AEBNEYMEERRIFERLEK
AEFE BorFEFABEZNERE
E BEAFEFAEMCEZERANES
RERTTESRIARESREHREK
AFEAB-BEFEXNLHERR &
ARRMHRERE NETEE WM
BTk FEFENEABE-

HABERBENRTFER  AEERE
BARmEABREE - WE R RE
—HRNBABRBTIAR ASEERE
FZ N AERMBEMETHE -HER
BRSERIBHEMEZAE AR
IRYABNBENEZENBARE - &
FHMBEBYFRNEZTZREEBK
MERNBBEERABRAFTERY
MREA -

TREHEBREATESENE A
BENT RS EENAEE RS AR
RoB 0D TSR R b
FOERBABE)  RATE B
SHMATEBIKT(E-R=AHE
%o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

42. X ¥ EFT Em

Fair value hierarchy D FERE
Fair value
as at
31 December Fair value
Assets/(liabilities) 2017 hierarchy
R_FB—LF
+=ZA=+—H AYTHE
BE/(8fE) MAYE R Al
RMB'000
ARE T
Biological assets EYEE 7,717,113 7,751,070 level 3
F=H
Financial asset at FVTPL BEATEFABEN
- Interest rate swaps - 7l & 4= 1 40,774 N/A level 2
NER F-/)
- Foreign currency forward contracts - MNER B4 4 39,025 N/A level 2
TER F-H
- Foreign currency option contracts -NEHESR L 625 N/A level 2
TEHR E-/
Other financial assets HtepEE
- Interest rate swaps - &= 45 5 N/A 31,704 level 2
TER T/
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATVEFAELMEZERA
MERTA
- Unquoted equity investments -ABEERZKE 2,508 N/A level 3
TER F=H
Derivative financial instruments fTEeBIA
- Interest rate swaps - F & (12,601) N/A level 2
TER F-H
- Foreign currency forward contracts - SNEEHE 4 (3,631) N/A level 2
TEH E-/
- Foreign currency option contracts - 9MNE Hi#E & 4) (1,497) N/A level 2
TER F-/

oy

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42.

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements
The following table shows the valuation techniques used
in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair values, as well as the
significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models:

AEEFTFTE@®
AEEFEFERANGES ZE
TE£ITHBE-_BRE=-RATFE
BRETRMEERE ARGEELFRA
M E AP B R AHIE

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs measurements
EATIERBAUBALNTENE
ki fE1E R & EXTTEERANE ZBHRERE
Foreign currency Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
forward contracts Future cash flow are estimated based 1@ B ~ER

NERBHAN on forward exchange rates (from

observable forward exchange rates

at the end of reporting period) and

contracted forward rates, discounted

at arate that reflects the credit risk of

various counterparties.

FRAENE
ARREERENRE

EHEX(REREHRNTEE

EHEX)RANEBEXMAL

BRBRZEHFINEERRY

ES TR
Foreign currency Garman-Kohlhagen model N/A N/A

option contracts Garman-Kohlhagen 1 % a¥chs: T

HNERESH
Interest rate swaps Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
& 15 8 Future cash flow are estimated based on i F TER

forward interest rates (from observable
interest rate at the end of reporting
period) and contracted interest
rates,discounted at a rate that reflects
the credit risk of various counterparties.

FREeRE

ARRERENRE
BRNE(REREARNABE
ME)RENMERET ERBSE
HFANGEERRNFELSR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

42. X ¥ EFT Em
ANFEFEFERNMEERD E @

(continued)
Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value
Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs measurements
EXTUBRGARBEATHETE
i fhEL % EXTIEERAYE ZENRERRE
Unquoted equity Market approach Fair value is estimated based on value  An increase in the discounted for lack of
investments (iR of comparable listed companies and liquidity would result in a smaller
AGEEERE discounted for lack of liquidity. percentage decrease in the fair value

Heifers and calves

PR

The fair value of 14 months old heifers
is determined by reference to the local
market selling price.

WERMNEERTENEZER

mEEEER

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A

AFEDRTELR AL
BEELHGTRARDERR
BR-

Average local market selling prices of the
heifers of 14 months old were
estimated at RMB22,700 per head
at 31 December 2018
(2017: RMB23,700).

R-E-N\+-A=t+-8"
WEANNEENTHETS
EEMEGAEREARK27007T
(Z2—+5: ARE237007) -

measurement of unquoted equity

investments.
RBUTEHERALMTEHRRE

RaRERTEIENLARD -

An increase in the estimated local market
selling price used would result in a
smaller percentage increase in the fair
value measurement of the heifers and
calves, and vice versa.

FREOBESTZEBENRER
NFERPNEDTEFZHER )
SOIEM RZIRA e



42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Type

i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

Valuation technique

thiER %

Significant unobservable inputs

EXFURERARE

42. X EFT Em
NP EFEFERNMEERD ZE@

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value

measurements
EXATUERBAUBEEATATE
ZBNEERE

The fair values of heifers and calves
at age-group less than 14 months are
determined by subtracting the
estimated feeding costs required to
raise the cows from their respective
age at the end of each reporting
period to 14 months plus the margins
that would normally be required by
a raiser. Conversely, the fair values
of heifers at age group older than
14 months are determined by adding
the estimated feeding costs required
to raise the heifers from 14 months
old to their respective age at the end
of each reporting period plus the
margins that would normally be
required by a raiser.

ENREANERERNHNEER
MOAFEDERERTERE
EERRAERRNARBERY
BRAMAMGHEERE MEER
~RAANENEE - BRH EX
R1418 A 80 548 B & 8 4
DNFETEME RN 4141 A
BEEEREREREHRNRY
FANGTAENA NREE R
MAMNBMER

Estimated average feeding costs per
head plus margin that would normally
be required by a raiser for heifers
and calves younger than 14 months
old are RMB16,240 at 31 December
2018 (2017: RMB15,171); average
estimated feeding costs per head plus
margin that would normally be
required by a raiser for heifers older
than 14 months old are RMB16,620 at
31 December 2018 (2017: RMB16,025).

RZE-N\E+-A=+-RH"
EAARAERM NS RNERE
BREEHTYRENAMERH
—RAANERARE16240T
(ZF—tF: AR®151717):
R-B-N\F+-A=1+-R"
RARUEAHNEERS -
BRETYRHARNAMEEH
—RAANERAREK16620T
(ZF—tF: AR¥K16057)

An increase in the estimated feeding
costs plus the margin that would
normally be required by a raiser used
would result in a much smaller
percentage increase/decrease in the
fair value measurement of the heifers
and calves older/younger than
14 months old, and vice versa.

FRNMEGEERANEEE R
FARBE MK ERHAR/ MR
WEAMNEE RN AFEE
BB SO/ R RZ TR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. A FEFTEm
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements ARFEFEEANGES E@
(continued)

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs measurements
EXTUBRGARBEATHETE
i fhEL % EXTIEERAYE ZENRERRE
Milkable cows The fair values of milkable cows are The estimated feed costs per kg of raw ~ An increase in the estimated feed costs
4 determined by using the multi-period ~ milk used in the valuation process are  per kg of raw milk used would result
excess eamnings method, which is RMB1.89 for the year ended 31 in a smaller percentage decrease in
based on the discounted future cash December 2018 (2017: RMB1.90), the fair value measurement of the
flows to be generated by such milkable  based on the historical average feed milkable cows, and vice versa.
cows. costs per kg of raw milk after taking ~ FT A K0 G 2 /T R KL i &t £ 2 P AR 58
NEATEERAFASHBENEE  into consideration of inflation. M EHMERTEBOR N
ERFATENTELNRRAR BE-Z-\E+ZA=1—-H BT RZMHA -
RERBIER - ILFE - REARTERN

BATRHMGHEAERAR
ARBIOT(ZE—tF:
ARBI1OL) NEREAR
ERMHES FHREMAL R
BEWEET -

A milkable cow could have as many as  An increase in the estimated daily milk
six lactation cycles. Estimated average  yield per head used would result in a
daily milk yield at each lactation cycle  smaller percentage increase in the fair
ranges from 26.5 kg to 28.7 kg for the  value measurement of the milkable
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017 cows, and vice versa.
263kgto 283 kg), dependingonthe FTAMRHEEFSRENELEMT
number of the lactation cyclesandthe  BEINF AT EF ERE/ LIl 12
individual physical condition. B RZIRe

MAE ERILS -HE-T-N\F
TZAZT-HLEEE SHILHH
Bt FHBHEREN FUSAR
ERIAF(ZE—LF: 630F
ERINF) ABARKEUR
AR 8RAME -

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. A FEHFFEm
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements ARFEFEEANEES EW@
(continued)

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs measurements
EXTUBERARBEATETE
oFid fEE 7S % EXTIEERANE ZENRERRE
Estimated local future market price An increase in the estimated average
for raw milk is RMB3.86 per kg at selling price of raw milk used would
31 December 2018 (2017: RMB3.83 result in a much higher percentage
per kg). increase in the fair value
RZE-N\F+-A=1+-H" measurement of the milkable cows,

AR RERDTELELT  andvice versa.
AREIST(ZE—LE B8R FANRHDNEFTHEELEMTE

ARE3I8T) - MG ATEFEHBALHIELM
RZMA e
Discount rate for estimated future cash  An increase in the estimated discount
flow used is 11.80% at 31 December rate used would result in a slightly
2018 (2017: 12.70%). smaller percentage decrease in the fair
R-_E-N\E+-A=1+-H" value measurement of the milkable

ARG RREERENEREXR cows, and vice versa,
BIB0%(ZE—tF:1270%) .  FAMNGTHRXENTEINEFD
TEAENENLHITR  R2FR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. A FEHFTEw@w

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

FE=RMAFEFENHEK

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE-—NF—-—H-—HBHHO&H 12,934
Purchases BE 1,100
Total losses in OCI REMEEWBANEIEARE (11,526)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-—NF+_A=+—H 2,508

The reconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending
balances for fair value measurements of the biological assets
are disclosed in note 24.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values. Such fair values have been determined in accordance
with general accepted pricing model based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A

EYMEEAFEERNHVEHRED
REHROHRWER E24 -

WHEREEEUATEFENS
MEEREBMEBENATEMESR
®EQFHE)
EERARBEAVBRRAREHKD
AFEMESREERERAGBENEKREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHKRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2018 HE -2 —NFE+ A=+ —-HLFE
43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 3. REHEHERE
The Group as lessee AEBMEREEAN)
Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised FARBRLEHEHE®RN K E— Tfﬁ HE N
during the year is RMB11,109,000 (2017: RMB10,978,000). F A ANRE11,109,000C (=T —+ F -

A £ #:10,978,0007T) °

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBEAR AEEEABRBEDA
commitment to making future minimum lease payments in B SHERRNYE BELREE
respect of property, plant and equipment and leased land UEHEE LI NORKRKERSE
rented under non-cancellable operating leases which fall FEBBERADTWT :

due are as follows:

2017
—E—t5F
RMB'000
ARB T
Within one year —FE R 12,924 9,485
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_EEZFERE
(BREEMSF) 44,596 2,225
Over five years i i@ i F 243 183
57,763 11,893
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KREMENTEREERDE BER
Group for property, plant and equipment and leased land FEALBEETMENNES  MHEL
which are negotiated for terms ranging from one to eight WHREAEA—ZENF HLAEE -
years and the rentals are fixed.
44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 44. B R EE
2017
—t%F
RMB'000
AR® T
Capital expenditure contracted but not B 5] #1B kMR BB R E K
provided for in respect of acquisition B X
of property, plant and equipment HWEDE HERKE 7,812 41,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

45. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 45.
In October 2018, Inner Mongolia Mengniu issued a Mengniu
Bill to Modern Farming. The fair value of the Mengniu Bill
was RMB 141,244,000 when received and the corresponding
payable to Mengniu was recognised in other payable. Modern
Farming recognised interest expense of RMB1,804,000 on
the payable to Mengniu under amortised cost method.

EXRFRERS
RZZE—N\F+A ARHRFREAR
HEEKEEZFNTSFEE -ZFEER
WE R E A AR 141,244,000 7T -
i 46 FE J& {4 = 4 ZIB R H b JE {5 3B
TR o M IR (K B) 3R 3 55 5K AROE
RENETIREBRRINEAI AR
1,804,000 7T,

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46 BE TR S
a. Names and relationship with related parties are as a. UTrRBEFZBERERET®N
follows: 17

Mengniu A shareholder who directly and
indirectly held 60.76% of the Company's
issued share capital

b. Atthe end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following balances with related parties:

54 HELRBEHEEARAZ
51T A% AR 60.76% B R% 3R

b. RHEEHR AEBEEBESTE
2R3

Amounts due from BWHTALRE
2017
—T—+tF
RMB'000
ARETFT
Mengniu Group 4 5E
Trade receivable — raw milk FEWE SRR -RI
Within 30 days based on BREZHFTORNUA
invoice date 418,464 182,063
Trade receivable — liquid milk FEWE 5N - RED
Within 30 days based on BREZHFTIORNUA
invoice date - 39,335
Other receivable — disposal of Hph U RIE - HE R
equipment 1,681 -

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv_\%ﬁja’%ﬁ%% M:.I'%I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B ZE=—ZFE—\E+=-A=+—HLEFE
46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BE F X 5 @)

b. (continued) b. (&)
Amounts due to BE 14 ®X1E
2017
Tt
RMB'000
AR T
Mengniu Group 4 5E
Amounts due to Mengniu (note 45) J& {5 5% 4= 5% 18 (Hff 5£45) 143,048 =
Other payable (note) H e A5 30IE (BT &) 18,000 =
Note: The other payable of RMB18,000,000 was advances M B2 —hGF+A=+—BLHF
received with certain conditions from Mengniu to JZ - E b & 1 3R I8 A K % 18,000,000 7T
stimulate the Group to steadily expand the raw milk 73 ﬁ A TR E W EHERIE - AR
supply to Mengniu for the year ending 31 December EAEERERARTERNRM D
2019. It was uncertain that the Group would fulfil certain HEE BE-_T-AF+A=T
conditions of sales in the year ending 31 December —BLEEE K @Eﬁ@? AN & B E R
2019, and if such conditions are not fulfilled the HTHE RN ﬂ% 2 E R R BEE
advances will be refunded to Mengniu. B BREERETRYG -
c.  During the current year, the Group had the following c. RAFE KAEBHEBEHITL
transactions with related parties: AR5
2017
—E—tF
RMB'000
AR T
Mengniu Group E s
Sales of raw milk i & R B 4,222,146 3,304,833
Sales of liquid milk HERED 239,995 239,307
Others Hth 2,933 —
4,465,074 3,544,140
Mengniu Group Egs
Disposal of equipment & RE 1,681 -
Cash consideration for the e B A ERE
disposal of equity interests in 7 IR & (B (M 3E38)
subsidiaries (note 38) 56,040 =
57,721 =
The sales prices were based on mutually agreed terms. HEBREERHKRG EK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

d.

oy

46. BE F X 5 @)

Other borrowings d. HfE
During the current year, the Group entered into the RAFRE AEBEBEST L
following transactions with related parties: INTRS :
Category
£5
Other borrowings from Mengniu Group 54 £ B £ 46 f& 2 1,066,511 1,544,306 (1,544,306) (65,400) 1,001,111
Elimination on
disposal of
As at Raised Payment subsidiaries As at
1 January during during during 31 December
Category 217 the year the year the year 2017
RZT—t% RERLE R-T-LF
A5 ~A-H EREs ERRR  WEAAEH t-A=t-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARET T ARBTT AR
Other borrowings from Mengniu Group 54 £ B £ 4 15 2 = 1124939 (58,428) = 1,066,511

In May 2017, the Group entered into two entrusted
loan agreements with Mengniu Group and Agricultural
Bank of China ("ABC"), pursuant to which, Mengniu
Group agreed to offer borrowing facilities of
RMB1,500,000,000 to the Group through ABC. The
borrowing facilities will mature in May 2020 and bear
interest at fixed rates determined with reference to
the benchmark interest rate of People’s Bank of China.
In September 2017, pursuant to the letter of comfort
to the US$ Loan, borrowing facilities of RMB1,000,
000,000 was extended to September 2020, and then
further extended to September 2021 pursuant to the
letter of comfort to the HK$ Loan in September 2018.
The outstanding borrowings at 31 December 2018 will
mature within one year and bear interest at fixed rate
of 4.00% per annum.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A

R—ZFE—+tFRA AEEER
SEBERFPEEERTIPEHRE
ERTDIUMOETERBZ
Bl Z4HEEREESBEPHE
¥RTAASEREERIBRE A
R ¥ 1,500,000,000 7T ° % %5 & X &b
EHR_ZE-_ZTFRANE &
2EFBARBITIHNEER RE
EHEENEFE R_FT—+
FNLA BREETERERK &
M ELE AR #1,000,000,000 & E £
BFERZE_Z_ZFNLA- IR
BERZZE—NFNLANEBETLER
ERE HNPBAERE = —
FALNA-RZEBE—-—NF+ZA=
+T—HHREENERBR —F
NEIE - WIZ4.00%H FF K+ 8 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

mEMBHRRMETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=Z—N\NE+=-_A=+—BLFE
46. BEF X 5 m)
e. TEEBEAEMNHM

e.

Compensation of key management personnel

The emoluments of key management during the

reporting period are as follows:

LMTREIZBEBAEBRRENMH
B £

47. SUBSIDIARIES

2017
T+ F
RMB'000
ARET T
Salaries and other benefits FeRHEMEF 12,190 10,373
Recognition of equity-settled MRERKRELEENBERE
share option and share award N B% 10 2 B 5+ &l 15 3K
payments 4,291 30,614
Retirement benefits scheme R KAE T & & 3
contributions 292 198
16,773 41,185
47. 4 B 2 |
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 RZE-—NFR=ZZT—+ttF+=ZA=
December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: +—H ARRMETEWBRRAFEW
T

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital ~ Equity interest attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BMRRE/
WEAAER RUgs EMER ARARTIIAAELERE E:3 3
2017
“B-tF
Directly  Indirectly
BE B
% %
Advanced Dairy Company Luxemburg US$138,500,000  100.00 - 100.00 - Investment holding
(Luxemburg) Limited ("Lux") ERE 138,500,000 % ¢ REBR
Aquitair Republic of Ireland US§472,307,046 - 100.00 S 100.00  Investment holding
EARAN 172307, 046 % T RELK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR M A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2018 BB ZE =2 - NF+ A=+ —HLEFE
47. SUBSIDIARIES (ontinue 47. M & 2 = o)
Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BlRRE/
WEARAR RIS EUEES ARARTHAREERE IEXH
2017
“E—t%
Directly ~ Indirectly
BE B
% %
Modern Farming (note i) PRC RMB3,216,037,950 - 98.18 - 98.18  Production of milk
Modern Farming (fif i) G AR 3,216,037,9507 EEFD
Asia Dairy Holdings Cayman Islands Us$20 100.00 - 100,00 - Investment holding
REES NET REER
Asia Dairy Holdings Il Cayman Islands Us$20 100.00 - 100,00 - Investment holding
REES NET REER
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HKS$5 - 100.00 - 100.00  Investment holding
5 SET REER
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Il Ltd. Hong Kong HK$4 - 100.00 - 100.00  Investment holding
5 48T REER
Strong Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$100,000  100.00 - 100.00 - Investment holding
(note iii) HERTHE 100,000t REER
Strong Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd.
(Kt aEiii)
Well Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. (note iii)  Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.00 = 100.00  Investment holding
Well Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. (F &iii) & % 10,0007 72 REER
Maanshan Modern Farming Dairy Product Sales  PRC RMB20,350,000 - 100.00 = 10000 Sales of milk
Co., Ltd. (notes i and iii i AR 20,350,000 BEHD
BRLBRAZAnHEEARAR
(K3t R
Shanghe (note ii PRC RMB850,000,000 - 98.18 S 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
ERIGELD) H AR 850,000,000 production of milk

RENFREESH

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

47. it B A T @)

47. SU BSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company  Principal activities
HRAL/ BHRRA/
WEAR AR R ZREX ADARTHAHELRE TEER
2017
“E-tF
Directly ~ Indirectly
E% %
% %
Modern Farming (Helingeer) Co., Ltd. (note i)~ PRC RMB93,670,400 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
MHRBARKE AR AR (W Ti) g AR 936704007 production of milk
AENFREEFD
Moden Farming (Saibei) Co., Ltd. note ii) PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRME(EL)ARAA (K i) i AR 30,000,007 production of milk
AENFREEFD
Modern Farming (Zhangjiakou) Co., Ltd. (note i) PRC RMB440,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RREE(RRO)BRA A (Hati) HE AR 440,000,000 7T production of milk
AENFREEFD
Modern Farming (Wenshang) Co., Ltd. (note ii) ~ PRC RMB55,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
XERRIGAR R A (M 2ti) hE AR 55,000,0007T production of milk
AENFREESFD
Modern Farming (Shangzhi) Co., Ltd. (note i)~ PRC RMB55,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
HERRHEERAF N i) HE AR 55,000,000 production of milk
AENFREEFD
Hongya Modern Farming Co., Ltd. (note ii) PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
ARRRIGER A A (M i) hE AR 10,000,0007T production of milk
AENFREEFD
Modern Farming (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (note ii) PRC RMB110,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRRE(RL)ARDA(WEi) hE AR 110,000,000 production of milk
AENFREEFD
Modern Farming (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (note ii PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BRUZER)ARD AT Gl AR 10,000,0007T production of milk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
47. it B 2 7 @)

47. SU BSIDIARI ES (continued)

oy

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BlRRE/
WEARAR RIS EUEES ARARTHAREERE IEXH
2017
“E—t%
Directly ~ Indirectly
BE A&
% %
Feidong (notes ii and 38) PRC RMB120,000,000 - N/A - 9818 Sales and production
R (B i k3s) i AR 120,000,000 TER of milk
HEAMREESD
Modern Farming (Tongshan) Co,, Ltd. fnote i)~ PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRRETRL]ARA R (W) HE AR 30,000,000 production of milk
AEMEREESFD
Modern Farming (Tongliao) Co., Ltd. (note i)~ PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RREETARIARAR (W) HE AR %30,000,0007T production of milk
AENEREESFD
Modern Farming (Chabei) Hengsheng Co., Ltd.  PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
(note i # AR 30,000,000 production of milk
RRME(BL)EEFRA (M i) AN REESFD
Bengbu (notes i and 38) PRC RMB500,000,000 - N/A - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
B8 (R i Jo38) G AR %500,000,0007T TER production of milk
RENFREEFD
Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co., Ltd. (note ii PRC RMB20,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRME(RA)ARA A (M i) ol AR 20,000,000 production of milk
RENFREEFD
Modern Farming Anhui (note ii) PRC RMB45,000,000 - 99.00 = 99.00  Sales of milk
RRUEZE BT hE AR % 45,000,0007T HELD
Modern Farming (Shuangcheng) Co., Ltd. PRC RMB20,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
(note i # AR 20,000,000 production of milk

RRUX () ERA MM i)

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

47. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. Mt B A T i)

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company  Principal activities
iR/ BlRRE/
WEAFEH B E EMER ARARTIIASRERE IDEH
2017
“E-4f
Directly ~ Indirectly
BE A&
% %
Modern Farming Shanghe Feeding Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Production of fodder
(note ii H AR 10,000,007 FERH
RREXHWARERA (KT
China Modern Dairy | Ltd. Cayman lslands US§1.00  100.00 - 100.00 - Investment holding
REES 100% 7 REER
China Moder Dairy Il Ltd. British Virgin slands US$1.00 - 100.00 - 100.00  Investment holding
ABRLES 100X 7 RERR
China Leading Dairy Ltd. Hong Kong HK$1.00 - 100.00 - 100.00  Investment holding
hEEEAMBRAA B BT REBR
Modern Farming (Bengbu) Dairy Product Sales ~ PRC RMB5,000,000 - 99.00 = 99.00  Sales of milk
Co,, Ltd. (note ii ke A B #5,000,000 70 EELD
RRUEEE)AnAERRAR (W)
Modern Farming (Saibei) Dairy Product Sales ~ PRC RMB5,000,000 - 99.00 = 99.00  Sales of milk
Co,, Ltd. note ii i A B #5,000,000 70 BEED
RRUFEL)AnBERRAD (W)
Modern Farming (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (note ii PRC RMB50,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
ARHEGE)ARAA M) hE AR %50,000,000 7T production of milk
RERGEREESFH
Nanchang Modem Farming Co., Ltd. (note i)~ PRC RMB5,000,000 - 50.07 S 50.07  Sales of milk
BERRBERRAA (Kt hE AR %5,0000007T HELD
Chengdu Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales  PRC RIMB1,000,000 - 58.91 - 58.91  Sales of milk
Co,, Ltd. note ii i A K #1,000,000 70 EEED

RAARBRARHEERRDA(W )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE

47. Mt B A T i)

47. SU BSIDIARI ES (continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company  Principal activities
ARRL/ BHRRE/
WEARAR RIS ZHER ADARTHABERRE TEER
2017
“E-tE
Directly ~ Indirectly
E% B
% %
Wuhan Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales ~ PRC RMB1,000,000 - 68.73 - 68.73  Sales of milk
Co., Ltd. (note i i A K #1,000,00070 BEED
RERRUEARHERR AR (i)
Modern Farming (Shenzhen) Sales Company PRC RMB1,000,000 - 58.91 - 5891 Sales of milk
(note ii) G A& 1,000,000 BELD
AREEHERINERA A i)
Modern Farming (Jinan) Dairy Products Sales ~ PRC RMB1,000,000 - 73.63 = 7363 Sales of milk
Co., Ltd. (note ii # AR %1,0000007C HEXD

BREZ(ER) AmBERRA AW i)

Notes:

i The entity was established in the PRC and became a sino-
foreign investment enterprise.

ii. These entities were established in the PRC as domestic
companies and owned by Modern Farming.

iii.  Strong Alliance Investment Holdings Co. Ltd., together with
its subsidiaries, Well Alliance Investment Holdings Co. Ltd.
and Maanshan Modern Farming Dairy Product Sales Co., Ltd.,
were acquired in January 2017 (note 37(a)).

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A
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ZERBEPBEKY LK/ INR
B

ZEERAETEKY  EREARA
HIERMERES -

Strong Alliance Investment Holdings
Co. Ltd. 3 [A H iff B 2 5] Well Alliance
Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. & 5§ # L1
ARBELIRBEEERAAR T —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z—_Z—\FE+ A=+ —HLEE

48. EREARFEREZNESR

48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling

EMELAINFR

TREJNFEFERNFERERINAE

B2EMBARMNFE:

interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of
and principal  ownership interests and
place of voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
& i B X2 FERES
WEREE FEmARERR il E
WEAREM LR 38 REELA FERBEENER FERES
2017 2017 2017
Tt % Tt F Tt F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTL
Modern Farming PRC
RRHE i 1.82% 1.82% 6,849 21,100 108,907 115,875

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

ERBEREANFEREENAE RN
BRAMPBEMGRNT - TXHB
BB EREELRRMEHENNERE-

2017

—FE—tF

RMB’000

AREF T

Current assets mENEE 2,441,886 2,607,386

Non-current assets EMBEE 13,030,924 13,707,178

Current liabilities mEAaE (6,474,566) (6,088,535)

Non-current liabilities ERBAEE (3,011,237) (3,853,299)
Equity attributable to owners RRARFEARMER

of the Company 5,973,483 6,355,644

Non-controlling interests IF IR #E 2R 13,524 17,086

Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z=—F—N\F+ A=+ —B LEE
48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED AB. BMEEAREREZNHESR
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL EME QAT NFRE@®
NON'CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
Year ended
31/12/2017
HE-Z—+1tF
+=-—RA=+—8H
IEFE
RMB'000
AR T T
Revenue N 4,956,811 4,805,711
Expenses X 5,335,868 5,793,663
Loss attributable to owners of KRrEa AEGEIE
the Company (375,643) (990,477)
(Loss)profit attributable to the IF 125 IS RE 25 FE 1R 08 FI (B i8)
non-controlling interests (3,414) 2,525
Net cash inflow from operating KESEFIE R A FE
activities 1,408,421 534,162
Net cash outflow from investing KEEHHE S RL FRE
activities (1,119,395) (889,811)
Net cash (outflow) inflow MEFEHR2ORL)
from financing activities mACE 5 (296,796) 185,173
Net cash outflow We Rt F5E (7,770) (170,476)

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 B Z = —N\NFE+=-A=+—BLEE
49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. KA RN B R R KR REE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY \ i }
Information about the financial position of the Company at RBEHRBFEARAMBRARLNE
the end of the reporting period includes: e
2017
—E—LF
RMB’000
AR T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries HERWE A T 6,138,788 6,057,053
Amounts due from a subsidiary FE UL — S BT B A A R T 2,260,130 1,520,701
8,398,918 7,577,754
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables FE f~+ I8 K& H fth fE Y BR =X 772 906
Cash and bank balances R4 NIBI1T4 % 79,622 49,254
Other financial assets EtmemEE - 31,704
Financial asset at fair value BRAFEFTABRTFEDN
through profit or loss TREE 76,413 -
156,807 81,864
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H & 1 3B 570 573
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE 1< B B A B 3R I8 24,462 16,618
Derivative financial instruments TTESM T A 16,691 =
41,723 17,191
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFH 115,084 64,673
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERARBASE
LIABILITIES 8,514,002 7,642,427
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRFE
Share capital B& 72N 526,058 526,058
Reserves R 5,951,551 6,039,340
TOTAL EQUITY 48 R S 6,477,609 6,565,398
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY kRBEF
Bank borrowings ;AT B K 2,036,393 1,077,029
8,514,002 7,642,427
LU Minfang GAO Lina
E Sk = B ik
Director Director
EZE EE

Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRKE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 & ZE=ZE— N+ =-_A=+—HILEE
49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4. AP BMRARRREE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (#)
(continued)
Movements in equity FE 2 2B
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZE-+E-f-BHES 452,959 3,292,068 1,382,199 117,206 - (202,254) 5,042,178
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FAFER 2 AR T HE
expense for the year = = = = = (6,017) (6,017)
Shares issued for settlement of BEEZETKET
Modified Considerations BIHRG 43157 807,037 = = - = 850,194
Shares issued for acquisition of 3t W IR IEX R
non-controlling interests Bk R 29,942 541,961 - - - - 571,903
Recognition of equity-settled B &R & E LR 7
share-based payment SOENESY
transactions - - - 92,623 14,517 - 107,140
Transfer due to cancellation of ~ R & MR fEzH A M &
share options - - - (204,543) - 204,543 -
Balance at 31 December 2017  R-ZE—+&+-F=+-8
MEs 526,058 4,641,006 1,382,199 5,286 14,517 (3,728) 6,565,398
Loss and total comprehensive ~ ENEERZEAFXEE
expense for the year - - - - - (96,435) (96,435)
Recognition of equity-settled BB ERELE MR A
share-based payment TROFZERS
transactions - - - - 8,046 - 8,646
Balance at 31 December 018 R-Z-N\E+-A=+-H
i 56058 4641066 1382199 5286 23163 (100163 6,477,609
50. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 50. tl: REe &
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to ETUHRBEFEEFTHE UFELRE

JE & 5 3

conform with current year's presentation.

51. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 51. i & Hi%& =18
WMEHBLTEEAEE-

There is no significant events after the reporting period.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERABEERBER A



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LU R

The following is a summary of the published audited consolidated W T & T B R R EZER G R 2 7 & &
financial statement of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limitedand B AR REBEFENE N ELEREE Y

its subsidiaries for the respective years. BRENBE -
RESULTS ES
For the year ended 31 December BET-A=1T—HIFE
2017 2016 2015 2014

“E—+F - F —Z-1F —_ET-@N#F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRE ARETR ARETR

Revenue WA 4,956,811 4,783,801 4,862,311 4,826,341 5,026,706

Profit/(Loss) before finance costs Bk B & B AR Ko i BT

- S/ (BB (167,038)  (666479) (416409 670459  1,035965
Finance costs A& B AR (338,622) (328,395) (368,582) (315,078) (265,601)
Profit/(Loss) before tax BREi RIS A (B B) (505,660) (994,874) (784,991) 355,381 770,364
Income tax expense MEHRAX (513) 2] (504) (11,663) (7,476)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FERHEFH/(EBE) (506,173) (994,847) (785,495) 343,718 762,888
Profit/(Loss) for the year AT &7 FRERG

attributable to: A/ (ER)

Owners of the Company KAREEA (496,088) (975,116) (742,103) 321,296 735,317

Non-controlling interests JEE R RERS (10,085) (19,731) (43,392) 22,422 27,571

(506,173) (994,847) (785,495) 343,718 762,888

Earnings/(Loss) per share SREFN/ (KB
(RMB) (AE#®)
Basic (cents) EX(%) (8.15) (16.19) (13.99) 6.37 15.23
Diluted (cents) B%(9) (8.15) (16.19) (13.99) 6.32 15.08

Annual Report 2018
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Bt H5 B =

As at 31 December

R+-—A=+—H

2017 2016 2015 2014
“E—+tF —T-RXE —ET-1F —ET-MNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Assets and liabilities EEREHE
Property, plant and equipment ME BE KRR 3,920,685 4,698,736 5,075,030 5,376,897 4,457,970
Land use rights TR 117,220 125,802 126,679 120,622 64,868
Goodwill GRS 1,398,589 1,424,539 1,424,539 1,441,494 310,426
Interest in associates iR NGIR T X 180,913 = 1,887 25,076 18,931
Interest in joint ventures N CR=UNGIE X - = = = 95,208
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATEFARMEE
WAMEZTA 2,508 = = = =
Available-for-sale equity investment 7] fit i} & fX #E 1% & - 12,934 24,955 = =
Biological assets EMEE 7,717,113 7,751,070  7,602959 7,590,878 6,530,814
Net current liabilities nPEEEE (3,883,813)  (3,181,917)  (4,272,464)  (4,285909)  (1,725,295)
Total assets less current liabilities 2 EERTEH A & 9,453,215 10,831,164 9,983,585 10,269,058 9752,922
Non-current liabilities FErBHERE (2,899,082) (3,742,735) (2,860,689 (2,319,026) (3,096,970)
NET ASSETS EEFE 6,554,133 7,088,429 7,122,896 7,950,032 6,655,952
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital % A 526,058 526,058 452,959 452,959 415,261
Share premium and Reserves R EERGEE 5,919,237 6,443,064 6,568,554 7,328,938 6,094,978
Total equity attributable to equity AN 2\ B Z Ik R FE 14
shareholders of the Company mE R 6,445,295 6,969,122 7,021,513 7,781,897 6,510,239
Non-controlling interests R R 108,838 119,307 101,383 168,135 145,713
6,554,133 7,088,429 7,122,896 7,950,032 6,655,952

PERABEEERERAF
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